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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials
Pape'ete, French Polynesia
13-16 September 2004

SPREP

Information Paper
Agenda Item 13.1: Report of CROP Heads Meeting

Purpose of Paper

L. To inform the Meeting of the summary decisions of the 2004 Meeting of the
CROP Chief Executives.

Background

2. The Council of Regional Organisations in the Pacific (CROP) is a mechanism
established by the Leaders of the Pacific islands region to ensure coordination and
cooperation among the regional agencies to avoid duplication and wasteful competition
and foster collaboration and create synergy so their service to the peoples of the Pacific

islands is optimised.

3. SPREP is a founding member and an active participant in the meetings of the
CROP CEOs and the working groups authorised by the CROP Heads to achieve the
intent stated in paragraph 2.

4. The Summary Decision of the CROP CEO’s Meeting is contained in
Attachment 1.

Recommendation
4. The Meeting is invited to:

» review and note the summary decisions of the CROP Meeting

25 July 2004
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COUNCIL OF REGIONAL ORGANISATIONS IN THE PACIFIC
SIXTEENTH MEETING

Port Vila, Vanuatu
2 - 3 July 2004

SUMMARY DECISIONS

The Sixteenth Meeting of the Council of Regional Organisations in the Pacific
(CROP) was held on 2 — 3 July 2004 at the Emalus Campus of the University of the
South Pacific, Port Vila, Vanuatu, and was chaired by the Secretary General of the
Pacific Islands Forum Secretariat.

2. Present were the chief executives of the Fiji School of Medicine (FSchM),
Forum Fisheries Agency (FFA), Secretariat of the Pacific Community (SPC), South
Pacific Applied Geoscience Commission (SOPAC), South Pacific Board for Education
Assessment (SPBEA), South Pacific Regional Environmental Programme (SPREP),
South Pacific Tourism Organisation (SPTO), and the University of the South Pacific
(USP).

3. The Pacific Islands Forum Secretariat (PIFS) was represented by the Deputy
Secretary General. Apologies were received from the Director of the Pacific Islands
Development Programme (PIDP). The Head of the UNESCAP Pacific Operations
Office (UN-EPOC) and the Interim General Manager of the Pacific Aviation Safety
Office (PASO) attended as special observers. A list of delegates is at Annex 1.

4. The first day of the meeting was devoted to informal sessions. The first of
these was devoted to matters arising from the Informal Leaders Retreat on 6 April
2004, which require reporting to the Forum in August 2004. The PIFS presented for
discussion and comment a draft terms of reference for the taskforce to undertake the
development of the Pacific Plan. A draft revised CROP Charter was also presented for
discussion and accordingly amended. The proposed PIFS corporate plan and structure

was outlined, emphasising its responsiveness to Leaders’ decisions concerning their
focus and priorities.

5. A further session was devoted to a discussion concerning the CROP working
groups, with decisions arising confirmed on the second day in formal session (see
below). The Council then heard from the Head of UN-EPOC on progress in the
implementation of the UNESCAP-POC review, and from the Interim General
Manager of PASO on the objectives and role of the Office and the activities
undertaken during its inception period.

Opening and Welcome
6. The Secretary General of PIFS welcomed delegates, and in particular the

Director of SOPAC to her first CROP meeting in this capacity. He acknowledged with
gratitude the arrangements made by the USP for hosting the meeting.
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Agenda Item 1 : Adoption of Agenda and Working Procedures

7 The Council then considered PIFS(04)CROP.01 and adopted the Provisional
Agenda as at Annex 2. It was agreed, as recommended in the Provisional Working
Procedures (paper PIFS(04)CROP.02) adopted by the Council, that Summary
Decisions be circulated and approved out of session.

Agenda Item 2 : Review of 2003 Decisions of the CROP

8. The Council noted the report contained in paper PIFS(04)CROP.04 concerning
progress in implementing the decisions it made in 2003.

Agenda Item 3 : Matters Arising from Informal Sessions
Review of Working Group Activities

9 The Council reviewed the activities of the working groups as reported in paper
PIFS(04)CROP.04. In the context of the implementation of the decisions arising from
the Informal Leaders Retreat on 6 April 2004, and Leaders’ further consideration of the
formulation of a Pacific Plan at the Forum in August 2004, CROP agreed to consider
in 2005 a fresh approach to the structure and role of the working groups.

10. It was noted by the CROP that attending working group meetings placed a
considerable burden on many, especially those not based in Suva. Accordingly Council
suggested that meetings of working groups have more substantial agendas, which in
turn would justify one to two day meetings on a less frequent basis. The CROP
encouraged greater reliance on ICTs, which would allow the working groups to
progress on-going issues without resorting to formal meetings.

11.  The CROP agreed that working groups provided a valuable mechanism for
encouraging partnerships in support of the region’s development, but that these groups
should not duplicate the work of other existing fora / mechanisms, with similar
objectives. Council further agreed that the Sustainable Development Working Group
has a wider role that could subsume the work of some, existing working groups, and
should have more support from all CROP organisations. Consequently, the Council
agreed that:

¢ the Sustainable Development Working Group continue its role under a
revised terms of reference encompassing regional support for implementing
and reporting on the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) and the
development and implementation of the Pacific Plan;

e in reaffirming commitment to supporting the work of the Sustainable
Development Working Group, they would ensure the organisations would
be represented at the most senior level;

o the Energy Working Group continue its activities under the revised terms of
reference as submitted to Council;

e the Health and Population Working Group maintain its activities subject to
submitting as soon as possible a revised terms of reference for consideration
by the Council out of session;
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e the Human Resources Development Working Group continue its role, but
reconsider its terms of reference with a view to broadening its role;

e the Information and Communications Technology Working Group remain in
place with revised terms of reference as submitted, but subject to it taking
into account the impact of relevant Forum decisions on the scope of its
work;

e the Land Resources Working Group currently be disbanded, but noting that
future work through the UNCCD may necessitate its reestablishment;

e the Marine Sector Working Group continue work under the current terms of
reference until a more permanent process to coordinate the Pacific Islands
Regional Oceans Forum - Integrated Strategic Action (PIROF-ISA) is
developed;

o the Private Sector, Trade and Tourism Working Group be disbanded, but
that the SPTO prepare a proposal for the establishment of a Tourism
Working Group for Council’s consideration out of session;

e the CROP/UN MDGs Working Group continue work on the current MDGs
reporting process, but on completing this in November 2004 any continuing
future role be passed to the Sustainable Development Working Group.

Agenda Item 4: CROP Gender Strategy Report

12.  The Council noted the status of the CROP 1998 Gender Strategy as reported in
paper PIFS(04)CROP.05 and welcomed the first annual reporting of analysis of staff
by gender, by a majority of member organisations.

13.  The intention to reinvigorate the Informal Gender Focal Point Working Group
when the Gender Issues Adviser position at PIFS is filled was noted by the Council.
The Council also encouraged CROP organisations to adopt Sexual Harassment
Policies, using the PIFS policy as a model, where they have not already done so.

Agenda Item 5 : Pacific Regional Sustainable Development Strategy

14. The Council recalled, as reported in PIFS(04)CROP.06, that in 2003 it had
considered a revised version of the Regional Sustainable Development Framework. It
further noted that the Sustainable Development Working Group recommends that this
should be inclusive, with member countries having eventual ownership and had
agreed to retitle the document as a “Regional Sustainable Development Strategy”.

15. It was agreed by Council that further work on the Regional Sustainable
Development Strategy be deferred until both the:

(a) completed national assessment reports for, and the outcomes of, the
BPOA Ten Year Review, and

(b) structure and content of the Pacific Plan, were known.
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Agenda Item 6 : Review of Harmonisation of Remuneration

16.  The Council commended the excellent work by the FOC “CROP
Remuneration Working Group” as attached to paper PIFS(04)CROP.07. They
acknowledged with appreciation the decision by the Chair (New Zealand) of the
Working Group to include representatives of (i) the Suva-based Missions who are not
members of FOC but members of other CROP organisations in recognition of the
wider application of the group’s work to other governing bodies, and (ii) the
participating CROP organisations, as observers in the group and for allowing them to
contribute to the deliberations of the working group. CROP further commended the

contribution by staff from the respective CROP organisations to the working group
process.

17.  Council approved the recommendation to reconvene the CROP Remuneration
Working Group to, among other things:
¢ explore options for cost sharing among CROP;
e conduct an annual review and analysis of the market data received from the
survey of the reference markets and present the analysis and
recommendations; and

¢ compile and analyse staff recruitment and retention information across
CROP on an annual basis.

18.  The Council agreed on a common CROP position with respect to the following
areas and recommendations contained in the Working Group Report:

(i) New CROP salary scale for professional staff to be effective from 1
January 2005. CROP executive support the recommendation for the 5%
increase in the salary scale for professional staff to be effective from 1
January 2005 and recommend to their relevant governing bodies to
approve the recommendation. CROP executive confirm that the associated
costs can be met from their respective current budgets, without impacting
adversely on work programme delivery.

(ii) Treatment of Housing and Education Allowances. Notwithstanding the
need for ongoing review on how these two allowances should be treated,
CROP executive categorically and unanimously agreed that these two
allowances must be linked to positions and not determined by the
nationality of the professional filling the position.

Current CROP practice of international recruitment must be protected and
people appointed to positions, on merit, must draw the benefits that accrue
to the positions under the principle of equity and faimess that fully
acknowledges the value the people that are appointed to the positions
bring to the organisations.

CROP executive do not agree that these two allowances should be linked
to relocation, and therefore the nationality of the people who fill such
positions. Not only will the application of such an approach openly
discriminate between people based on nationality rather than their ability
to perform and the value they bring to the organisations, it will worsen
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recruitment problems faced by CROP organisations. It also runs against
the grain of the comments in the EPG Review to recruit the best and

brightest Pacific island professionals to the regional service of CROP
organisations.

(iii) Application of the six-year rule. The Council noted that a number of
governing bodies had already established the procedures for managing the
six-year rule, which will continue to guide the application of the six-year
rule in these other CROP organisations.

Agenda Item 7 : EU — ACP Regional Indicative Programme

19.  The Council welcomed the excellent progress made in completing the 6", 7*
and 8" European Development Fund Pacific Regional Indicative Programmes (EDF
PRIP) and in implementing the 9" EDF PRIP, as explained in paper
PIFS(04)CROP.08.

20. CROP noted that this performance puts the Pacific region is in a good position
to draw down supplementary funding from 9™ EDF global reserves following a mid-
term review. The Council accordingly agreed that, being mindful of mid-term review
process coming up in late 2004 or early 2005, it be prepared to respond to any
additional EDF funding that might then become available.

21. The Council also agreed that information concerning the PRIP, and
particularly requests or suggestions from the EU concerning new project proposals, be
shared with the Regional Authorising Officer, who should, after consulting with the
EU, ensure such information or suggestions be disseminated among all CROP.

22.  Recognising the important role attributed to non-state actors (NSAs) for
project formulation and implementation under the Cotonou Agreement the Council
encouraged its members to invite relevant regional NSAs to sit on the steering
committees of all 9" EDF/PRIP projects.

Agenda Item 8 : Preparations for Mauritius 2005

23.  The Council considered paper PIFS(04)CROP.09, in which the Sustainable
Development Working Group reported that preparations for the International Meeting,
now scheduled for 10 — 14 January 2005 in Mauritius, is progressing as anticipated.

24. CROP noted with appreciation that the draft Pacific Position allowed the
Pacific to be significantly better prepared than the Caribbean and AIMS regions, but
that the negotiations have been difficult and time consuming. The outcomes of both
the SIDS preparatory meeting (CSD12) and the Informal-Informals in May 2004 were
inconclusive and resulted in an extended AOSIS Strategy paper incorporating
proposals and texts from development partners.



15SM/Officials/Inf. Paper 13.1

FORUM EYES ONLY

25.  Noting that eight Pacific SIDS national assessment reports (NARs) for
BPoA+10 had been received, though most still in draft form, the Council recognised
that with the delay in convening the Mauritius meeting there is an opportunity to
improve reporting. CROP noted that many NAR'’s noted the importance of enabling
environments that provide frameworks for collaboration and communication amongst
key stakeholders, as well as to accommodate better integrated decision making.

26.  Council’s attention was drawn to the congruence of Mauritius 2005 to the 2"
World Conference on Disaster Risk Reduction and that it was likely that the former

would refer to the latter on priorities, issues and implementation mechanisms relating
to disaster risk management.

27.  The Council accordingly:

(a) noted the assistance provided by its members to countries through the

Sustainable Development Working Group in the preparation for the ten-
year review of BPOA;

(b) noted the importance of continued CROP coordination and support to

Pacific island countries, upon their request, to assist with the development
of their national sustainable development strategies;

(¢) noted the concurrent process to prepare for the 2" World Conference on
Disaster Risk Reduction (WCDRR), to be held in Kobe on 18 — 22
January 2005, one week later than the International Meeting in Mauritius
(8 — 14 January 2005), and that this concurrence is particularly important
as the Mauritius outcomes document is expected to defer to the WCDRR
for a response on assistance to SIDS to reduce the impacts of disasters;

(d) requested that the Secretary General urge, on Council’s behalf, the
participation at the highest level of member countries in the Mauritius
International Meeting on the BPOA+10, and at ministerial level to the 2™
World Conference on Disaster Risk Reduction:

(e) agreed to provide input to finalising the regional assessment for BpoA+10;

(f) agreed to seek donors’ assistance in funding Pacific SIDS participants to
Mauritius and the WCDRR.

Agenda Item 9 : Regional Participation at Aichi Expo 2005

28.  The Council was updated on FIC participation at the EXPO 2005, Aichi, Japan
through paper PIFS(04)CROP.10, having noted that in 2003 it agreed that serious
consideration should be given to participation provided there is sufficient member
country interest and adequate funding. CROP also noted that the Pacific ACP Trade
Ministers meeting in April 2004 directed the PIFS to assist the FICs, but understood
that such assistance would rely on the availability of funding.
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29.  The PIFS reported that it attended the 1* Preparatory Meeting for the Pacific
Islands Joint Pavilion, held in January 2004, together with ten of the eleven FICs that
had confirmed their participation. At this meeting restricted funding, direct to FICs’
only for their participation, was announced. In March 2004 a 2 Meeting of the
Pacific Islands Joint Pavilion was held, but PIFS did not attend since the issue of
funding was not on its agenda.

30. The Council noted that the theme of Expo 2005, focusing on ways in which
both scientific achievements and traditional and cultural knowledge can be used to
create a “civilization that harmoniously co-exists with nature” was in sympathy with
the values reflected in the vision and priorities agreed by Forum in April 2004.

31.  Council concluded that this suggests that a decision on CROP participation
should be based on whether the Expo can be used to promote relationships between
humans and nature and Pacific cultures. SPTO noted that it had relevant work in
progress, while SPC reported that it was considering the Expo theme in relation to its

work on culture. SPREP noted the importance of clean or green technology that might
be on display at the Aichi Expo.

32.  The Council agreed that, if the PIFS coordinates the participation of the Pacific
Islands at the Aichi Expo, then:
(a) efforts should be made to involve the CROP through the Sustainable
Development Working Group, in close collaboration with the Pacific
Plan Working Group; and
(b) to support and/or participate in a side event at Mauritius 2005 covering,
inter alia, CROP and regional collaboration of PICTs, which in turn
could provide a component of the display for Aichi 2005 Expo.

Agenda Item 10 : Outcomes of the Pacific Islands Regional Ocean Forum

33.  In reviewing paper PIFS(04)CROP.11, the Council commended the Marine
Sector Working Group on its success in convening the Pacific Islands Regional Ocean
Forum (PIROF). Council noted the PIROF Communiqué and the draft PIROF-
Integrated Strategic Action (ISA) framework.

34.  The Council recognised that the ISA Framework covers existing ocean-related
work by all CROP as well as by regional NGOs, international organisations, describes
several areas which are not currently addressed, and acknowledged that:
e the PIROP process requires an active coordinating framework in order for
it to progress;
e CROP organisations need to ensure that their ocean-related goals and
activities reflect the principles of the policy;
e in order to make the PIROF-ISA more effective some innovative actions
might be proposed for implementing the policy; and
e a key step required is provision of assistance to PICTs to enable
development of their respective national ocean policies.
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35.  The Council, noting the process for developing the draft PIROF-ISA as
identified in the PIROF Communiqué and the need to encourage national
consultations, agreed:

(@) to recognise the six strategic priorities in the draft PIROF-ISA:

(b) to report to the Forum on the progress of implementing the Pacific
Islands Regional Ocean Policy and the development of the Pacific
Islands Regional Ocean Forum — Integrated Strategic Action framework;

(c) tonote the inclusion of these for consideration in the Pacific Plan;

(d) to note that the regional action plan provides a framework for assisting
with developing similar national plans and to report to their respective
governing bodies on the same;

(e) that implementation of the Pacific Islands Regional Ocean Policy and the
Integrated Strategic Action framework be a standing agenda item in
relevant CROP governing council annual meetings.

Agenda Item 11 : MDGs - Pacific Regional Reporting

36.  Council noted that Forum island countries who are also members of the United
Nations had, through the Millennium Declaration, committed to the MDGs and
associated reporting processes. They acknowledged, as reported in paper
PIFS(04)CROP.12, that a national MDG report at this time would be useful in
providing a situation analysis relative to MDGs and would assist in the setting of
national strategies to achieve development targets. The tailoring of the globally agreed
targets and indicators into country specific targets in line with national development
priorities and plans was acknowledged as a priority by the Council.

37. It was acknowledged by the Council that to ensure that all Forum island
countries are included in the 2005 United Nations report, a Pacific regional report was
necessary at this time. This was being compiled by the UN system and CROP
organisations, through the CROP/UN MDGs Working Group, and would draw on
national reporting and include assessments for countries unlikely to produce national

reports. The Council agreed that it was desirable that eventually all Forum island
countries have the capacity to report nationally.

38.  The Council, noting the technical and monetary assistance available to Pacific
island countries for mainstreaming MDGs into national development plans and
strategies, agreed to:

(a) assist, as appropriate, their Pacific island members in the development and
use of Pacific tailored MDGs as a tool for monitoring and evaluating
implementation of development objectives;

(b) incorporate the MDGs as appropriate into organisation annual work
programmes and corporate plans;

(c) support the development of the regional report on MDGs, to be ready for
the Office of the UN Secretary General by end of November 2004.
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(d) use the development of the Pacific Plan to further tailor any future
regional reporting on the MDGs.

Agenda Item 12: CROP Response to Members in Crisis

39.  Acknowledging that from time to time Pacific island countries are struck by
extreme natural disasters or experience financial or civil crisis, the Council discussed
their experiences to date in providing assistance to such countries.

40.  Council concurred that a coordinated approach in responding to Pacific islands
countries in crisis, such as the recent initiative to provide assistance to Niue after
Cyclone Heta, would be beneficial to the stricken country through harmonisation in the
delivery of assistance and to alleviate management burdens on the recipient country.
However Council acknowledged that this need not be a formally structured

arrangement, but rather would require a willingness of all parties to be prepared to
consult.

41 The PIFS noted that in respect of crisis management of extreme events critical
elements for supporting member countries were prevention, mitigation and
responsiveness, and that this would be an early focus for a restructured Secretariat. The
USP advised that its ICT infrastructure was available to countries, for communication
purposes, in case of emergency. SPREP reminded CROP of the need to upgrade
Pacific islands ability for early warning of impending natural disasters and having in
place systematic damage prevention measures.

42.  The Council resolved to better coordinate their assistance to member countries
in their immediate response activities to extreme natural and human-induced events.
Further, that an early task of the new PIFS sustainable development unit would be the
improved responsiveness of the CROP to such extreme circumstances and
acknowledgement of SOPAC’s role and responsibilities for disaster risk management,
which includes preparedness and mitigation aspects of such events.

Agenda Item 13 : Consultative Report on the Future Development of the USP

43.  The Council heard and discussed with interest the presentation by the USP on
the Consultative Report on the Future Development of the USP, and noted that the
USP would welcome further comment when CROP, and other stakeholders, had had
an opportunity to review the report.

Agenda Item 14 : WSSD Type II Initiatives

44.  The Council received an update on the development of the WSSD 14 Pacific
Umbrella Type II Partnership Initiatives through paper PIFS(04)CROP.15. It
commended the work of SPREP, SOPAC and the PIF on these and welcomed the
success of the New York PIF missions in using these to gain support for the review of
BPoA+10, the completion of the work by SOPAC on the Environmental Vulnerability
Index and the Pacific Islands Regional Ocean Forum.
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45. Noting that to date the development of the fourteen Pacific Umbrella
Partnership Initiatives varied from “very significant” to “very little”, the Council
welcomed preparation of a report covering lessons learnt and best practices, with
guidelines to improve implementation. CROP executive also welcomed the initiative
to develop a Pacific SIDSnet website through SPREP, which will provide the portal
for access to information on the Pacific Partnership Initiatives.

46.  The Council, recognising the Leaders’ endorsement at the World Summit on
Sustainable Development in Johannesburg :of the 14 Pacific Partnership Initiatives:

(a) noted the status of development of the Pacific Umbrella Partnership
Initiatives;

(b) recognised the real value of the Partnership Initiatives for energy, water,
vulnerability to disasters, ocean and conservation in providing new
innovative programming platforms to secure new resources, and noted the
importance of all the Partnership Initiatives and the opportunities they

provide for improved coordination amongst CROP and other regional and
international partners;

(c) committed to using these Partnership Initiatives as tools for improving
coordination amongst partners in the region;

(d) committed to advocating, facilitating, managing and reporting on the Type
IT Partnership Initiatives that each organisation is facilitator for;

(e) agreed to report on the development of the Type II Partnership Initiatives
that they are facilitating at their respective governing body meetings; and

(f) agreed that the SDWG continue to promote the Type II Partnership
Initiatives as a basis to leverage resources for the region when attending
partnership fairs associated with the CSD and other international fora,

Agenda Item 15 : Issues for Forum

47.  The Council requested that the following be brought directly to the attention of
Leaders at the August 2004 Forum:

(a) the Pacific Islands Regional Ocean Forum - Integrated Strategy Action
framework,

(b) the draft Pacific Regional Strategy on HIV/AIDS,

(c) issues pertaining to the preparations for Mauritius 2005 and 2™ World
Conference on Disaster Risk Reduction, and

(d) the CROP Charter,

Agenda Item 16 : Other Business

48. In resi)onse to a request by Council the Secretary General provided a brief on
the arrangements for the August 2004 Forum meeting and on the substantive issues
expected to be put before Leaders.

10
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Agenda Item 17 : Next Meetihg

49.  Noting prior deliberations in respect of both remuneration issues and the CROP
Charter, the Council confirmed that CROP would meet each year in late June or early

July, continuing with the two-day format. The Council accepted with thanks the offer
of SOPAC and FSchM to host its’ 2005 meeting.

Closing

50. The Director General of the SPC thanked the Council for the open sharing of
views over the two days.

51.  The Chair, in closing, thanked the Council members for their contributions to
the discussion on the Pacific Plan taskforce terms of reference and on the CROP
Charter, and for their efficient work, allowing him to move quickly through the

agenda. On behalf of the Council the Chair thanked the USP for the excellent
arrangements made for the meeting.

Pacific Islands Forum Secretariat, Suva
17 July 2004

11
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PACIFIC ISLANDS FORUM SECRETARIAT

Annex 1

COUNCIL OF REGIONAL ORGANISATIONS IN THE PACIFIC

SIXTEENTH MEETING
Port Vila, Vanuatu
2 - 3 July 2004
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Interim Deputy Director

SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC COMMUNITY

Ms Lourdes Pangelinan
Director-General

Dr Jimmie Rodgers
Senior Deputy Director General

SOUTH PACIFIC APPLIED GEOSCIENCE COMMISSION

Ms Cristelle Pratt
Director

Dr Russell Howorth
Deputy Director

SOUTH PACIFIC BOARD FOR EDUCATION ASSESSMENT

Dr Visesio Pongi
Director

Ms Atishma L Kumar
Corporate Manager

12



15SM/Officials/Inf. Paper 13.1
FORUM EYES ONLY

SOUTH PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

Mr Asterio Takesy
Director

Ms Coral Pasisi
Sustainable Development Officer

SOUTH PACIFIC TOURISM ORGANISATION

Mr Lisiate ‘Akolo
Chief Executive

UNIVERSITY OF THE SOUTH PACIFIC

Professor Rajesh Chandra
Acting Vice-Chancellor

Professor John Lynch
Pro Vice-Chancellor (Emalus Campus)

Mr Ala Ngwele
Secretary, Emalus Campus

PACIFIC ISLANDS FORUM SECRETARIAT

Mr Greg Urwin
Secretary General

Mr losefa Maiava
Deputy Secretary General

Dr Jimmie Rodgers
Senior Deputy Director General, SPC, and
Executive Adviser, PIFS

Mr C J (Stan) Vandersyp
Director, Development and Economic Policy Division

OBSERVERS

ESCAP Pacific Operations Centre (EPOC)

Mr Nikenike Vurobaravu
Head

Pacific Aviation Safety Office (PASO)

Mr John (Hondo) Gratton
Interim General Manager

PIFS, Port Vila
3 July 2004
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Annex 2

, PACIFIC ISLANDS FORUM SECRETARIAT

PIFS(04)CROP.01 (revised)

COUNCIL OF REGIONAL ORGANISATIONS IN THE PACIFIC
SIXTEENTH MEETING

Port Vila, Vanuatu
2 -3 July 2004

AGENDA

Day 1 : Friday 2 July 2004
INFORMAL SESSIONS

9:00 AM - 12:30 pM: FORUM REVIEW OUTCOMES AND IMPLEMENTATION
Presentation and discussion of the Leaders’ decisions in respect of the Forum
Review, with an emphasis on the implications for CROP.

e Pacific Plan
e CROP Charter
e PIFS Corporate Plan

12:30 M- 2:00 PM : LuUNCH

2.00 PM ~ 3.30 PM: REVIEW OF WORKING GROUP ACTIVITIES
Discussion based on reports by the CROP Working Groups and their responses
to the CROP Executives request in 2003 that they advise on the extent that
their terms of reference have been fulfilled and their future relevancy.
Paper: Working Group Activities and Policy Issues PIFS(04)CROP.03

4:00 PM-4.30pM:  UNESCAP - POC PROGRESS REPORT
Presentation and discussion on implementation of the review of UN-EPOC.

430 pM-5:00 PM:  PACIFIC AVIATION SAFETY OFFICE (PASO)
Presentation and discussion on inception of the PASO Office.

Day 2 : Saturday 3 July 2004
FORMAL SESSIONS

8:30 am: OPENING
Opening and Welcome

1. Adoption of Agenda and Working Procedures PIFS(04)CROP.01

14
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9.00 AM MATTERS ARISING

Review of 2003 Decisions of CROP Executive
Discussion based on an implementation matrix.
Matters arising from Day 1 Informal Sessions
Formalisations of decisions from discussion on day 1.

CROP Gender Strategy Report
Presentation on progress in implementing the Strategy.

Pacific Regional Sustainable Development Strategy
Review of current status and impact of Forum Review.

11.00 AM PoLICY ISSUES

6.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14

Review of Harmonisation of Remuneration
Discussion on progress report and policy issues arising.

EU - ACP Regional Indicative Programme
Presentation and discussion on lErogn:ss on the 7%, 8"
and 9" EDFs and processes for 9" EDF midterm review.

Preparations for Mauritius 2005
Progress report and discussion on issues arising.

Regional Participation at Aichi EXPO 2005
Progress report and discussion on issues arising.

Outcomes of the Pacific Islands Regional Oceans Forum
Progress report and discussion on paper for Forum.

MDGs - Pacific Region Reporting
Progress report and discussion on paper for FEMM.

PIFS(04)CROP.02

PIFS(04)CROP.04

PIFS(04)CROP.05

PIFS(04)CROP.06

PIFS(04)CROP.07

PIFS(04)CROP.08

PIFS(04)CROP.09

PIFS(04)CROP.10

PIFS(04)CROP.11

PIFS(04)CROP.12

CROP Response to Members in National Crisis PIFS(04)CROP.13
Consultative Report on the Future Dc\;elopment of the USP [USP]
. WSSD Type2 Initiatives PIFS(04)CROP.15

1.00 pM - 2.00 PM LUNCH

4.00 pm CLOSURE

15. Issues for Forum - Discussion on issues for the specific attention of Leaders.
16. Other Business

17

. Next Meeting

PIFS(04)CROP.14

15
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials
Pape’ete, French Polynesia
13-16 September 2004

SPREP

Information Paper

Agenda Item 13.2: BPoA+10 Progress Report
Purpose

I To report on progress after the World Summit on Sustainable Development
(WSSD) in 2002 leading to the 10 year review of the Barbados Programme of Action for
Small Island Developing States (BPoA+10).

Background
2 This report covers the following:

i. Broad overview of development of 14 Pacific Umbrella Type I
Partnership/Initiatives;

ii. National Assessment Reports for BPoA+10 linked with National Sustainable
Development Strategies by 2005,

iii. Regional Assessment and Draft Pacific Position for BPoA+10;

iv. the development of the “Pacific Plan” called for by Forum Leaders and relation

to the Regional Sustainable Development Strategy/Framework, and
v. Status of the AOSIS Strategy for BPoA+10 to date.

3. The Forum Leaders in 2003 called on CROP to assist Pacific island countries
(PICs) prepare for the BPoA+10. In response, CROP has continued to assist national
stakeholders, as well as their regional and international colleagues in their preparations for
the BPoA+10 through collaborative efforts with the CROP Sustainable Development
Working Group (SDWG). The SPREP Secretariat provides the day-to-day technical and
advisory inputs for the SDWG guided by the ‘BPoA+10 Project Proposal’.

Development of the Pacific Type II Umbrella Partnership/Initiatives

4. At the WSSD, the Heads of Governments from the Pacific launched a portfolio of
14 Type II umbrella partnership/initiatives as a platform for implementation of WSSD
outcomes in the region. These umbrella initiatives were put together on the basis of the
Pacific Regional Submission to the WSSD, various PIC consultations and needs reflected
in National Assessments in the lead up to Johannesburg. The intent of the Pacific
partnership initiatives was to add value to efforts to implement the objectives and targets
of the Johannesburg Plan of Implementation, basically by doing three things: leveraging
additional resources; attracting additional partners; to make efforts more visible to all
stakeholders; improving coordination; to facilitate direct flows of financial assistance to
countries and communities, and maximizing the benefits of combined efforts.
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3. The current list of 14 initiatives comprises:

» Capacity Building and distance education e Energy

® Land Resources e Adaptation

® Tourism ¢ Governance

® Vulnerability and Disaster Management e Health

¢ Information Communication Technology o Water

e Mainstreaming Conservation e Oceans

¢ Planning for community development e Waste Management
6. The process for refining these initiatives and linking with national needs and

priorities, as they are reflected, will be a continuous one as efforts crystallize at the
national and regional level. Each initiative will follow its own path and explore the best
options for management, coordination and monitoring. Those initiatives assisted by
gestation of development prior to the WSSD, or through key international events have

progressed more than the others. A separate report has been made to members on the
status of the five initiatives facilitated by SPREP.

7. A matrix describing the status of the Umbrella Type II Initiatives can be accessed
on www.pacific-sidsnet.org. It nominates the facilitators, coordinating committee or
similar mechanism, the network of interested partners and an outline of activities and
achievements. Facilitators for each of the Type II's agreed at the Pacific regional
consultation in March 2003 (‘Nadi Meeting’; NZAID funded) that they would develop

roadmaps for each of the initiatives to portray their long-term development. These too are
available on the website.

8. A significant amount of work is still needed on guiding the development of the
initiatives to ensure they are effectively used by national and regional stakeholders and
given mutual respect by the donor community. The intent should be to ensure that they
provide better ways to deliver assistance direct to the national level.

9. The March 2003, consultation highlighted the possibilities that these forms of
partnership could provide for improvement in coordination amongst the many interested
partners in the region. With the many similar interests that organizations, institutes and
donors currently operating in the region, these partnership initiatives set out a course for
reducing duplication of efforts, and promote combining resources, sharing and building on
experiences and ultimately providing a more efficient and effective way to service the
needs of Pacific SIDS and returns on partner investment. '

10.  Whilst the Nadi meeting provided the opportunity to engage stakeholders at the
national and regional level, there remained the need to harness some of the opportunities
for these partnerships at the international level. During the Commission for Sustainable
Development (CSD)11 session, April 2003, Pacific Island Forum (PIF) missions in New
York addressed this international link, by developing a “Road Map” for their
commitment to promoting the Pacific Type II's to non-traditional donors in an attempt to
harness new resources and bring new partners to the table to assist sustainable
development in the Pacific region. In this regard PIF missions successfully assisted in
leveraging funds in 2003, for: (i) regional support for the review of BPoA+10. (ii) the
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completion of the environment vulnerability index (EVI) work by January 2004 in time for
the BPoA+10 (Disasters and Vulnerability Initiative), and (iii) the Pacific Regional Ocean
Forum planned for the first quarter of 2004 (Ocean Initiative).

11. The two years that will have lapsed between the WSSD and the BPoA+10 in
Mauritius January 2005, provide a fair timeframe to look at the lessons learned in
developing these umbrella initiatives, and to provide for some best practices upon which

to improve the development, management, coordination, implementation and monitoring
of partnerships in the region.

12. During the CSD 12 and the SIDS PrepCom, in April 2004, some Pacific delegates,
Type I facilitators and CROP advisors made presentation on the development of the
Pacific umbrella Initiatives. They presented specifically on some Type II's relevant to the
themes of the CSD session, namely the Water, Capacity Building, Energy, Tourism and
Vulnerability initiatives. The general Type II's presentation provided an opportunity to
highlight some of the best practices of these initiatives that will be compiled for the
International Meeting in Mauritius.

13.  The recent CROP Heads meeting in July 2004, saw a strong commitment from all
CROP Heads to further developing these initiatives and reporting on them at their
governing councils, to promote accountability and coordination of all partners involved in

the region. For comprehensive updates of individual initiatives please contact the
facilitators for each initiative as listed in Attachment 1.

14.  The continued overall monitoring of the Pacific Type II's is currently being

modified to be incorporated into the new Pacific SIDSnet website which is being housed
at SPREP.

National Assessment Reports linked with National Sustainable Development
Strategies (NSDS)

15. SPREP has received 8 Pacific SIDS National Assessment Reports (NAR’s) for
BPoA+10 to date', most of which are still in draft form. Many NAR’s developed for the
WSSD were developed with the intention to be used for input into the BPoA+10 as well.
Given the postponement of the BPoA+10 International Meeting to January 2005, PICT’s
now have the opportunity to extend the deadline for completion of NAR's.

16. Many PIC’s, in their NAR’s, have noted the importance of an enabling
environment that provides a framework for collaboration and communication amongst key
stakeholders involved in sustainable development and the need for better integrated
decision making. As a result the opportunity to use these NAR’s as the basis for
developing NSDS by 2005 (JPOI target) is being advocated at all levels. A fundamental
outcome of establishing NSDS’s should be the institutionalizing of a coordination
committee/commission from taskforces set up to develop NAR's, (Illustrated in slide 1
below). At the Nadi Meeting 2003, participants noted the opportunity of melding the
required NSDSs with national planning processes. This was taken up by the Forum
Economic Ministers Meeting (FEMM) and SPREP meetings in 2003. The FEMM
meeting held from 9-10 June 2004 discussed such options for policy development through

! Fiji, Samoa, Tuvalu, PNG, Cook Islands, FSM, RMI, Tonga.
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presentation of possible templates for sustainable development strategies. Ffurthermore

there are templates and guidelines that have been developed by IED, OECD and UNDP
which can be accessed at www.iied.org .

National Reporting to WSSD &

v v
I

2l

(4 |
| |
| .
| |

Multi-stakeholder Multi-stakeholder Multi-stakeholder

Consultation Consultation Implementation

thntegrated Decision
Muking)

Slide 1: NAR's through WSSD and BPoA+10 towards the development of NSDS by2005.

17- There are other activities currently underway that could assist with this process or
at least contribute to it significantly, and should be encouraged to act in collaboration,
such as the development of the National Capacity Self Assessments (NCSA), a Global
Environment Facility GEF requirement for all future capacity building funding.

18.  To date a number of PIC’s” have instigated the development of their NSDS or the
like, and CROP advisors are assisting with this process where requested. Expertise from
environment, social and economic sectors are being used to develop these NSDS to foster
the linkages across sectors, with both policy and process. This should foster an integrated

decision making framework that is holistic and encompassing of all factors that influence
sustainable development.

Regional Assessment and Draft Pacific Position

19.  The Draft Regional Assessment® has been developed on the basis of the Pacific
NAR’s produced for the WSSD and those prepared for the BPoA+10 as well as other
relevant regional reports and documents. It is still in draft format to be finalized by

December 2004 in time for production to be presented at the International Meeting in
Mauritius.

% Cook Islands, FSM, Niue, Tuvalu, Solomon Islands.

* A copy of the Draft Regional Assessment and Pacific Position can be found on the WWW.SPIep.org. ws
website.
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20.  The Regional Assessment follows the agreed template as finalized during the
Pacific Regional Preparatory Meeting of 4 — 8 August, 2003 in Apia, with one extra
chapter. The additional Chapter 7 titled “Furthering Implementation of BPoA and New
and Emerging Concerns (Draft Pacific Position)” comprises what has become known as
the Draft Pacific Position (Provided Separately). This chapter presents the main barriers
to implementation as highlighted throughout the assessment, and aims to give a
comprehensive view of priority areas that need addressing in order to move the sustainable
development agenda of the region, forward. Chapter 7 was distilled from the Regional
assessment, has been edited by a drafting meeting of 7 PICs on 9" Dec 2003 and was
endorsed as the basis for Pacific negotiations in the BPoA+10 at a meeting of all Pacific

Island delegates of the Bahamas at the High level SIDS Inter-regional meeting of January
2004.

2l.  The “Draft Pacific Position” offers a strategic approach to improving the
implementation of sustainable development in the region. It is envisaged that the Regional
Assessment and Draft Pacific Position will contribute significantly to the development of

the Pacific Plan and the Regional Sustainable Development Strategy/Framework
(RSDS).

Leaders have initiated the development of a “Pacific Plan”

22.  Pacific Leaders during their Annual Leaders Meeting in August 2003 in Auckland,
tasked an Eminent Persons Group (EPG) with a review of the Forum to maximize on
collaboration amongst PICs in the Region.

23. At the Informal Forum Retreat in Auckland on 6 April 2004, Leaders issued a
Declaration and a set of decisions based on the recommendations of the EGP. The
Leaders’ endorsed the EPG’s recommendation to develop a Pacific Plan. Specifically the
Leaders’ “endorsed and lead the development of the Pacific Plan, intended to create
stronger and deeper links between the countries of the region. The Plan should:

. Assess options and provide a strategy for deeper and broader regional
cooperation, taking into account the broader international environment
and agreements in which Forum members participate;

Identify the sectors and issues in which the region can gain the most
Sfrom sharing resources of governance and aligning policies; Provide
clear recommendations to Leaders on the sequence and priorities for
intensified regional cooperation;

. Be used as a springboard for stimulating debate on how to shape the
region’s longer term future;

Be carried out by a Task Force of people from within the region, managed
by the Secretary General;

Be overseen in the first instance by a core group of Leaders’ (comprising
the immediate past, current and incoming chairs and a representative of
the Smaller Island States), this composition to be reviewed after each
Forum;

Be started as soon as possible. The Forum Secretariat to complete an
assessment of existing mechanisms and processes for regional
cooperation in time for the 2004 Apia Forum, along with draft terms of
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reference and recommendations from the Secretary General for
membership of the Task Force®.

24.  The Forum Secretariat’s initial assessment of existing mechanisms and processes
for regional cooperation, notes that other important assessments such as the Pacific input
to the WSSD and the BPoA+10 should be important input to the development of the
Pacific Plan. The development of the Pacific Plan will largely influence the intended
development of an RSDS. The need for such a regional strategy or framework was
recognized in the early preparations for the WSSD. It’s development has since been

delayed to include Pacific input to the BPoA+10, and will reviewed in light of the
development of the Pacific Plan.

The AOSIS Strategy for BPoA+10

25.  The Pacific Position has largely be incorporated into the “Association of Small
Island States (AOSIS) Strategy for the Further Implementation of the BPoA”, which is the
proposed and negotiated, small island states (SIDS) wide, text for the BPoA+10.

26. The “AOSIS Strategy” was drafted during the Bahamas Inter-regional SIDS
preparatory meeting for BPoA+10, January 26 — 30" 2004. It then went through one
round of readings at the PrepCom for the BPoA+10 in New York 14 — 16™ April before
the CSD12. In an attempt to remove further bracketed text in the AOSIS Strategy,
“informal informals” (negotiations with UN members) where held from the 18 — 20" in
May in New York. Following this round of negotiations there still remains a significant
amount of text to be cleared and another set of “informal informal negotiations” have been
agreed to for October 7,8 and 11™ in an attempt to have a, near agreed to, document by
the time of the International Meeting in January 2005. The latest copy of the AOSIS
Strategy is available from the Secretariat.

Recommendations:
The meeting is encouraged to:
e Complete national assessment reports for BPoA+10, by November 2004,

¢ Call on CROP assistance, if desired, when developing national sustainable
development strategies, or the like, by 2005 (JPol Target),

* Participate at the highest level in the International Meeting in Mauritius, and

e Comment on the relationship and links between national sustainable
development policy, the SPREP Action Plan, the Pacific Plan and the AOSIS
Strategy for BPoA+10, as key national, regional and international policy
documents that aim to improve sustainable development in the region.

* Already completed through the Secretary General’s report to the Apia Forum.
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Attachment 1: Pacific Type II Partnership/Initiative Facilitators
Facilitators 14 Pacific Umbrella Initiatives
itative Facilitator (or representative E mail
presenting)

Kanayathu Koshy (USP) Koshy.k@usp.ac.fi
1 Capacity Building

Frank Wickham (SPREP) frankw @sprep.org.ws
2 Energy Paul Fairbairn (SOPAC) Paul@sopac.org
3 | Land Resources Odile Rolland (SPC) iler int
4 | Adaptation Andrea Volentras (SPREP) andreav@sprep.org.ws
5 | Tourism Viane Amato-Ali (SPTO) vianea @spto.org
6 | Governance Professor Ron Duncan Duncan r@usp.ac.fj
7 :3::;:;:33 and Disaster Russell Howorth russell @sopac.org.fj
8 | Health Jimmie Rodgers (SPC) JimmieR @spe.int
9 |ICT John Low (FORSEC) JohnL @forsec.org.fj
10 | Water Rhonda Bower (SOPAC) rhonda@sopac.org.fj
11 | Conservation Kate Brown (SPREP) kateb@sprep.org.ws

nl@fi ec.org.fi
12 | Ocean John Low & Cristelle Pratt T ol
Planning and Community

13 Development Matt Mclntyre (SPREP) mat SPrep.org.ws
14 | Waste Frank Griffin Fra Sprep.org.w
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials
Pape’ete, French Polynesia
13-16 September 2004

SPREP

Information Paper

Agenda Item 13.3: Update on 5 Pacific WSSD Type II Partnership Initiatives
facilitated by SPREP

Purpose of Paper

1. To provide the Meeting with an update on the status and progress of the five
Pacific WSSD Type II partnership initiatives, facilitated by the Secretariat.

Background

2. 14 Type II partnerships initiatives were released by Pacific Leaders and Officials
at the World Summit for Sustainable Development, Johannesburg, 2002.

3 SPREP is facilitating five (5) of these Type II's and as such is providing

summaries on the nature, status and progression of these partnership/initiatives in this
information paper.

4. Pacific Umbrella Type II: Waste Management: There are a number of ongoing
activities and partnerships to assist in addressing waste management and pollution
concemns in the region. These include efforts in: the collection and removal of persistent
organic pollutants and some hazardous waste; awareness campaigns on waste
minimization; assessment and proposed control of trans-boundary marine pollution;
response measures for oil spills; databases on WWII ship wreaks; the trans-shipment of
hazardous materials in the region (Waigani and Basel Conventions); and the development

of a Regional Waste Management Strategy, (RWMS) and Type II umbrella partnership for
Waste Management in the Pacific.

3 The Pacific RWMS will in the first instance will focus on three specific priority
areas: Key institutional aspects, including policy and legislation development coupled
with planning, information exchange, and public education and awareness; Improvement
and upgrading of existing waste disposal systems for solid, hazardous and shipping-
related marine waste; development and/or enhancement of waste minimization activities
such as recycling, so as to reduce the quantities of wastes being produced.
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6. To support this, SPREP is developing a “Regional Waste Management
Programme” to assist PICT’s implement the RWMS. This programme will be managed
by SPREP in collaboration with various regional and international partners, and facilitated
through the Type II umbrella partnership on waste management. Shared technical
expertise, exchange of information, promotion of best practices, securing resources and

organizing regional consultations and meetings, will be facilitated through this
partnership.

7. The Pacific Type II Umbrella Initiative on Mainstreaming Conservation and
Traditional Knowledge: is focussed on collaborative efforts to implement activities
consistent with the regional Action Strategy for Nature Conservation, and is coordinated
through the Roundtable for Nature Conservation. As such, it has had major impact on
coordination and focus of conservation action in the Pacific, through its membership of
donors, conservation agencies, NGO’s and inter-national organisations. Efforts are now
underway to monitor progress on both the outputs of this Type II and also the outcomes in
terms of impact, based on a number of indicators that are being developed. This
partnership is working well as it builds on an existing regional strategy and a pre-existing
co-ordinating mechanism. At a recent partnership meeting in June 2004, significant new
partnerships were developed, including new commitments for mobilisation of support for

implementing the strategy by the World Council of Churches (Pacific), UNESCO - World
Heritage, FSPI and others.

8. Pacific Type Il Umbrella Initiative on Planning for Sustainable Community
Lifestyles: respects the notion that 80% of coastal and land degradation stems from
development and human activities (UNEP GPA)' at the local level, and that local
communities remain the best stakeholders to address degradation. It also addresses the
call for holistic implementation mechanisms for policy and best practice through
integrated planning systems — a key ingredient to improving enabling environments for
sustainable development (JPol; ‘Nadi High Level Meeting’, March 2002; Pacific Position,
2004). In difference to their SIDS colleagues most PICs lack resource/land use planning
systems, to tie in with their environment protection systems. They also face large voids in
basic data and information sets upon which to institute sound integrated planning
processes for sustainable development.

O Under the banner of this Initiative the following activities have occurred: a case
study in Vanuatu exploring the role of environmental planning approaches in
mainstreaming the environment; a strategic environmental planning workshop, May 2003;
input to ADB’s Pacific Regional Environment Strategy (PRES); a submission to CSD 12
on Human Settlements and Sustainable Development in PICs; and a new network -
Pacific Network of Planners (PNOP). New and additional partners include the
UNESCAP, the International Institute of Environment and Development (IIED), the
International Council for Local Environmental Initiatives (ICLEI); the Foundation for
Development Cooperation (FDC); the International Association of Impact Assessments
(IAIA) and UNEP, Bangkok. There have also been related and independent actions that

! UNEP Global Programmme of Action for the Protection of Marine Resources from Land Based Activities.
(UNEP GPA), 1995
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have been brought into the fold of the Initiative: draft strategy on Urban Development

Management (December 2003 — UNHabitat, UNESCAP and PIFS) and the Asia-Pacific
sustainable cities initiative.

10.  Pacific Type II Umbrella Initiative on Capacity Building: Throughout the
World Summit on Sustainable Development (WSSD), there have been references to the
importance of capacity building. The region’s aspirations for sustainable development can
be achieved only if it has the adequate capacity at all levels. This often calls for clearly
established capacity needs, capacity building frameworks, effective delivery mechanisms
and people having increased access to capacity building opportunities, higher levels of

education and targeted/ demand-led research. This umbrella initiative therefore aims to,
support and/or establish:

* National capacity assessments and priorities
* National and regional capacity building frameworks.
¢ Inventories of training activities and resources in the region.

* Increased opportunities for Pacific islanders to have access to training and
research opportunities.

e Strengthened capacity of and collaboration between regional centres of
excellence

* Strengthened delivery mechanisms to support education for environmental
management and sustainable development.

11. A number of partnership initiatives are being forged to support SPREP members
with capacity assessments and capacity building initiatives. This includes the
development of a regional support mechanism with a range of partners to provide support
to countries in the implementation of their national capacity self assessments (NCSA —
GEF). This support mechanism will also assist countries identify priority areas for
capacity building in respect of multi-lateral environment agreements (MEAs). This
umbrella Type Il will also be developing initiatives to strengthen delivery mechanisms for
existing education and training activities at the primary, secondary, tertiary and vocational
levels and provide more opportunities for Pacific islanders to undertake research
activities. SPREP and USP are jointly facilitating this partnership initiative.

12.  To date partnerships have also been forged through the following programmes and
projects:

* UNESCOs Education For All (EFA) commitment and follow-up activities to
the Dakar World Education Forum (April 2000) through its vision of
Education for Sustainable Development. This entails an integrated education
approach to address inter-sectoral policies, strategies and programmes toward
water, energy, health, agriculture and biodiversity (WEHAB) development.

* Links to ICSU’s “Science and Ttechnology for Sustainable Development”
initiatives, and WSSD parallel sessions.
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e Direct link to START/TWAS/IFS plans for capacity building for global
change science.

e Link to the joint initiative of APN and Ministry of Environment, Japan, Type 2

on ‘Scientific Capacity Building for Sustainable Development in Developing
Countries’

13.  Adaptation: This Type II initiative will focus on implementing activities
consistent with the Pacific islands regional framework on Climate Change, Climate
Variability and Sea Level Rise. This framework is coordinated through the Climate
Roundtable which brings together countries, development partners, agencies, NGO’s and
regional organisations. SPREP will convene the next roundtable meeting in 2005 to
finalise a new framework for 2005-2009. The priority focus area will be progressing
adaptation initiatives and identifying activities and targets for partners to deliver against
during the lifespan of the framework.

14. Roadmaps for the development and management of the Type II partnership
initiatives are available from the Secretariat or at www.pacific-sidsnet.org .

15.  There is still a significant amount of work that needs to happen to further these
Initiatives as platforms for improved collaboration amongst partners. Particular effort
needs to focus on means for donor partners to utilize the Type II initiatives as
coordination mechanisms to direct funds to the national level. In addition to this benefits
at the National level must be clearly outlined to ensure PIC’s are able harness these. This
in part may be assisted by bilateral and multi-lateral donors, investing in the development
of the partnerships as well as building awareness and establishing focal points at the
national level for each initiative. Avenues for this to occur are being facilitated through
the preparations for the BpoA+10 in particular the development of National Assessment

Reports, and the development of National Sustainable Development Strategies by 2005 as
agreed to in the JPol.

Recommendation

16.  The Meeting is invited to:

> consider the status of Pacific WSSD Type II partnership initiatives facilitated
by SPREP;

» note the need for CROP, Pacific island countries and territories, development
partners and donors to use the Type II partnership initiatives to consolidate
collaborative efforts for environmental protection and sustainable
development in the region.

29 July 2004
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials
Pape’ete, French Polynesia
13-16 September 2004

Information Paper 4

Agenda Item 13.4: Pacific Islands Regional Ocean Forum and Draft
Framework for Integrated Strategic Action

Purpose of Paper

1. To report on the outcomes the Pacific Islands Regional Ocean Forum, 2-6
February 2004.

Background

2. In 1999 Forum Leaders endorsed recommendations emerging from a Forum
Secretariat workshop convened in Tonga to consider further implementation of the
provisions of the 1982 UN Convention on the Law of the Sea. One of the

recommendations related to the development of a Pacific Islands Regional Ocean
Policy (PIROP).

3. Working under the auspices of the CROP Marine Sector Working Group
(MSWG), a Pacific Islands Regional Ocean Policy was subsequently drafted. The

Thirty-Third Pacific Islands Forum held in Suva, Fiji Islands, from 15-17 August 2002,
endorsed it.

-4 The Pacific Islands Regional Ocean Forum (PIROF) was organized by the
MSWG in response to instructions from the Pacific Islands Forum Leaders to elaborate
mechanisms to support implementation of the Policy. The PIROF was held at the
University of the South Pacific, Suva, Fiji, 2-6 February 2004. Its main objective was
to use the Regional Ocean Policy to produce a Framework for Integrated Strategic
Action (ISA) to support effective ocean governance in the Pacific Islands region.

<Y The PIROF consisted of keynote addresses and parallel working group sessions
under each of the five principles of the Pacific Regional Ocean Policy. It provided a
venue for consultations between regional and national stakeholders, government and
civil society. It also provided a platform for new regional partners to explore
opportunities for assisting countries with the sustainable development and management
of the region’s oceanic and coastal resources.
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6. PIROF produced a Communiqué (Attachment 1) that outlined the steps needed
for the further development of the PIROF-ISA. This included opportunities for a broad
range of national, regional and international stakeholders to provide comments on the
draft ISA produce by the Forum. Subsequently, the MSWG consolidated comments
received to refine the ISA. This was submitted to the Thirty Fourth Pacific Islands
Forum at Apia, Samoa, 3-10 August, 2004. The outcome of discussions among the
Forum Leaders at Apia will be reported to the SPREP Meeting at Tahiti.

Issues

¢ 1 The Regional Ocean Policy and the ISA cover the existing ocean-related work
areas of many national government agencies, every CROP agency, almost all NGOs
active in the region, and many international organizations with interests in the Pacific

Islands region. As such, several issues arise that would benefit from further
consideration.

®* The PIROP requires an active coordinating framework to support its

effective implementation. The MSWG has fostered the process for five
years. However, the current composition of the MSWG, which is dominated
by CROP agencies, does not present the broad membership necessary to
secure the input of all regional actors on ocean issues. Building on
discussions during the PIROF there is a strong argument for the need for a

broader-based “Secretariat” to take responsibility for monitoring
implementation of the PIROF-ISA.

e Each CROP agency needs to assign PIROP implementation a high priority,
and to:

(a) make sure that its ocean-related goals and activities reflect the principles
of the policy; and

(b) make sure that any future regional and international agreements and
partnerships conform to PIROP principles. One of the purposes of the
PIROP was to provide a *“checklist” of principles, agreed at the highest
political level, against which all future ocean developments should be
measured before they are implemented.

Reflecting this need the ISA promotes annual reporting on PIROP and
PIROF-ISA issues to the governing councils of each CROP organization.

e In order to make the PIROF-ISA more than just a strategic plan consisting of
negotiated motherhood statements and self-evident details supporting
existing work-programmes, some more dramatic actions might be proposed
that give the region some “teeth” in implementing the Policy. One
suggestion is for a regional Ocean Ombudsman, whose office would
investigate ocean-related developments affecting more that one nation, or of

trans-boundary scope, reporting to Forum countries on the conformity of
that development with PIROP principles.
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That the PIROF-ISA provides for the preparation of national ocean policies
for countries in which that has not yet been done. Considerable support and

coordination at both national and regional levels will be required to achieve
this.

Recommendation
8. The Meeting is invited to consider the following;
>

29 July, 2004

note the process in developing the PIROF-ISA as identified in the PIROF
Communiqué;

note the six strategic priorities in the ISA;

note the outcomes of the discussions of Forum Leaders in relation to the
PIROF-ISA at Apia, Samoa, 3-10 August;

note the provision for the development and implementation of a national
ocean policy where considered appropriate, and

agree that implementation of the Pacific Islands Regional Ocean Policy, and

the ISA, be proposed as a standing agenda item in relevant CROP
Governing Council Annual meetings.
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Pacific Islands Regional Ocean Forum Communiqué

THE PACIFIC ISLANDS REGIONAL OCEAN POLICY - FROM POLICY TO A
FRAMEWORK FOR INTEGRATED STRATEGIC ACTION

Adopted by the participants of the Pacific Islands Regional Ocean Forum,
including the Pacific member countries and territories, development
partners, non-State actors, private sector and civil societies, and held at
the University of the South Pacific, Suva, Fiji, 2 — 6 F. ebruary, 2004.

Recognising the importance of sustainable management of ocean resources and endorsing the

vision of a “Healthy Ocean that Sustains the Livelihoods and Aspirations of the Pacific Islands
Communities”;

Recalling that the Pacific Islands Forum Leaders endorsed the Pacific Islands Regional Ocean
Policy in August 2002 and directed the Forum Secretariat, and other organisations under the
banner of the Council of Regional Organisations of the Pacific (CROP), to begin the

implementation process of this Policy by developing a Framework for Integrated Strategic
Action (ISA);

Reaffirming our commitment to sustainable ocean development as expressed in the ocean and
coast components of Agenda 21 agreed in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, 1992: to the Global Action
Plan for Small Island Developing States agreed in Barbados, 1994; and to the outcomes of the

World Summit on Sustainable Development in the form of the Johannesburg Plan of
Implementation;

Noting that the Pacific Islands Regional Ocean Policy was presented by the Chair of the
Pacific Islands Forum at the World Summit on Sustainable Development (WSSD) in
Johannesburg in September 2002;

We the participants met in Suva, Fiji Islands, 2 - 6 February 2004 to begin the implementation
process of the Pacific Islands Regional Ocean Policy so as “to ensure the future sustainable use
of our ocean resources by Pacific Island communities and partners”;

Guided by the 5 principles and strategic actions identified in the Pacific Islands Regional
Ocean Policy: improving our understanding of the oceans; sustainably developing and
managing the use of ocean resources; maintaining the health of the ocean; promoting the
peaceful use of the ocean; and creating partnerships and promoting cooperation;

We fully recognise the dynamic nature of the ISA, and the need the continued development of

partnerships with all relevant stakeholders at international, regional, national and community
levels;

We acknowledge the on-going initiatives undertaken by national governments, and supported
by regional organisations, international organisations, NGOs, and civil society groups, to work
towards the sustainable management and conservation of our ocean resources in the region;
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We remain conscious of the important role of communities and customary resource owners in
the development and the application of local management arrangements for local resources;
and the importance of considering all components of ecosystems in the further development of

the ISA, and of paying particular attention to the impacts of land-based activities on these
ecosystems;

We recognise that the implementation of the ISA must be pursued wherever possible through
existing structures at all levels, and that these structures must seek to develop and enhance
cooperative and integrated approaches to their work in this regard;

We encourage the international community and development partners to join us toward the
achievement of actions identified in the Framework for Integrated Strategic Action. By
achieving outcomes we will meet the needs of the region, but also our commitment to the
United Nations Millennium Development Goals that are vital for sustainable ocean

management: contributing to the reduction of poverty and thereby improving health and
livelihood of all people, as reflected in the Ocean Policy Vision;

We underline the importance of the ten-year review of the Barbados Plan of Action, to take
place in Mauritius from 30 August — 3 September 2004, and we believe that the experience
gained through the ISA Process will significantly contribute to this International Meeting;

We agree on the process within which the ISA will be finalized. CROP should identify a

Coordinator (Secretariat) to continue the process of developing the ISA, together with national
focal points;

We recommend that the ISA be finalised through the following actions:

* End of February 2004 — draft ISA to be sent to all participants of this Forum for
comments;

¢ End -March 2004 - feedback from participants to CROP Coordinator;

* Mid-April 2004 - draft ISA circulated by CROP Coordinator to their focal points and
other partners;

¢ Mid-May 2004 - feedback from CROP focal points to CROP Coordinator;

¢ End May 2004 — draft ISA submitted to CROP Marine Sector Working Group and
subsequently to CROP Heads;

e June 2004 — present to the 5" UN Informal Consultative Process on Oceans and Law

of the Sea (UNICPOLOS) the progress achieved, and experience gained, through the
PIROF Process;

® Early July 2004 - a final draft of the ISA to be circulated to Forum member countries
six weeks before the Forum Officials Committee (FOC) meeting;

e Early July 2004 — a final draft of the ISA is to be circulated to non-Forum island
members and partners including territories for consideration through their own
appraisal and approval processes;

* Mid-August 2004 — present draft ISA to FOC for approval and subsequently to Forum
Leaders for endorsement;
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¢ End August - early September 2004 — table ISA as a Partnership Initiative at the
International Meeting for the BPoA+10 review; and

* September — December 2004 — CROP to brief respective Governing Councils on status
of the ISA.

We recommend that the implementation of the ISA be included as a standing agenda item in
CROP Governing Council Annual meetings; and

We express our appreciation to CROP for the organisation and development of the Ocean

Forum, and all partners and stakeholders who actively contributed towards the development of
the ISA.

Dated: 6 February 2004
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials
Pape’ete, French Polynesia
13-16 September 2004

SPREP

Information Paper - 5
Agenda Item 13.5: International Waters Project

Purpose of Paper

1 This paper provides a Status Report for the International Waters Project (IWP)
that is implementing the Strategic Action Programme (the SAP) for the International
Waters of the Pacific Small Island Developing States.

Background

2, Fourteen SPREP Members are participating in this Project’. It is funded by the
Global Environment Facility (GEF), implemented by the United Nations Development
Programme (UNDP) and executed by the South Pacific Regional Environment
Programme (SPREP). It commenced in February 2000.

3. The IWP has two components. The Oceanic Fisheries Management (OFM)
component focuses on the management and conservation of tuna stocks in the western
central Pacific. This component is executed by the Secretariat for the Pacific Community
(SPC) and the Forum Fisheries Agency (FFA).

4. The Integrated Coastal Watershed Management (ICWM) component is
implemented through SPREP. It supports pilot activities at both the community and
national level to address the root cause(s) for environmental concemns relating to the

protection of freshwater, securing sustainable coastal fisheries and/or managing
community waste.

b7 Project details, activities and reports are available at www.sprep.org. ws/iwp.

' Cook Islands, Federated States of Micronesia, Fiji, Kiribati, Marshall Islands, Nauru, Niue, Palau, Papua
New Guinea, Samoa, Solomon Islands, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu.
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Status
OFM Component
6. SPC and FFA report on project activities to fisheries officials at meetings

convened by each organisation. During the last 12 months activities have continued to be
dominated by the Preparatory Conference that is establishing new institutional

arrangements for the management and conservation of migratory fish stocks in the central
and western Pacific.

7 Support for the FFA-implemented elements of the project concluded in December
2003. Funds are available to support SPC’s activities through until June 2005.

8. In the lead up to the conclusion of this initial GEF support for oceanic fisheries
management in the Pacific Islands region, SPREP, FFA and SPC commenced planning a
second phase for the OFM component in mid-2002. Following the successful submission
of a Project Concept to the GEF CEO in June 2003, work to develop a second phase for
the OFM component has progressed well under a US$700,000 PDF-B grant.

9. Drawing on the recommendations of a terminal evaluation for the OFM
Component, which was commissioned in early 2004, the collaborating organisations will
work throughout 2004 to develop a full project for submission to the GEF Council at their
inter-sessional in January 2005. National consultations associated with the development
of the phase II project commenced in May 2004. They were completed in August.
Subsequently a regional consultation was convened to agree to priority elements of the
phase II project. The provisional value of the full project is US$8.5 million.

ICWM Component
10.  Highlights for the last 12 months include:

e The selection of sites to host the community-based aspects of the project in all
14 participating countries;

e With the recruitment of a National Coordinator for Yap in Federated States of
Micronesia, the completion of a network of 14 IWP national coordinators
covering all participating countries;

e A fourth meeting of national coordinators and a third meeting of the
Multipartite Review;

? The Report has been circulated to participating country fisheries officials, it was discussed at the May
2004 Forum Fisheries Committee session in Kiribati, and is available from UNDP, SPC, FFA and/or
SPREP (www.sprep.org. ws/iwp).
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Selection to participate in a global Specially Managed Project Review (SMPR)
commissioned by the GEF;

Refinement of the IWP website as a central tool in the project’s communication
strategy,

Completion of the design, and first delivery, of a comprehensive course in
community-based resource economics (in association with the Australian
National University, the UN Division of Ocean Affairs and the Law of the Sea
and the University of the South Pacific);

Sub-regional and national workshops focused on social marketing for resource
management and conservation (in association with the Ministry of Environment,
New Zealand and other SPREP projects);

National workshops for participatory planning processes for community-based
resource management and conservation projects (in association with Foundation
of the People’s of the South Pacific/Partnerships in Community Development
(Fiji));

Publication of a Social Marketing Kit for resource management and
conservation practioners in the Pacific Islands region;

Publication of a Resource Kit for Facilitators in natural resource management (in
collaboration with other SPREP projects);

A broad range of activities in each of the 14 participating countries supporting
stakeholder analysis and participation, root cause analysis, communications
(public relations, awareness and community education), social, economic and
environment baseline assessments, and the development and implementation of
management or action plans to address the root cause for environmental
concerns. Many of these activities have been undertaken as a partnership — such
as in Yap where The Nature Conservancy has provided technical backstoppin g
Increased attention to reporting on achievements and impacts for both national
and regional level Project activities;

The commencement of work in several participating countries to value (in
economic terms) environmental issues. For example, in Marshall Islands and
Palau the Project is working with local stakeholders to assess economic issues
associated with waste;

Further refinement of the project logframe — and subsequent of a monitoring and
evaluation plans (taking into account GEF IW Indicators) for regional and
national components of the Project - as recommended in the 2003 Mid Term
Evaluation (MTE);

The convening of an expert consultation, at SOPAC headquarters in Suva, to
consider national and regional policy, logistical and institutional issues
associated with integrated coastal and watershed management;

The completion of a preliminary review of strategic agreements, strategic plans
and consultative fora in relation to the SAP (as recommended in the MTE); and
A significant role in the February 2004 Pacific Islands Regional Ocean Forum,
coordinated by the CROP Marine Sector Working Group at USP, Suva (a further
recommendation from the MTE).
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11.  The ICWM Component is scheduled to conclude in December 2006.
Recommendation
12.  The Meeting is invited to:

> note the status report; and

» propose where necessary, mechanisms to strengthen the effectiveness of the
Project at the national and regional level.

28 July, 2004
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials

Pape'ete, French Polynesia

13-16 September 2004
SPREP

REVISED PROVISIONAL AGENDA

Agenda Item 1: Official Opening

Agenda Item 2: Appointment of Chair and Vice-Chair
Agenda Item 3: Adoption of Agenda and Working Procedures

Agenda Item 4: Action Taken on Matters Arising from Fourteenth SPREP
Meeting
Agenda Item 5: Performance Review/Overview of Developments in 2003

5.1  Presentation of Annual Report for 2003 and Director’'s Overview of
Progress since the Fourteenth SPREP Meeting

5.2  Financial Reports

5.2.1 Report on Members’ Contributions
5.2.2 Audited Annual Accounts for 2003

Agenda Item 6: Action Plan Review and New Action Plan 2005 - 2009
Agenda Item 7: Programme Strategy

7.1 SPREP Strategic Programmes
7.2  Resourcing Strategy

Agenda Item 8: Staff Remuneration - Triennial Review

8.1 Triennial CROP Remuneration Review on Professional Staff
8.2  Triennial Remuneration Review on Support Staff

Agenda [tem 9: Joint Task Force Report on SPREP Core Functions and Budget
Agenda Item 10:  Regional Conventions
10.1  Report of the Joint Conference of the Parties for the Noumea and Apia

Conventions
10.2  Report of the Conference of the Parties of the Waigani Convention
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Agenda Item 11: Work Programme and Budget

11.1  Island Ecosystems Programme

11.1.1 Regional Support Mechanism for National Capacity Self
Assessments

11.2  Pacific Futures Programme

11.2.1 Pacific Islands Environment Outlook 2004
11.2.2  Climate Change, Climate Variability and Sea Level Rise

11.3 Proposed Work Programme and Budget for 2005 and Indicative Budgets
for 2006 and 2007

Agenda Item 12: Institutional Matters

12.1 Proposed Name Change for the Organisation
12.2  Process for Recruitment of Director

12.3  Staff Regulations — amendments

12.4 Revised Financial Regulations

12.5 Palau — Notice of Desire to Accede to the SPREP Agreement
12.6  Appointment of Auditors

Agenda Item 13: Regional Coordination

13.1 Report of CROP Heads Meeting (Information Paper)

13.2 BPOA + 10 Progress Report (Information Paper)

13.3 Update on Pacific Type II Initiatives (Information Paper)

13.4 Pacific Islands Regional Ocean Forum and Draft Strategic Action
Framework (Information Paper)

13.5 International Waters Project (Information Paper)
Agenda Item 14: Items Proposed by Members
Agenda Item 15: Statements by Observers
Agenda Item 16: Other Business
Agenda Item 17: Date and Venue of Sixteenth SPREP Meeting
Agenda Item 18: Adoption of Report
Agenda Item 19: Close

17 June 2004
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials
Pape’ete, French Polynesia
SPREP 13-16 September 2004

Agenda Item 2: Appointment of Chair and Vice-Chair

Purpose of Paper

1. In accordance with the “Rules of Procedure of the SPREP Meeting” (Rules 8.1
and 8.2), where a Meeting is hosted by the Secretariat, the Chair shall rotate

alphabetically. Where a Meeting is not hosted by the Secretariat, the Chair shall be
provided by the host country.

2 Accordingly, the Chair of the Fifteenth SPREP Meeting will be French
Polynesia, the host country.

3. Rule 8.3 also provide that the Vice-Chair shall rotate alphabetically whether or
not the Meeting is hosted by the Secretariat. The Vice-Chair of the Fourteenth SPREP
Meeting was Marshall Islands. Under the principle of alphabetical rotation, therefore,
Nauru should be appointed Vice-Chair of the Fifteenth SPREP Meeting.

Recommendation
4. The Meeting is invited to:

> to appoint the Representative of French Polynesia as Chair; and
» to appoint the Representative of Nauru as Vice-Chair.

19 July 2004
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials

SPREP

Agenda Item 3: Adoption of Agenda and Working Procedures

Agenda

1. The Revised Provisional Agenda appears in the Working Paper documentation
as 15SM/Officials/Provisional Agenda/Rev.1.

Hours of Work

2. Suggested hours of work for the Meeting are contained in the attached
(15SM/Officials/WP.3/Att.1).

Sub-committees

3 A Report Drafting Committee would need to be appointed to assist with the
preparation of the report of the Meeting. While the membership of the Committee is

open-ended it should comprise a core of 5 or 6 members one of which should be from a
French speaking member.

Recommendation
4. The Meeting is invited to:
» consider and adopt the Provisional Agenda;

» agree on hours of work; and
» appoint an open-ended Report Drafting Committee,

19 July 2004

Pape’ete, French Polynesia
13-16 September 2004
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials

Pape'ete, French Polynesia
13-16 September 2004

Action Taken on Decisions Made by
Fourteenth SPREP Meeting

Purpose of Paper
1. To report on action taken on the decisions of the 14" SPREP Meeting as outlined
below.
Agenda Topic Report Matters Arising Action Taken
Paragraph
Number
Item 6.1: 86 The Meeting The Secretariat accordingly issued to
Action Plan Review (2™ bullet | » endorsed the scope and process members in early March a standard
point) for the review; taking into account | evaluation questionnaire that also
the views of the Meeting; and sought views on a new Action Plan
» approved in principle the terms of | and visited a representative cross
reference and revised budget section of members for more detailed
figures, subject to further consultations. On the basis of the
discussion under Agenda item 8.5 | questionnaire responses and
consultations, the Secretariat provided
members with a synthesis report and
drafted a new Action Plan 2005-2009.
Both these documents were addressed
in detail by a regional meeting of
senior SPREP member officials on 7-
8 June. The meeting agreed on a
Draft new Action Plan 2005-2009
which will be addressed by this
Meeting under a separate item for
review, endorsement and
recommendation to the Environment
Ministers Meeting for approval.
Item 6.3.3: 140 The Meeting A revised Financial Regulations is
Audited Annual (2™ bullet | o adopted the Financial Statements | being proposed for discussion and
Accounts for 2002 point) and Auditor's Report for the year | adoption under a separate agenda
ended 31 December 2002, item.
» requested that a paper be
represented to the 15™ SPREP
Meeting, outlining changes to the
Financial Regulations to address
the concerns raised and to bring
the document up to date with good
practice.
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Agenda Topic Report Matters Arising Action Taken
Paragraph
Number
Item 7: 144 Regarding the funding of the A Joint Task force comprised of
Strategic Programmes programme strategy — the resourcing | representatives of American Samoa,
strategy — the Director stressed that Australia, Federated States of
the strategic programme approach Micronesia, Fiji, Kiribati, New
would not cost any more or less to Zealand, Samoa, Tokelau, United
implement, rather that it would be a States of America and the SPREP
better way of doing business, Secretariat under the Chairmanship of
increasing efficiently, impact and Tokelau met in Apia on 25 — 26
value for money. He noted that there | November 2003 to discharge its
was a need to agree on a clear mandate and its report will be
definition of the core functions of the | addressed at this meeting in a later
organization, allowing the agenda item.
organization to put these functions on
a more secure basis. Since this was
not the currently the case, the Director
suggested that a task force be
established to address this.
165 The Meeting The Secretariat has refined the
(2" bullet | o endorsed the Strategic Strategic Programmes taking into
point) Programmes and the related account the completion of the review
funding strategy as work-in- of the current Action Plan and the
progress for phased adoption of a new Draft Action Plan
implementation by the Secretariat | 2005 — 2009 by a regional workshop
beginning in 2004 and the related | of senior member officials (for
resourcing strategy for SPREP. discussion and adoption by this
» requested the Secretariat to meeting). The final draft of the
submit a final draft at the next Strategic Programmes is being tabled
Meeting. for adoption under a separate agenda
item of this meeting.
Item 8.1.3: 211 The Meeting A set of available scientific
Assessment of (first bullet | » mnoted that SPREP will coordinate | information on the interactions of
Interaction of Whales point) a comprehensive scientific whales and fisheries in the Pacific has

and Fisheries in the
Pacific

assessment of the interaction of
whales and fisheries in the South
pacific under its marine species
programme, and urged donors to
provide funding support for such
assessment.

e noted that SPREP will coordinate
a comprehensive scientific
assessment of the interaction of
whales and fisheries in the South
Pacific under its marine species
programme, and urged donors to
provide funding support for such
assessment

been compiled by the Secretariat in
response to this call and a request
from the Forum itself and is now
available upon request. A copy has
also been sent to the Forum in
response to its request.
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Agenda Topic Report Matters Arising Action Taken
Paragraph
Number
Item 8.4.1: 293 The Meeting An electronic network of experts now
Capacity Building, (3™and 4™ | « noted the findings of the review exists and draft programme of

Education and
Awareness Action
Strategy Review

bullet points)

process for the Action Strategy for
Environmental Education and
Training, 1999-2003 as highlighted
in paragraph 6;

o agreed on the need to focus on
implementation of the current goals
and outputs of the Action Strategy;

« endorsed the Secretariat’s
proposition to select an expert
group of environmental educators
to develop a draft programme of
implementation for the Strategy;

= agreed to identify and support at
the national level, an EEA Contact
Point that will be recognised as the
official SPREP liaison for EEA
related activities.

implementation circulated for
comment. Expert group has also been
used as core group from which WP
has selected involvement for social
marketing activities

PICTs have been requested to identify
EEA content points and responses are
being received.

Item 9.1: 367 The Meeting Staff Regulation 21(b) has now been
Staff regulations (2™ bullet | « approved the amendment to Staff | accordingly amended. And a
point) Regulation 21(b); and Secretariat proposed amendment in
« agreed that regulation 11(d) be respect to Staff Regulation 11(d)
amended and considered at the next | consistent with the SPREP Meeting
Meeting request is to be addressed under a
separate agenda item of this Meeting.
Recommendation
2. The Meeting is invited to:

> note the actions taken by the Secretariat on decisions taking by the 14™
SPREP Meeting.

27 June 2004
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials
Pape'ete, French Polynesia
13-16 September 2004

SPREP

Agenda Item 5: Presentation of Annual Report for 2003 and Director’s
Overview of Progress since the fourteenth SPREP Meeting

Agenda

1. To table SPREP’s Annual Report for the Year 2003 and to present an overview
of progress since the Fourteenth SPREP Meeting (Apia, Samoa, September 2003).

Timetable

2. Attached is the Annual Report for the Year 2003. The Director will verbally
present his overview, a copy of which will be distributed immediately following his
presentation. As well as providing an overview on progress, the Director’s presentation
is intended to alert Members to emerging issues and trends and to raise matters on
which the Director seeks further direction and advice.

Recommendation
3. The Meeting is invited to:
> discuss the issues raised by the Director in his Overview;

» provide advice and direction to the Secretariat; and
> endorse the Year 2003 Annual Report.

19 July 2004
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials
Pape’ete, French Polynesia
SPREP 13-16 September 2004

Agenda Item 5.2.1: Report on Members’ Contributions

Purpose of Paper

1. To report on the receipt of Members’ contributions in accordance with Financial
Regulation 13.

Background

Financial Regulation 13 requires the Director to submit to each SPREP Meeting a
report on the receipt of Members’ contributions. This report addresses Members’
contributions received during 2003. It also provides an update on the status of

Members’ contributions received in 2004, up to 15 July, and the unpaid balances of
contributions as at 15 July 2004.

Members’ Contributions received in 2003 and 2004 (to 15 J uly 2004)

3. Attached for members’ information is a statement, which shows the amounts
due from respective members as at 15 July 2004. Total contributions outstanding as at
15 July 2004 is USD$630,839, made up of USD$277,703 unpaid for 2003 and prior
years and USD$353,136 for 2004 contributions. '

4, As the table would indicate, a total of USD$760,614 was received by the

Secretariat in 2003 leaving a balance of contributions outstanding of USD$277,703 as
at 31 December 2003.

3, The contributions due for the year 2004, is $935,572 and so far this year, (as at
15 July 2004), the Secretariat has received US$582,436 in lieu of 2004 and prior years
outstanding contributions.
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Outstanding Contributions:
6. Other than members with minor adjusting balances, the following member
countries have unpaid balances as at 15 July 2004 for both 2004 and prior years
contributions:
Member Country :1('::3 ;::r conl:ic:au:tions Pg?}:‘;_t&m Bi‘;&‘:ﬁ:’s“al
liabilities payable
American Samoa (2,899) 10,184 - 7,285
FSM 3,638 10,184 - 13,823
Fiji 2,851 20,360 (10,793) 12418
French Polynesia 14,645 20,360 (25,742) 9,263
Nauru 107,682 10,184 - 117,867
New Caledonia 21,140 20,360 (26,665) 14,834
Niue (81) 10,184 10,104
Nth Marianas 16,743 10,184 - 26,928
Palau (1 10,184 - 10,184
Papua New Guinea (1) 20,360 B 20,359
Samoa () 20,360 - 20,.359
Solomon Islands 83,693 20,360 - 104,053
Tokelau 0 10,184 - 10,185
Tonga 0 10,184 - 10,184
Tuvalu 0 10,184 - 10,185
USA 0 186,787 - 186,787
Vanuatu 30,339 20,360 (13,523) 37,176
Wallis & Futuna 192 10,184 (1,562) 8,815
Recommendation

y The Meeting is invited to:

» consider the report and decide on how the substantial arrears problem is to

be addressed;

» note the status of unpaid membership contributions.

» commit itself to paying current and outstanding membership contributions
in full as soon as possible in 2004

19 July 2004
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials

Pape’ete, French Polynesia
13-16 September 2004

SPREP

Agenda Item 5.2.2: Audited Annual Accounts for 2002

Purpose of Paper

1 To present the Audited Annual Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2003.

Background

2. Financial Regulation 26(c) requires the Director to submit annual financial
statements to the SPREP Meeting, while Regulations 27-33 prescribes the manner in
which the financial statements are to be presented and audited. Financial Regulation 34
requires the Director to circulate to each SPREP Meeting, the Auditors Report on the

financial operations of SPREP, together with such remarks as the Director may wish to
offer, prior to the next SPREP Meeting.

3. The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2003 have been

prepared in accordance with the Financial Regulations and comprise the following
documents:

Audit Report

Balance Sheet

Income and Expenditure Statement
Statement of Cash Flows

Notes and Supporting Papers to the Accounts
Auditor’s Report to Management

VYVVVYYVY

Recommendation

4. The Meeting is invited to:

» review and adopt the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report.

19 July 2004
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Lesa ma Penn
Certified Public Accountants Lesama Penn Compound Telephone: (685) 20321
Fugalei Street by the Bridge (685) 20322
Fugalci Fax: (685)23722
PO Box 1599 (685) 21335
Apia, Samoa Email: lesapennid@samoa.ws

AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF THE
SOUTH PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME (SPREP)

We have audited the financial statements of SPREP as set out on pages 3 to 12, for the year
ended 31 December 2003. The financial statements provide information on the financial
performance of the organisation, and its financial position as at 31 December 2003.

Management Responsibilities
The Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the financial statements
that comply with generally accepted accounting practice, and that gives a true and fair view of

the financial position of SPREP as at 31 December 2003, and its financial performance and
cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Auditors Responsibilities

It is our responsibility to express an independent opinion of the financial statements presented
by Management, and to report our opinion to you.

Basis of Opinion

An audit includes examining on a test basis, evidence relevant to the amounts, and disclosures
in the financial statements. It also includes assessing:

* The significant estimates and judgements made by management in the preparation of the
financial statements; and

* Whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the organisation,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. We planned
and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations, which we
considered necessary to provide us with sufficient evidence, to give reasonable assurance that
the financial statements are free from material misstatements, whether caused by fraud or error.

In forming our opinion, we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of
information in the financial statements.
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Specific Reporting Requirements

In accordance with the specific audit reporting requirements of SPREP’s Financial Regulation
33 (a) to (f), we report as follows:

(a) Extent and character of examination is as explained in the section above under the
heading “Basis of Opinion”.

(b) Matters affecting the completeness and accuracy of the accounts, refer to our report to
management which is attached, titled Management report.

() The adequacy or otherwise of the supplies and equipment records as determined by
stocktaking and examination of the records. The fixed asset register has been

completed following the physical count of all SPREP’s assets carried out in May
2003.

(d) The adequacy of financial procedures of SPREP including internal control matters and
adherence to Financial Regulations. The Draft Financial Rules and Procedures
Manual (DFRPM) will be finalized, once the Joint Review Task Force report and the
revised Financial Regulation are adopted by the SPREP Meeting.

(e) Other matters, the matters raised in our report to management have been addressed.

As more fully described in Note 2 to the financial statements the Organisation has discontinued
charging depreciation of its property, plant and equipment as from 2003. This is a departure
from generally accepted accounting principles. The effect of the change in accounting policy is
a reduction in depreciation charge of $427,063 for the year ended 31 December 2003, which
has resulted in excess of funds over expenditure of $124,697. Management’s justification for
the change is firstly, to clearly present fund balances to match the fund accounting concept
used by the Secretariat and secondly to recognize the fact that to replace and maintain its assets
expenditure provisions are included in the annual budget.

Qualified Opinion

In our opinion, except for effects, if any, on the mater referred to in the preceding paragraph
and in the section on “specific” reporting requirements, under (b) the financial statements give
a true and fair view of the financial position of the South Pacific Regional Environment
Programme as of 31 December 2003, and of the results of its operations for the year then ended

in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and in accordance with the SPREP
Financial Regulations as amended.

Our audit was completed on 30 April 2004 and our qualified opinion is expressed as at that
date.

Lesa ma Penn
Apia, Samoa Certified Public Accountants



BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2003

4,545,380

8,090,355

2,255,990

2,859,720
8,090,355

2002

4,545,380

1,472,169
2,049,332

23474
3,544,975

52,867
448,558
4,591,313
67,092
5,159,830

70,805

70,805

603,730

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, Plant and Equipment
Total Non-Current Assets
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash at Bank and on Hand
Bank Term Deposits

Accounts Receivable

Total Current Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

REPRESENTED BY:
FUNDS AND RESERVES
Capital Fund

Reserve Fund

Capital Reserve

Exchange Variation Reserve

Total Funds and Reserves

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES

_ Deferred Income

Total Non-Current Liabilities

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Creditors and Accruals
Project Funds

Total Current Liabilities

TOTAL FUNDS, RESERVES AND LIABILITIES

158M/Officials/WP.5.2 2/An |

SOUTH PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

2003

4,566,029
4,566,029

449 349
3,324,734
109,368
3,883,451

8,449,480

52,867
448,558
4,591,313
583,374
5,686,112

70,805

70,805

797,927
1,894,636
2,692,563

8,449,480

Page 3

Notes

3

4
5
B

10

1

12
13

The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements, which
form an integral part of the Financial Statements.

q.

Asterio Takesy

Director



2002
Actual

706,374

228,773

79,910
8,149
§5,008

1,112,170

2,230,384

810,832

1,362,131

2,272,963

(42,579)

142,032

99,453

(99,453)

4,721,942

5,127,428

5,579,762

(405,486)

2,661,476

2,255,990

2,255,990

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003

INCOME

Members Funds

Administration Fees

Exchange Gain

Interest

Sale of Fixed Assets

Other Income

Donor Funds

TOTAL INCOME
EXPENDITURE

Project Management

Primary Function

TOTAL EXPENDITURE
EXCESS OF INCOME!/ (E XPENDITURE)
Transfer from Special Funds
Excess of funds over expenditure
Transfer (to) from Reserve Fund
Funds to be carried forward
PROJECT FUNDS

Funds received during the year
EXPENDITURE

Project Implementation

TOTAL EXPENDITURE

Excess of expenditure over funds received

Donor Funds brought forward from prior year
Project Funds at year end
Primary Function & Project Management Funds

TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED FORWARD

15SM/Officials/WP.5.2. 2/Att. 1
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2003
Actual

781,335
208,565
151,920
184,557

12,796
119,889

358,581

1,817,843

509,440

1.183.506

1,692,946

124,897

124,697

124 697

__ 5505405

5,991,456

5,991,456

(486,051)

2,255.990

1,769,939
124,697

1,894,636

Page 4

Notes

14

15/16

15/186

1518



15SM/Officials/WP.5.2 2/Att |

Cash at end of year

Page 5
SOUTH PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
2003 Notes

INFLOWS : $
Donor Funds 5,863,986
Members Contributions 781,335
Project Administration fees 208,565
Interest Receipts 125,214
Miscellaneous Receipts 271,809

7,250,909
OUTFLOWS :
Salaries and Related Costs (2,028,778)
Other Operating Expenses (4,943,631)

(6,972,409)
Net Cash Flows provided by Operating Activities 278,500

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

INFLOWS :
Proceeds from sale of Property, Plant & Equipment 12,796
OUTFLOWS :
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment (38.714)
Net Cash Flows used in Investing Activities (25,918)
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash Held 252,582
Cash at the beginning of the year 3,521,501 4&5
Cash and cash equivalents at year end 3,774,083
Represented By:
Cash on hand and at bank 449 349 4
Term Deposits 3.324,734 5

3,774,083
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SOUTH PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003

NOTE 1.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following summary of significant accounting policies is given in order to assist in
understanding the amounts presented in the financial statements.

(a) Accounting System

(i) The financial statements are prepared on the basis of historical costs and do
not take into account current valuation of non-current assets.

(i) The concepts of the accrual method and going concern basis of accounting
are applied.

(i) The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the accounting
standards and disclosure requirements of the International Accounting
Standards, except where stated otherwise.

(iv) All amounts shown in the financial statements are expressed in US dollars.

(b) Fund Accounting

The Secretariat has adopted a fund accounting system, as a considerable part of its
annual fund, comprises of aid funds for specified projects.

The identification of funds is maintained throughout the accounting system thus providing

the control necessary to ensure that each fund is used only for the purpose, which it is
received,

(c) Depreciation
Fixed Assets are not being depreciated as from 2003 as reflected in Note 2.
(d) Comparative Figures

Where necessary figures have been adjusted to conform to the changes in presentation in
the current financial year.

(e) Foreign Currency Transactions

All foreign currency transactions during 2003 have been brought to account using the
bank exchange rate in effect at the date of the transaction. Realised exchange
gain/losses on term deposits matured during the year have been taken to the statement of
income and expenditure, Foreign currency monetary items at balance date are translated
at the closing exchange rate existing at that date.

Unrealised exchange gains and losses, arising on translation of monetary items at balance
sheet date are taken to the Exchange Variation Reserve to accommodate future losses or
gains due to fluctuation of rates in the foreign currency market. The increase in the
exchange variation reserve in the 2003-year was due to the strengthening of various
currencies used for operations against the United States currency.



1 5SM/Officials’WP.5.2.2/An.|

Page 7
SOUTH PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003

NOTE 2.

(f) Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognised in the accounts using the cash basis concept of accounting except
for interest income. Expenditure is accounted for on an accrual basis.

(g) Donor Funds

Donations from Aid Agencies are usually for specified purposes. These funds are
separately identified in the accounting system and expenditure recorded against each
fund. Donor Funds, which are applied to capital items, are brought into account as assets
at the completion of projects and are valued at their carrying costs.

(h) Commitment Accounting

The Secretariat operates a system of commitment accounting for its non-salary

expenditure. Expenditure is recognised when purchase orders are placed and charged
against the appropriate code.

(i) Apportioning of Expenses

Consistent with the financial regulations adopted at the Fifth Intergovernmental Meeting in
Apia in September 1992 and further amended at the Tenth SPREP Meeting in Apia in
September 1998, expenses will be apportioned amongst the categories of "Primary

Function,” “Project Management” and “Project Implementation”. Apportionment was
based on the following criteria:

- Costs that can be directly traced to Primary Function have been charged to Primary
Function.

= Costs that can be directly charged to Project Management have been charged to
Project Management.

- Costs that can be directly charged to Project Implementation have been charged to
Project Implementation.

- Costs that are common between Primary Function, Project Management, and Project
Implementation have been allocated between the Primary Function, Project

Management and Project Implementation on the basis of cost drivers developed by
the SPREP Secretariat.

() Donor Funded Assets

Assets acquired by individual projects during the year are not included in SPREP's
balance sheet as the ownership of these assets remains with the donor. The treatment at
this level is to expense these assets in the Income Statement as the disbursement is
incurred. At the completion of these projects, donors generally donate these assets to

SPREP, at which time the assets will be included on the Balance Sheet at its carrying
value.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

The Secretariat has decided to discontinue charging depreciation from 2003 of its fixed
assets including buildings, plant and equipment. The Secretariat realises this change is a
departure from Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. However, this change in policy
is necessary to clearly present the financial information for the benefit of the SPREP
members and to match the Fund accounting concept adopted by the Secretariat
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Page 8

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003

The majority of the SPREP annual fund comprises of aid funds for specified projects and
programs. Accordingly, it is necessary to establish separate funds to record the amount
received, expenditure incurred and the net balance of the funds available to be carried
forward into the next financial period. The charging of depreciation distorts the actual fund

balances at year end.

To replace and maintain its assets, the Secretariat makes from time to time, provisions for
these expenditure in its budgets, for financing from its members or other donors for

approval by its governing body.

The information of the effect of the change in accounting policy is detailed below:

RECONCILIATION OF DONOR FUNDS WITH AVAILABLE NET CASH

Accumulated Depreciation

481,562
Net project balances (note 12) 1,894,636
Add Project in debit 252,337
PROJECT FUNDS 2,628,535
Reserve Fund 448 558
Creditors and Accruals 103.616 552,174
3,180,709
Represented by:
Bank Balances 3,774,083
Less exchange reserve 593,374 3,180,709
0
NOTE 3: NON-CURRENT ASSETS - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
wbv Cost/Valuation Accumulated Depreciation wov [

31-Dec-02| Description 31-Dec-02| Addtn | Disp'l |31-Dec-03| |1-Jan-03| Depn | Adjts | Disp'l |31-Dec-03//31-Dec-03
4,006,443 Property at cost 4,269,510 4,269,510 |(263.067) (263,067 )| 4.006.443|
IComputer Equip at
63,680Cost 104,238 10,992 115,231] | (40,559) (40,559) 74,672
400,247 Equipment at cost| 468,888 6,668 475,556 | (68.641) (68,641 406,915
28,510 Fumiture at cost 121,514 3,534 125,048 | (93,004) (93.004)| 32.044
Motor Vehicles al
46.500{ Cost 62,791  17.520{(18,065) 62,246 | (16,291) (16,291 45,655
4,545,380 | Total 5,026,942 38,714(18,065)| 5,047,591 |(481,562) ) (481,562) 4,566,029

For the purposes of disclosing comparative information as at 31% December 2003, certain assets in the
financial statements have been reclassified for the financial year ending 31* December 2002, without

affecting the net value of fixed assets for the Secretariat at that date.

Fixed assets are not being depreciated in 2003 because of change in accounting policy as in Note2.
Assets are shown at the balance sheet date at their written down value at 31 December 2002. Assets

purchased during the year are recorded at their historical value.
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SOUTH PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003
2002 2003
NOTE 4: CASH AT BANK AND ON HAND
Local Currency
34,812 ANZ - SAT Account (2,112)
76,252 WBC - SPBCP/GEF SAT Account
4,352 WBC - Int Waters SAT Account (16,768)
6,688 WBC - EU PEIN SAT Account 23,175
205 Petty Cash 177
122,309 4472
Foreign Currency
16,352 ANZ - USD Account 2,980
15,330 ANZ - AUD Account 22337
52,858 ANZ-NZD Account 49 342
813,183 WBC - USD Account 111.814
142,858 WBC - Int Waters USD Account 210,790
201,534 WBC - SPBCP/GEF USD Account
60,525 WBC - Int Maritime Org Account 9,730
27,688 WBC - NZD Call Account 37,884
14,580 WBC - Call Account
4,851 WBC - Headquarters Account
1,349,860 444 877
1,472,169  Closing Balance as at 31 December 2003 449,349
NOTE 5: BANK TERM DEPOSITS
Local Currency
1,019,285 WBC - SAT Account 986,006
SCB - SAT Account 716,793
NBS - SAT Account 177,750
1,019,295 1,880,549
Foreign Currency
492223 WBC - AUD Account 714,537
537,814 WBC - NZD Account 729,648
1,030,037 1,444 185
2,049,332 Closing Balance as at 31 December 2003 3,324,734
NOTE 6: ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
1,239 Debtors 902
108 Staff Accounts 406
1,917 Other 7,670
20,210 Accrued Interest 59,343
Withholding tax 11,533
Interbank 11,010
Prepayments 18,504
23,474 Closing Balance as at 31 December 2003

109,368
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SOUTH PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003

2002 2003
NOTE 7: CAPITAL FUND
52,867 Opening Balance 52,867
- Add/Less: Movements during the year -
52,867 Closing Balance as at 31 December 2003 52,867
NOTE 8: RESERVE FUND
349,105 Opening balance as at 1 January 2003 448,558
99,453  Add: Net Surplus/(Deficit) for the year
448,558 Closing balance as at 31 December 2003 448,558
NOTE 9: CAPITAL RESERVE
Capital Reserve is represented by the following capital donations:
1,870,480 SPREP Complex by Donor Governments 1,870,480
2,370,833 Training and Education Centre Project by Japan 2,370,833
350,000  Information Resource Centre by European Union 350.000
4,591,313 Closing Balance as at 31 December 2003 4,591,313
NOTE 10: EXCHANGE VARIATION RESERVE
76,854  Opening Balance as at 1 January 2003 67,092
(9,762) Plus: Exchange difference arising from translation 526,282
67,092 Closing Balance as at 31 December 2003 593,374
NOTE 11: DEFERRED INCOME LIABILITY
88,506 Represents Deferred Income on Assets acquired through Donor Funds 70,805
(17,701)  Less: Accumulated Amortisation -
70,805 Closing Balance as at 31 December 2003 70,805
NOTE 12: CREDITORS AND ACCRUALS
135,200 Provision for Leave Entitlement 143,606
104,995 Provision for Repatriation 149,614
270,600 Trade Creditors 426,707
562  Payroll Creditors 2,799
92,373  Other Creditors and Accruals 75,201

603,730 Closing Balance as at 31 December 2003

797,927
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SOUTH PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003
NOTE 13: PROJECT FUNDS
Balance Balance
Details 1-Jan-03 Income Expenses | Transfers | 31-Dec-03

Asian Development Bank 18,579 14,850 (36,136) B (2,707)
AusAlD XB 92,131 532,215 (374,627) - 249,719
AusAID XXB (23,468) 291,586 (70,502) - 197,616
BioNet 47,821 109 (29,264) 18,666
People's Republic of China 3,545 0 (16,405) - (12,860)
Canadian International Dev Ass 112,396 504,447 (248,602) - 368,240
Commonwealth Secretariat 12,017 0 (66) - 11,951
Canada South Pacific Ocean Dev Pro 70,841 286,640 (302,068) - 55,413
Government of Denmark 79,737 8,887 (10,033) - 78,591
Department of International Dev 52,866 1,809 (146,740) - (92,085)
European Union 1,370 69,935 (122,780) - (51,475)
UN Economic & Social Commission for Asia 0 65,916 (62,705) - 3,211
Government of France 54,622 63,640 (71,972) - 46,290
GEO Schutzt Den Regenwald e.V 0 69,500 (5,523) - 63,977
International Maritime Organisation 50,688 24,157 (82,108) (7,263)
Government of Japan 60,519 6,256 (42,307) 24,468
Multiple Donors 150,477 282,200 (265,825) 166,852
Netherlands Red Cross Society 0 7,746 0 7,746
US National Oceanic Atmospheric Admin 46,614 49,990 (20,941) - 75,663
NZ Aid PIE 300,013 52,002 (219,908) 132,107
NZ Aid XB 48,993 310,842 (317,928) 41,907
Pacific Development & Conservation Trust 0 8,590 (8,791) (201)
Other Aid Funds (56,270) 162,513 (190,559) (84,316)
Primary Function 1,817,643 | (1,692,946) 124,697
UN Convention to Combat Deser. 16,481 87 (14,975) 1,593
United Nations Development Program 310,815 2,187,593 | (2,470,269) 28,139
United Nations Environment Program 506,276 375,595 (705,548) 176,323
UN Educational Scientific & Cultural Org 3,531 0 (3,415) 116
Government of the United Kingdom 17,053 14,041 (3,495) 27,599
United Nations Tech Co-Op Activities 0 50,000 (4,631) 45,369
US Dept of Energy 12,898 75,103 (38,885) 49,117
US Dept of Energy/Los Alamos 142,806 (19,437) (93,584) 29,785
US Fish & Wildlife Service 131,169 63 (9,414) 121,818
University of United Nations (6,761) 6,761 0 0
Wetlands International (1,769) 1,769 0 0
Westemn Pacific Regional Fisheries Mgt 0 0 (1,450) (1,450)
Total 2,255,990 | 7,323,048 | (7,684,402) 1,894,636
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SOUTH PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003
2002 2003
NOTE 14: OTHER INCOME
2,249 Insurance Recovery 1,808
7,710  Publications Sale 1,530
55,403 Additional Assistance from USA
3,845 Rental Income 21,980
8,100 Miscellaneous 26,879
17,701 Deferred Income on Amortisation -
Commission 15,840
Travel Recoveries 51.752
95,008 Total 119,889
NOTE 15: EXPENDITURE SUMMARY
Personnel Operating
Costs Costs Total
5,127,428 Project Implementation 1,430,310 4,561,146 5,991,456
910,832 Project Management 307,755 201,885 509,440
1.362,131 Primary Function 633,793 549,713 1,183,506
7,400,391 Total 2,371,858 5,312,544 7,684,402
NOTE 16: ANNALYSIS BY FUNCTION
31-Dec-02 Income/ | Expenses Surplus/ | Transfers Balance
Description Receipts (Deficit) 31-Dec-03
Project Implementation 2,056,869 5,505,405 | (5,991,456) | (486,051} 145 121 1,769.939
Project Management 199,121 219,803 (509,440) | (289,637) | (1491241} (289,637)
Primary Function 0 1,597,840 | (1,183,506) | 414 334 414,334
2,255,990 | 7,323,048 | (7,684,402) | (361,354) 0 1,894,636

NOTE 17: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Secretariat has no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2003,

NOTE 18:

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Secretariat has no commitments with respect to capital expenditure.
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SOUTH PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME (SPREP)
REPORT TO MANAGEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003

ATTACHMENT
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SOUTH PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME
MATTERS TO BE REPORTED TO CLIENT
31 DECEMBER 2003
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Lesa ma Penn
Certified Public Accountants Leszma Penn Compound Telephone: (685) 20321
Fugalei Street by the Brnidge (685) 20322
Fugalel Fax (685)23722
PO Box 1599 (685) 21335
Apia. Samoa Email lesapennasamos ws

8 June 2004

The Director

South Pacific Regional Environment Programme (SPREP)
PO Box 240

Vailima
APIA

Dear Sir,

MANAGEMENT LETTER REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003

During the course of our audit of SPREP's accounting records for the year ended 31 December

2003, we examined certain aspects of the Organisation’s system of internal controls and
accounting procedures.

Accompanying this letter are the matters noted during our audit examination, together with our
recommendations, which were communicated to you on 30 April 2004.

We have included in the report, Management comments as communicated to us per your letter of
15 June 2004,

We are pleased to note that the issues raised in our prior year report have been addressed.
However, we wish to draw your attention to the following matters, which we believe requires
immediate action by Management.

1. INFORMATION SYSTEM - ACCPAC

During the course of our audit we have noted that the cash book system used by the Finance
Section appears to be breaking down periodically. The current practice is that when the cashbook
crashes, the Finance Section liaises with the Information Communication and Technology (ICT)
section to try and resolve the problem. If the ICT section can not resolve the problem, an email is
sent to Orchid Business System explaining the problem and requesting assistance. In turn, Orchid

Business System replies with possible solutions to the problem, this process of exchanging emails
continues until the problem is resolved.

In July 2003, the cashbook was down for four (4) weeks and was not fixed until August 2003, In
trying to solve this problem, the ICT section of SPREP used their backup files to restore the
information. However on the retrieval of the backup files, they were found to be corrupted and
could not be used. Thus, the Finance Section had to repost all their information from May. Then in
September 2003 the cashbook went down again for ten (10) weeks and the Finance Section had to
repost from the months of October to December 2003 to update their information.
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As a result of the continuous breakdown in the cashbook system, the Finance Section has been
faced with a number of problems:

e Delay in posting — with the delay in posting, information is not up to date for reporting
requirements and for daily decision making,
Time consuming — relating to the process of re-entering lost and new information

* Costs — costs involved is overtime of Finance staff and fees charged by the Orchid
Business Systems in Australia for assistance given in solving the problem.

e Time lapse — the timeframe between when the error was discovered and when 1t 1s fixed
takes more than one week.

e Unrehable backup files.

Recommendation

We recommend that Management should seriously consider an accounting system which can be
relied upon and support services is available on island. Additionally the Finance section should
keep a log book of all the problems that occur with their cashbook during the vear so that they are
able to keep track of the type of problems occurring and the timeframe that it takes before they are
able to fix it. Management should also consider recruiting personnel with accounting and
information, communication and technology background to assist the Finance section.
Furthermore, the [CT section should carry out regular checks on their backup files so when the
time comes for it to be used, they are rehiable and in good working condition.

Management should consider software packages with on island support services to minimize
delays and duplication of processing.

Client Comment
The observation is shared and appreciated and Management would be soliciting professional
help to evaluate the current system and alternatives. We would like to proceed with caution

because from experience, various accounting computer systems have their strengths and their
difficulties and most likely none is free of problems.

Finance has kept a file of the types of problems occurring with the accounting system and will

monitor the timeframe before the problems are fixed. In addition the IT will keep a logbook of
all problems with the accounting system.

2, BANK RECONCILIATIONS — LONG OUTSTANDING ITEMS

Review of the Organisation’s USD main working account bank reconciliation showed the

following items carried forward from 2001 and 2002, which have not been cleared at 31 December
2003.

USD Bank Account: Credits in bank statement not in cashbook

Date Details Amount

5/11/02 OBO 0068 TT02/0068 361.46
2/4/02 OBO 0224 TT31/1 542.00
25/7102 Transfer Credit TT 25/27 10,875.00
24/12/02 PA2002/707 — payment authority posted as a credit 594.00

20/5/03 Foreign Exchange FX223 3,832.30
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BANK RECONCILIATIONS - LONG OUTSTANDING ITEMS (cont’d)
ANZ SAT Bank Account: Credits in bank statement not in cashbook
2001 FN120601D 1,443.56
2001 ANZ2001/155 1.164.97
2001 ANZ2001/156 100.00

These credits have not been taken up in the cashbook as the Finance section has been unable to
identify the nature of these credits. Follow up on these items with the respective banks has not
been done which has resulted in these items not being cleared to date.

Recommendation

We recommend that Management should take up this matter in writing with the respective banks
to ensure these items are resolved immediately. Furthermore, Finance section should carry out
regular follow up in writing with the banks on matters of this nature for timely clearance in
reconciling the bank accounts. Serious consideration be given to reflecting the above amounts in
the financial records under miscellaneous income in the Primary Function. This will ensure all
funds are properly reflected in the accounting records.

Client Comment

The above matter has been regularly followed up in writing with the banks but unfortunately the
banks have not been able to provide sufficient details to help us identify the sources and their
purposes. We have now put these funds into miscellaneous income for the financial year 2004.

It must be appreciated that the matters dealt with in this report came to our notice during the
conduct of our normal audit procedures, which were designed primarily with a view to the
expression of our opinion on the financial statements of the organisation. Our comments therefore

cannot be expected to include all possible improvement in internal control, which a more extensive
special examination might develop.

We would like to take this opportunity to express our appreciation to Management and staff for the
cooperation and assistance rendered to us during the course of our work.

Yours faithfully
Lesa ma Penn

Matataualiitia A Lesa
Partner
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials
Pape'ete, French Polynesia
SPREP 13-16 September 2004

Agenda Item 6: SPREP Action Plan 2005-2009

Purpose of Paper

1. To table the draft SPREP Action Plan for Managing the Environment of the
Pacific Islands Region for the period 2005-2009 for consideration and recommendation
to the Environment Ministers for endorsement.

Background

Z: It was the launch of the first Action Plan for Managing the Environment of the
South Pacific region in 1982 that also launched SPREP into the regional scene as an
autonomous programme of SPC and eventually in 1993 as an independent
intergovernmental regional organization for the environment.

3. Article 2 of the Agreement Establishing SPREP on “Purposes” provides that
“The purposes of SPREP are to promote cooperation in the South Pacific region and to
provide assistance in order to protect and improve its environment and to ensure
sustainable development for present and future generations”. The Agreement then goes
on to specify that “SPREP shall achieve these purposes through the Action Plan
adopted from time to time by the SPREP Meeting ...”.

4. The Action Plan can be characterised as the overarching policy statement of the
region in managing its environment. It is the chief guiding document identifying the
region’s overall vision for managing their shared environment and the agreed
environmental priorities from which Pacific island members, the Secretariat and
stakeholders would formulate their respective detailed plans and strategies to

implement the priorities of the Action Plan and realise its vision and achieve its
outcomes.

5. As the current Action Plan expires at the end of 2004, the Secretariat proposed
to the last SPREP Meeting, a process for reviewing the current Plan and the

development of a successor Action Plan for 2005-2009. The SPREP Meeting approved
the Secretariat’s proposal.
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6. In accordance with the agreed process, members conducted national and
community consultations to review the Action Plan for 2001-2004 and guidance to
develop a new Action Plan for 2005-2009. The findings from those consultations were
referred to the Secretariat through a standard form questionnaire as well as through
written and oral representations made to the Secretariat.

¥ The Secretariat also visited a representative cross section of island members for
bilateral consultations to complement the questionnaire review and national
consultation processes. In keeping with the request made at the 15" SPREP Meeting to
carry out this exercise efficiently, the Secretariat ensured that most trips for the Action
Plan exercise coincided with other related SPREP work. The SPREP website was also
used to post Action Plan documents and there was much use of electronic mail.

8. A regional workshop of senior environment and planning officials was held in
Apia on 7-8 June where all SPREP Members were invited to develop and finalise a
draft Action Plan for referral to and adoption by the 15" SPREP Meeting and
Environment Ministers Forum. The meeting chaired by Samoa also considered a

synthesis report containing the findings from the consultations and questionnaire
exercise.

. The outcome of the above workshop was the draft SPREP Action Plan 2005 —
2009 that is attached as Attachment 1.

Recommendation

10.  The Meeting is invited to:

e consider and endorse the draft SPREP Action Plan for Managing the
Environment of the Pacific Islands Region for 2005 — 2009 for referral to the
Environment Ministers’ Forum for approval.

28 June 2004
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PREFACE

This is the Action Plan of the South Pacific Regional Environment Programme for the
period 2005-2009.

The Action Plan is intended to represent the regional agenda for managing the
environment of the Pacific islands region. It embodies the vision of SPREP members
for the long-term management of our shared environment to achieve sustainable
development. It is the main planning document outlining the broad areas of focus and
priorities of the region. The SPREP’s Strategic Programme, the Annual Work
Programme and Budget should be read in conjunction with the Action Plan.

The 14™ SPREP Meeting acknowledged the central role of the Action Plan in setting
priorities and guiding the work of SPREP Members and the Secretariat. The Meeting
welcomed the review of the Action Plan 2001-2004 as well as the need to develop a
new Action Plan for the period 2005-2009. This Meeting also agreed on the process
to review and develop a new Action Plan. Members conducted national and
community consultations and reported the results to the Secretariat; consultation
between the Secretariat and the broad cross section of members agreed to at the 14™
SPREP Meeting as well as a regional workshop to which all SPREP members were
invited to examine and validate the findings of the review as well as the draft of a new
Action Plan for approval by the 15" SPREP Meeting.

The Action Plan was endorsed at the 15" SPREP Meeting in French Polynesia in
September 2004. SPREP members must take responsibility for implementing this

Action Plan for the benefit of the peoples of our region. I commend this Action Plan
to all SPREP members.

Chairperson-15™ SPREP Meeting



& B &

Preface....cccoooevuneennn...

. Introduction ..............

Operating Context.....................

Vision....oueveeeeeennnnn,

(F e ] |

CONTENTS

Focus Areas and Objectives ....

Cross Cutting ISSU€s .........ccooevevmnen.....

Means of Implementation .........

158M/Officials/WP.6/Att.1
Page 3

NN

vee 3-6
B—— )
p——— L



158M/Officials/WP.6/Att.1
Page 4

P INTRODUCTION
This is the Action Plan of the South Pacific Regional Environment Programme
(SPREP) for the period 2005-2009. This plan is owned by the membership of
SPREP and their Secretariat. The members of SPREP are: American Samoa,
Australia, Cook Islands, Federated States of Micronesia, Fiji, France, French
Polynesia, Guam, Kiribati, Marshall Islands, Nauru, New Caledonia, New Zealand,
Niue, Northern Mariana’s, Palau, Papua New Guinea, Samba, Solomon Islands,

Tokelau, Tonga, Tuvalu, the United States of America, Vanuatu and Wallis and
Futuna.

SPREP was established in 1993 as an intergovernmental organisation. Under the
Agreement Establishing SPREP, the purposes of SPREP are to promote co-
operation in the South Pacific Region and to provide assistance in order to protect
and improve its environment and to ensure sustainable development for present and
future generations. These purposes are to be achieved through an Action Plan
adopted from time to time by the SPREP Meeting setting the strategies and
objectives of SPREP. From these broad strategies and objectives, the Secretariat
will prepare its more detailed programme strategies and annual work programmes
and budget to support national, regional and global priorities and to assist members
and itself achieve the objectives of the Action Plan.

This Action Plan was endorsed at the 15" SPREP Meeting held in Tahiti,
September, 2004. The plan is intended to be the blueprint for members and the
Secretariat to guide their environmental management implementation work over the
Action Plan period as well as to be a useful tool for any person, organisation or

development agency involved or interested in the environment and natural resource
management in the Pacific islands region.

2. OPERATING CONTEXT

The Pacific island countries and territories of SPREP are characterized by extremes
in physical characteristics, remoteness, exposure and vulnerability. There are
approximately 7 million people speaking more than 2000 different languages,
living on small land masses dispersed over the large expanse of the Pacific Ocean.

Socio-economic pressures, natural and human induced hazards have exacerbated
the regions vulnerabilities. The region faces a limited range of resources,
dependence on imports, population growth and urbanization, threatened supplies of
water, high transaction costs, costly administration and infrastructure and limited
institutional capacities and domestic markets.
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There are high degrees of endemism and levels of biodiversity, but relatively small
numbers of species. Soils and land resources are limited in capacity and ability to
accommodate development pressures. The high risks of extinction of species and

degradation of ecological communities and land resources impinges on the quality
of life opportunities for communities.

In the context of the Action Plan, the following main high level instruments are of
particular relevance. Agenda 21,The Barbados Programme of Action for Small
Island Developing States 1994, National Assessments for the Review of the
Barbados Programme of Action 2003, The Johannesburg Plan of Implementation,
The Pacific Island 14 Type II Umbrella Partnership Initiatives, The WSSD Type 11
initiatives, Regional Synthesis for the Review of the Barbados Programme of
Action 2003, The Pacific Island Forum Leaders Decisions, The SPREP Meeting
Official and Ministerial Decisions, national sustainable development strategies and
Plans, Pacific submissions made to the conferences of the Parties of global
conventions and the Millenium Development Goals.

To deliver on SPREP’s mandate, this Action Plan will focus on environmental
priorities towards achieving sustainable development. This will facilitate better
partnering, coordination, efficient leveraging and use of financial resources and a
commitment to practical implementation.

3.  VISION

People of the Pacific islands better able to plan, protect, manage and use their
environment for sustainable development.

4. GOAL

To successfully achieve the outcomes of the focus areas and the cross cutting issues
in the Action Plan.

5.  FOCUS AREAS AND OUTCOMES

5.1 Natural Resources Management

The sustainable management of natural resources and conservation of the terrestrial,
coastal and marine ecosystems of the Pacific islands is an ongoing priority. This
includes the conservation of the terrestrial, coastal and marine biodiversity; protection
of priority threatened species and reducing the impact of alien invasive species and
living modified organisms as well as enhancing capacity to meet the challenges of
sustaining the ecosystems that support them. It also recognizes the links with effective
management of other resources such as land, water and non-living resources.
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As most land in the Pacific is communally held, the protection of critical biodiversity
and the sustainable management of resources requires the involvement of resource
owners and users. Lessons from the past fifty (50) years of protected area management
in the region reaffirm this approach. Future ways for delivering community-targeted
services will focus on capacity building and other catalytic measures where regional
approaches are more cost effective. Technical and legal advice, and direct
interventions will be provided in specific areas including the development of resource
management planning and programme implementation and ecosystems, access and
benefit sharing, traditional ecological knowledge and its protection, species and threat
management and monitoring. Interventions will be in response to specific country
requests, involving careful participatory planning and consultation, and for Parties to
the associated multilateral environmental agreements consistent with the priorities of
the relevant programmes of action.

Relevant Instruments

SPREP/RAMSAR MOU and Joint Work
National related legislation, plans, policies Plan
and assessment reports including the
National Biodiversity Strategic Action The Avifauna Conservation Strategy for
Plans the Pacific Region 2000
Regional Action Plan on Sustainable Water 1997 Strategic Action Programme for the
Management International Waters of the Pacific Small

_ . Island Developing States
Action Strategy for Nature Conservation

2003-2007 The Convention on Nature Conservation in

; " : the South Pacific Region (Apia)
Invasive Species Strategy for the Pacific

islands region 2000 Pacific Umbrella Partnership on
. . mainstreaming conservation and traditional
International Coral Reef Action Network knowledge

Pacific Programme (ICRAN)

Pacific Islands Framework for Action on

The Convention on Biological Diversity Conservation2000

(CBD)

Regional Action Plan 2003 — 2007 for

The Convention on the Conservation of Dugongs

Migratory Species (CMS)

) Regional Action Plan 2003 — 2007 for
Cartagena Protocol on the Biosafety Whales and Dolphins

Convention on International Trade in

Regional Action Plan 2003 - 2007 for
Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and

Marine Turtles
Flora (CITES)
) Pacific Islands Regional Ocean Policy and
World Heritage Convention Framework 2004

Convention on Wetlands of International

Global Programme of Action for protection
Importance (RAMSAR)

of the marine environment from land-based
The Wetlands Action Plan 1999 actvities
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OUTCOMES

¢ The sustainable management and conservation of terrestrial, marine
and coastal resources, ecosystems and species improved, through the
development of programs for sustainable development.
Significant reduction of the current rate of biodiversity loss by 2010.

Effective implementation of the ecosystem approach to natural
resource conservation.

5.2 POLLUTION PREVENTION

Pollution is one of the major threats to sustainable development in the Pacific
islands region. The trans-boundary nature of much marine pollution requires a
coordinated and comprehensive approach to both assessment and control. Without
adequate measures to combat the growing sources and extent of pollution, efforts to
maintain healthy societies, to stimulate development and new investment and a
sustainable future for its people may be significantly undermined.

Increasing quantities of solid waste, the lack of controls on chemicals imported into
the region, and the lack of capacity to manage the range of pollutants are of
immediate concern for Pacific island members. In addition to land-based activities,
the region’s coastal and marine resources are threatened by introduced marine

species, ship-wrecks, marine accidents and spills, ships waste and antifouling paints
on vessels.

Pollution prevention is something that needs to be addressed mainly at national and
local levels, although there are also regional and global aspects. Only a very few
Pacific island countries and territories have environment acts and associated
regulations and even fewer have laws and regulations dealing with specific aspects
of pollution such as waste management. Considerable progress has been made to
address waste management issues although much work remains to be done to turn
these into active programmes that can achieve on-the-ground results. A related
issue is often the lack of any clear and unified approach within the government

systems, with responsibilities being spread across a number of diverse and
sometimes competing agencies.



Relevant Instruments

National related legislation, plans, policies
and assessment reports

Convention for the Protection of the Natural
Resources and Environment of the South
Pacific Region and Related Protocols, 1986
and its Dumping and Pollution Emergency
Protocols

Convention to Ban the Importation into
Forum Island Waste and to Control the
Transboundary Movement of Hazardous
Waste within the South Pacific Region 1995

Convention on the Prevention of Marine

Pollution by Dumping of Wastes and Other
Matter, 1972

Basel Convention on the Control of
Transboundary Movements of Hazardous
Wastes and their Disposal, 1989
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International Convention for the Prevention
of Pollution from Ships, 1973 as amended by
the Protocol of 1978 relating thereto
(MARPOL)

The Rotterdam Convention on the Prior
Informed Consent Procedure for Certain
Hazardous Chemicals and Pesticides in
International Trade, 1998

Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic
Pollutants, 2001

The Strategic Action Programme for
International Waters

Strategy and Workplan of the Pacific Ocean
Pollution Prevention Programme

SPREP Pollution prevention: a 5-year
strategy, 2004-2008

OUTCOMES

¢ [Effective management of pollution due to waste and other land based
human activities through the implementation of appropriate systems
for waste disposal and treatment.

e PICT capabilities to manage and respond to terrestrial, atmospheric,
marine pollution, hazardous waste, solid waste, sewerage and other
land-based sources of pollution enhanced.

e Maximized reuse, recycling and reduced waste generation.

5.3 CLIMATE CHANGE, CLIMATE VARIABILITY AND

SEA LEVEL RISE

Among the greatest challenges in the 21% century are the known and potential
impacts of climate change and extreme weather events. While the international
community has initiated steps to stabilize greenhouse gases in the atmosphere
under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC)
and its Kyoto Protocol, progress has been slow.
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SPREP members have identified five main areas of work:-

First, Pacific islands urgently need to adapt to the known and potential
impacts of climate change, climate variability and sea level rise and adopt
concrete adaptation measures. The development and dissemination of
alternative energy technologies with the aim of giving a greater share of the
energy mix to renewable energies, improving energy efficiency and greater
reliance on advanced energy technologies is essential to mitigation.
Coordination and assistance is needed to assess and implement feasible
options and access funds for the implementation of activities.

Second, meteorological and climatological capacities of PICTs need to be

developed and strengthened to plan and respond to climate variability and
extreme weather events.

Third, more research needs to be undertaken to understand climate variability,
climate change and sea level rise through information, modeling and

clearinghouse mechanisms. Such research needs to identify and assess
vulnerabilities as well as impacts.

Fourth, technical/legal advisory services need to be provided to assist Pacific
Island Parties implement the UNFCCC and to ensure consistency with other
international processes such as the WSSD Type II initiatives and BPoA+10.

As well linkages need to be made with the CBD and related instruments such
as the Convention on Desertification.

Fifth concrete measures need to be taken to eliminate ozone depleting
substances through the timely implementation of the Regional Strategy for the
Implementation of the Montreal Protocol in Pacific island countries.

Relevant Instruments

National related legislation, plans, policies
and assessment reports.

United Nations Framework Convention on
Climate Change

The Kyoto Protocol to the United Nations
Convention on Climate Change

The Pacific Island Framework on Climate

Change, Climate Variability and Sea Level
Rise

Strategic Action Plan for the Development of
Meteorology in the Pacific Islands Region

Pacific Island Global Climate Observing
System (PI-GCOS) Action Plan 2003-2008

Pacific Islands Global Climate Observing
System Implementation Plan (2002-2008)

Vienna Convention for the Protection of the
Ozone Layer, 1985

Montreal Protocol on Substances that
Deplete the Ozone Layer, 1987

London, Copenhagen, Montreal and Beijing,
Amendments to the Montreal Protocol, 1990

The Third Assessment of the
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change

Pacific islands Energy Policy and Plan

Pacific Umbrella Partnership Initiative on
Adaptation.



15SM/Officials/WP.6/Att.1
Page 10

OUTCOMES

e PICTs responses to the known and potential impacts of climate
change enhanced through the implementation of adaptation
measures.

e Alternative energy technologies and systems that are adequate,
affordable, efficient and environmentally sound, in particular
renewable energy resources, developed and used.

e Meteorological and climatological capacities of PICTs developed and
enhanced.

e Improved accuracy of information, modeling and clearing house
mechanisms on the effects of climate change.

e CFCs in PICTs banned by 2005

6. CROSS CUTTING ISSUES
The following cross-cutting areas of action are also addressed under this Action

Plan to develop further the capacity of our Members to manage their environment
in a sustainable manner.

6.1 INTEGRATED POLICY, PLANNING AND PARTNERSHIPS
Integrated policy, planning and delivery mechanisms are needed to implement
sustainable development objectives by ensuring coordination at various levels of
government including integrated community planning. These systems should
encourage development that takes into consideration the short and long-term effects
on the natural resources base and environmental qualities. Integrated
environmental law, environmental planning and environmental impact assessment
is a priority as is the development of state of the environment monitoring systems at
the national level to act as a prioritizing tool to guide policy direction.

Improved National planning systems that integrate with environmental
management considerations, must me assisted by frameworks for coordination and
collaboration by stakeholders at the national and community levels.

Well coordinated regional advocacy across the Council of Regional Organisations
of the Pacific (CROP), to the international community, will assist countries in their
efforts to leverage resources and adopt mechanisms for better policy coordination
and integrated decision making. Partner coordination is essential to maximize on
combined efforts and resources wherever possible, and to reduce the pressure on
Countries to deal with numerous partners on an individual basis only.
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Improved partnering between governments, community and international
stakeholders can be facilitated through the development of the Pacific Type II
Umbrella Partnership/Initiatives and other such partnerships. Further to this there

are many benefits to be explored through effective Public-Private Partnerships at
the national level.

OUTCOMES

* National sustainable development strategies/frameworks developed
and implemented.

e Integrated planning and management mechanisms and tools for
sustainable development, enhanced.

e Collaboration and coordination, through national and regional
partnerships, improved.

6.2 ENVIRONMENT MONITORING AND REPORTING
The generation of base line data vital to effective decision making is very

important. Simple but systematic reporting systems must be developed and tailored
to suit key issues and indicators.

The range of tools available to PICTSs to enable sound environmental decision
making in the pursuit of sustainable development must be enhanced. Whilst
improved integrated planning processes are extremely important, so too are the
tools for identification of priorities and assessing relationships between sectors.
Capacity development in this regard must include development-assessment tools to
anticipate and address negative pressures, key risks and emerging threats, and to
seek out sustainable development opportunities. Tools for the promotion of
integrated assessment and environmental planning in a manner that mainstreams

environment as part of the development process must be developed and capacity
built, at the national level, for effective use.

OUTCOMES

* Means to monitor and report on environmental performance and
socio-economic pressures on the environment improved.

* Tools to improve the means to respond to pressures, emerging
threats and opportunities developed.

® Integrated assessments and planning processes accessible and
available.



15SM/Officials/WP.6/Att. 1
Page 12

6.3 MULTILATERAL ENVIRONMENT AGREEMENTS AND
PROCESSES

Many Pacific islands are Parties to a range of international environment related

agreements and processes. Pacific island countries and territories will focus on

implementation of these agreements through coordinated and synergetic approaches

and the building of technical and legal capacity to assist in implementation.

The need to support and promote the development and implementation of
appropriate policy, planning and regulatory frameworks of institutions is
consistently highlighted as a national and regional priority. There will be a focus
on local and institutional capacity building, legal, policy, practice and institutional
strengthening, policy and legislation, regulations, advocacy, negotiation support,
and mainstreaming the environment into national agendas.

OUTCOMES

e Improved capacity of PICTs to manage multilateral environmental
agreements and relevant regional mechanisms.
e PICTs capacity to meet the obligations under the Apia, SPREP,

Waigani and other multilateral environmental agreements
enhanced.

6.4 HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING
Increasing and improving training activities, and exchanging experiences between
PICTs is central to the successful implementation of this Action Plan. Most PICTs

need to strengthen the technical, institutional and human resources capabilities of
their nationals.

OUTCOME

e PICTs capacity to manage and develop its human resources
improved

6.5 PUBLIC AWARENESS & EDUCATION

Improving education and public awareness activities is central to the successful
implementation of this Action Plan, stressing the need to engage local communities.
Assistance will be sought for advocacy, awareness raising and education.

OUTCOME

¢ PICTs capacity to educate and raise awareness about environment
and sustainable development improved.
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6.6 KNOWLEDGE MANAGEMENT

Successful planning and implementation of environmental protection and
sustainable development programmes and interventions require adequate national
institutional and human capacities. A population that is well informed and aware
through effective communication, and access and use of appropriate technologies
and information dissemination systems, is critical to this.

There will be a focus on improving support to facilitate sustainable knowledge
management in PICTs, including sharing learning and best practice, tools and
guidelines, databases and directories, geographic information systems, information
dissemination, national and regional clearing houses for environmental information
and knowledge base of success stories.

OUTCOMES

¢ PICTs capacity to manage knowledge further developed and
strengthened.

* Relevant national and regional clearinghouse mechanisms and
environmental databases are established, integrated and improved.

7. MEANS FOR IMPLEMENTATION
7.1  SPREP Strategic Programme

The 14™ SPREP Meeting in 2003 endorsed the Secretariat’s move to a programme-
based approach in its operations. The Strategic Programme outlines the Secretariats
long term programme of work to address the focus areas and priorities set by the
members in the Action Plan. The Strategic Programme is a living document and as
such will be reviewed and amended as necessary from time to time and particularly
following the five year review of the current Action Plan. Annual Work
Programme for the Secretariat will be developed on the basis of the ten year
Strategic Programme and the Action Plan.

7.2  Country Profiles

The Action Plan is a synthesis of members’ environmental and sustainable
development priorities. Successful implementation depends on progress within
each member country and territory. To effectively measure progress over time,
SPREP members country and territory profiles will be developed. The profiles

provide a template for each member to indicate progress towards achieving the
outcomes of the Action Plan.
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7.3 Harmonized Approaches

This Action Plan highlights the importance of strengthening and broadening
national and regional coordination mechanisms and the links between the two, so
that multi-lateral institutions, donor/recipient countries and organisation activities
and efforts are complimentary and build on past efforts.

SPREP members are Party to many international agreements that set numerous
obligations and targets. The development of regional strategies, policies and plans
are a way to bring international targets and goals into a regional context. In this
regard a country profile against the SPREP Action Plan should, contribute
significantly to assisting with national and regional reporting to the CSD and
MEA’s. This country profile will reduce the reporting burden, and will increase
capacity for implementation, in particular at the national level. Regional reporting
will also assist from the donor perspective, as this profile will provide an overview
of where assistance is needed in the region and how that assistance will contribute
to internationally agreed targets and conventions.

7.4  Partnerships

Partnerships to collectively implement regional positions in the Pacific need to be
reflective of the unique governance systems in the region. In the Pacific region, the
groundwork has been started for improved partnerships and coordination through
the 14 Type Il Pacific Umbrella Partnership/Initiatives that were launched by
Pacific Leaders at the World Summit for Sustainable Development in 2002. These
partnerships aim to provide a platform for coordination of efforts, information,
resources and interests, in particular, amongst regional and international partners.
This coordination should lead to improved use and delivery of assistance to PICT's,
avoiding duplication, partner driven interest and promoting corporate knowledge
amongst all partners for long term sustainable and measurable support. At the
national level these partnerships should provide a clearer picture of which donors
and technical agencies involved in the region, offer the resources and technical
assistance needed to meet their national priorities. SPREP is facilitating the
implementation of 5 of these Type II Umbrella Partnership/Initiatives, in line with
the Action Plan, covering the areas of; Waste Management, Mainstreaming Nature
Conservation, Adaptation to Climate Change, Planning for Community Lifestyles
and Sustainable Capacity Building.

7.5 Intra-Member Cooperation

Cooperation among members to address common environmental issues is very
important. Shared experiences and collaboration between countries and other
relevant partners such as non-government organizations and the private sector is
encouraged to implement the Action Plan.
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7.6  Local Communities

The active involvement of local communities in the implementation of
environmental initiatives is essential, especially given the customary resource
ownership, and tenure systems in the region. Whilst this is largely a national issue,
the Secretariat will facilitate the development of tools for community involvement,
such as planning tools, communication and awareness tools and shared experiences
of successful case studies of community driven projects around the region.

7.7  Sustainable Financing

To enable PICT’s and the Secretariat to implement actions addressing the priorities
and areas of focus identified in this Action Plan, adequate and accessible sources of
finance are necessary. Members, the Secretariat, donors and the international
community should work together to identify and facilitate access to the required
resources. The Secretariat will assist PICTs by developing and regularly updating a
general report identifying various sources of funds available from institutions such
as the GEF, private foundations and other non-traditional sources. In addition the
Secretariat will assist members in accessing funding for national implementation.

Cost effective regional initiatives that pool national resources to execute projects
will be promoted among members.

7.8  Monitoring and Reporting Mechanisms

Monitoring mechanisms to assess how countries and the Secretariat are performing
at the national, regional and international level are a focus of this Action Plan. This
will be achieved by the Secretariat reporting annually on achievements against its
annual work programme and budget at the SPREP meeting, and the continuous
update of SPREP country profiles. In addition to the Secretariat’s report and
members updates, reports from donor members on allocation of funding towards
the Action Plan on a bilateral and regional basis will be encouraged.
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials

Pape’ete, French Polynesia
SPREP 13-16 September 2004

Agenda Item 7.1: SPREP Strategic Programmes 2004 - 2013

Purpose of Paper

L, To table the final Draft Strategic Programmes document of the Secretariat for
consideration and approval by the Meeting.

Background

2. The first draft ten-year Strategic Programmes for the Secretariat was tabled at
the 14" SPREP Meeting after development by the Secretariat over the previous eight or
so months with the help of experts provided by Australia and New Zealand. The
SPREP Meeting enthusiastically supported the Draft Strategic Programmes and
endorsed it in principle for phased implementation from 2004. A final draft was to be
submitted to the 15" SPREP Meeting for final decision.

3 One of the main reasons for leaving the document in draft until the 15" SPREP
Meeting, was to await the review of the current and formulation of a new Action Plan
for Managing the Environment of the Pacific Islands Region. This is because the
Action Plan, as intended by the Leaders of the region and enshrined in the Agreement
Establishing SPREP (1993), embodies the vision of the SPREP members and
stakeholders for the long term management of their environment and identifies broad
priorities and key areas of the regional agenda. It is imperative to ensure that the Draft

Strategic Programmes help achieve the priorities and contribute to delivering the
outcomes of a new Action Plan for the Pacific islands region.

The Refined Strategic Programmes

4. The review of the current and drafting of a new Action Plan by the SPREP
members was completed in early June at a regional meeting and a final Draft Action
Plan is being proposed for consideration and adoption by the 15" SPREP Meeting
under agenda Item 6. Subsequent to the members meeting on the new Action Plan, the
Secretariat management and staff have reviewed its Draft Strategic Programmes to
ensure its alignment with the Action Plan priorities and outcomes. The resulting
refined Draft is contained in Attachment 1. Both the narrative text and attendant
logframes have undergone extensive review and improvement. As the draft Strategic
Programmes is intended to be a living document, it is envisaged that more

improvements would be made with actual implementation experience over the year(s)
ahead.
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5. As already approved by Management and in the Draft Strategic Programmes
from last year's SPREP Meeting, the Secretariat’s Strategic Programmes would then

replace the current Secretariat Corporate Plan, once these are approved by the 15
SPREP Meeting.

The Realigned Organisation Chart

6. At the 12™ SPREP Meeting (Apia, 10-14 Sept. 2001), with the adoption of the
current Corporate Plan, the Meeting also approved the Secretariat’s preferred
organization structure to implement that Corporate Plan. It was to be gradually phased
in with the degree of its implementation being subject to the availability of funding
(para 86, Record of 12SM). With the approved Strategic Programmes, the Secretariat
will move away from a Key Result Area (KRA) based organization to a two
programmes structure. It would be necessary to realign the 2001 approved organization
structure to reflect this development. The 15" SPREP Meeting is asked to consider and
endorse a realigned organization arrangement designed to effectively implement and
deliver on the approved Strategic Programmes. The realigned structure, as
recommended by the Secretariat, is annexed as Attachment 2.

Implications of the Realigned Structure

8 The proposed structure is confined to realigning existing approved (from 12SM)
positions to reflect the shift from KRA based operations to the two Programmes
arrangement. There is one exception, and this will be addressed in more detail below.
The Secretariat is proposing an additional Programme Manager to cater for the
demands from the two programmes approach.

8. The Secretariat will emphasise and recall here, that as with the SPREP Meeting
decision in 2001, the proposed realigned organization structure, if and when approved,
is to be progressively phased in to take into account existing employment contracts,
experience as the strategic programmes are being implemented and funding availability.

9. The most significant and obvious difference in the realignment from the existing
structure (apart from the rearrangement of staff) to two Strategic Programmes is the
redundancy of three senior positions of Coordinators for Natural Resources
Management, Economic Development and Processes, respectively. These positions are
currently filled through Acting arrangements because of the lack of funding to fill them
substantively. The other difference, as alluded to earlier, is the Secretariat’s
recommendation for an additional Programme Manager position so that each
Programme has a Manager.
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10.  The implications of the Secretariat’s proposal would be the need to secure
funding for an additional Programme Manager post.  This additional position will
combine with the existing manager post to provide the executive policy overview to
guide the two strategic programmes that are broad in scope and content. Even with this
addition however, the whole organization is reduced by a net of two senior positions
because of the resulting redundancy for three Coordinator positions as a consequence of
the move to strategic programming. With this recommended option, the scale is tipped

decisively in favour of programme delivery without disadvantaging the corporate
service.

Recommendation
11. The Meeting is invited to:

» consider and approve the second draft of the Secretariat Strategic
Programmes in Attachment 1 for immediate phased implementation; and

» consider and approve the realigned organization structure
contained in Attachment 2 for immediate phased implementation

as current employment contracts expire and as funding becomes
available

21 July 2004
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SPREP’s Strategic Programmes
2004 - 2013

Introduction

This document outlines the new programme-based approach that has been adopted for the
SPREP Secretariat. This new approach to regional delivery is both more innovative and
strategic than the project-based approach previously practiced. It provides clear,
measurable indicators of the progress and impact of the Secretariat’s work in the region.
This is an important element of the Secretariat’s efforts to encourage long-term
collaboration with existing and new partners.

Strategic management framework

SPREP achieves its purposes through an Action Plan that is adopted every 4 or S years by
the SPREP Meeting. The new Action Plan will run from 2005 to 2009. The Plan is a
framework for managing the environment of the Pacific islands region. It embodies the
vision of SPREP members and stakeholders for the long-term management of their
environment, identifying the broad priorities and focus areas of the regional agenda.

The 2005-2009 Action Plan identifies natural resources management, pollution prevention,
climate change, climate variability and sea level rise as priority environment focus areas
for the region in this period. The Action Plan also identifies implementation mechanisms
for priority attention, the issues of integrated policy, planning and partnerships;
environment monitoring and reporting; multilateral environment agreements (MEAs) and
processes; human resources development and training; public awareness and education
and knowledge management. Sustainable development is an overarching theme that
influences everything that SPREP does.

The SPREP Secretariat develops its Strategic Programmes and annual work programmes
from the Action Plan. The structure, roles and functions of the SPREP Secretariat are
determined by the mandate, priority needs and expectations of its members and partners,
and by the resources available to it to implement its programme of work.

SPREP’s Strategic Programmes 2004 — 2013 constitute the Secretariat’s strategic plan to
implement the priorities of the Action Plan, as periodically revised, in accordance with its
mandate and responsibilities. It sets out the Secretariat’s vision, focus and values. It also
describes the major strategic programmes, implementation mechanisms and business
functions that the Secretariat will pursue over the medium to long term to help address the
identified priorities of the region and the outcomes of the Action Plan.
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Fundamentals
SPREP’s mandate is:
to promote cooperation in the Pacific islands region and to provide assistance in

order to protect and improve the environment and to ensure sustainable
development for present and future generations.

For the Secretariat, this can be paraphrased into three elements:

promote and improve cooperation with and between member countries
provide assistance to protect the environment

provide assistance to ensure sustainable development.

SPREP's vision is that:

people of the Pacific islands are better able to plan, protect, manage and use their
environment for sustainable development.

In the pursuit of its mandate and vision, the Secretariat is committed to uphold these
values:

strengthening relations and collaboration with its members and partners;
achieving the highest standard of professionalism and integrity;

improving performance and impact through leadership and vision;
improving the development and management of its human resources;
enhancing the transparency of all its institutional policies and systems; and

a workplace which promotes equal opportunity based on merit and
performance.

SPREP’s unique focus is:

to sustain the integrity of the ecosystems of the Pacific islands region to support
life and livelihoods today and tomorrow.

Taken together, the mandate, vision, values and focus of SPREP distinguish SPREP’s role
and functions as the primary institution responsible for environmental affairs in the Pacific
islands recognizing that maintaining natural resource capital is essential for sustainable
development. The mandate and focus provide a long-term basis for setting key functional

goals, give a framework for the activities of SPREP and the performance indicators that
will measure its progress.

The programme approach

The SPREP Secretariat’s programme-based approach for its work is innovative and
strategic. The programme approach incorporates project-based operations into a broad
agenda with clear strategic goals. Distinguishing features of an effective programme are:
broadly encompassing

allowing progress towards the mandate to be demonstrated

long time span — up to 10 years

flexible and dynamic

component-based yet can be implemented as a whole

allowing linkages and encouraging partnerships.
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A programmatic approach will enhance flexible decision-making to respond to changing
circumstances, and promote stronger dialogue and interaction with partners. The

advantages of this approach are that it will improve sustainability, allow greater attention
to quality and increase impact.

The programmatic approach is based on broad goals that relate directly to the mandate and
the Action Plan. Phased implementation of programmatic components will be designed to
achieve the longer-term objectives and goal of the programmes. Outcomes from shorter-
term projects influence and contribute to the development of subsequent projects designed
to achieve the longer-term objectives.

Within a programme, a particular area of focus is expected to change over time, with
lower level outputs delivered and goals achieved as projects are completed. Projects have
finite time spans. They begin and end, and if successful accomplish a series of clearly
defined objectives contributing to an overall goal. The outputs of the projects form the

basis of identifiable indicators that verify the progress and impact of the immediate work
towards programme goals.

Each key operational programme has the following essential elements:
® anarrative summary;
e asummary logical framework; and
® astrategic framework.

The programmes provide direction for up to 10 years. However, they are flexible so that
they can accommodate changing needs, progress and developments as work proceeds.
This approach is not constrained by the shorter time frame or rigid conditions of the
project approach. It is deliberately designed to recognise and respond to new and emerging

demands from SPREP members in their pursuit of sustainable development of the Pacific
environment.

Each programme has an overall goal that addresses an aspect of the mandate. The goals
are reached through the delivery of outputs, each with a series of achievements that are
clearly measurable. To achieve the outputs, activities or projects are carried out to produce
tangible results with demonstrable impact. These day-to-day aspects of SPREP’s work are
presented in the annually approved work programme and budget, which reflects the
incremental efforts of the longer-term programmatic approach. This approach will provide
an easier and clearer way for SPREP stakeholders to measure impact.

Operational Programmes

Programme 1: Island Ecosystems

This Programme has the following goal:
Pacific islands countries and territories able to manage island resources and ocean
ecosystems in a sustainable manner and that support life and livelihoods.
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The Islands Ecosystems Programme focuses on sustainably managing and conserving the
terrestrial, coastal and marine ecosystems of Pacific islands. It will work to conserve
priority threatened species and to reduce the impact of alien, invasive species and living
modified organisms. The capacities of the peoples of the islands to meet the challenges of
sustaining the ecosystems that support them will be enhanced.

Programme 2: Pacific Futures
This Programme has the following goal:

Pacific island countries and territories able to plan and respond to threats and
pressures on island and ocean systems.

The Pacific Futures Programme will support member countries and territories with
sustainable development policies for improved environmental governance. The
Programme will improve the means to monitor and report on environmental performance
and socioeconomic pressures on the environment, as well as improve the understanding
and strengthen the capacity of Pacific islands to respond to climate change, climate
variability and sea level rise. Assisting and enhancing the island members’ capabilities to
manage and respond to marine pollution, hazardous waste, solid waste, sewerage and other
land-based sources of pollution will be essential components of the Programme, as will be
providing tools to improve the means to respond to pressures, emerging threats and
opportunities through integrated assessments and planning. The development of
partnership mechanisms that provide new and improved collaboration, coordination,
effective implementation as well as leveraging and use of resources will be another key
element of this Programme. Continued development, support and implementation of
integrated regional strategies for environmental management and sustainable development
will also feature in improving regional coordination.

Sustainable development - fundamental to SPREP’s Programmes

The three pillars of sustainable development are: biodiversity and the natural environment,
economic activity, and peoples, their cultures, traditions, social situations and welfare. As
well as involving these areas, all of SPREP’s activities contribute to, and are guided by,
the overarching objectives and principles that are necessary requirements to achieving
sustainable development:

e promoting an environment that alleviates poverty, changing unsustainable patterns
of production and consumption and protecting and managing the natural resource
base for economic and social development;

e promoting the long-term sustainable use and development of resources for
intergenerational equity;
promoting a transparent operating environment;

e promoting and using participatory community approaches in development
processes;
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* promoting equal opportunities for men and women and aim to benefit all,
particularly women, youth, children and vulnerable groups;

® promoting the appropriate transfer of technology and strengthening our
information clearinghouse role and functions to support SPREP members;

 collaborating with other regional and international organisations, member
countries, civil society, and the private sector, to strengthen efforts and develop
effective partnerships;

* assisting to further build national capacity by providing professional, competent

and timely policy and technical advice, institutional strengthening and human
resource development support.

The components and outputs of SPREP’s Strategic Programmes have also been desi gned
to accommodate the time-bound targets and objectives of the Johannesburg Plan of
Implementation (JPOI) and International Development Goals, including the Millennium
Development Goals (MDGs) that Pacific island leaders have already accepted.

Good governance is integral to all of SPREP’s work

Effective resource management and sustainable development require good governance. To
promote the principles of good governance, SPREP recognises three common elements
that support the more specific and technical aspects of project and programme work,
capacity building, institutional development and knowledge management.

Capacity building
Most Pacific islands are strengthening their technical, institutional and human resource
capabilities. SPREP contributes to the following elements of capacity building:
e advocacy, awareness raising and education;
training and human resource development;
technology transfer;
leveraging resources; and
knowledge bases.

Institutional development

The need to support and promote the development and implementation of appropriate
policy, planning and regulatory frameworks of institutions is a national and regional
priority. SPREP contributes to the following elements of institutional development:
institutional capacity building;

legal, policy, practice and institutional strengthening;

policy, legislation, regulations, advocacy and negotiation support; and
mainstreaming the environment into national agendas.
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Knowledge management

Successful planning and implementation of environmental protection and sustainable
development programmes and interventions require adequate national institutional and
human capacities. This needs a population that is well informed and aware through
effective communication and access and use of appropriate technologies and information
dissemination systems. SPREP contributes to the following elements of knowledge
management:

technical and legal support and skilled advisers;

sharing learning and best practice;

tools and guidelines;

databases and directories;

geographic information systems;

information dissemination;

regional clearing house for environmental information; and

knowledge base of what works.

Prioritising mechanisms

As a guiding principle, the Agreement Establishing SPREP (1993) requires both members
and the Secretariat to identify priority concerns and objectives for environment protection
and sustainable development through the Action Plan, adopted from time to time by the
SPREP Meeting. The Secretariat’s main criteria for setting priorities include:

direction of the SPREP Meeting;

consistency and alignment with SPREP’s mandate;

international and regional obligations;

alignment with national priorities;

extent of threat to ecosystems or species;

regional consensus for action; and

contribution to principles of good governance.

The scale and scope of these issues affirm the need for a long-term approach.

Partnership

Sustainable development in the Pacific depends on the work of many institutions and
individuals at international, regional, national and community levels. SPREP works with
partners at all these levels, often serving as a mechanism to link them. SPREP undertakes
some activities independently. It coordinates and collaborates with other agencies and
partners with an interest in the region to assist Pacific islands to protect and improve their
environment, and to ensure sustainable development. By working with and through its

partners, SPREP seeks to broaden and deepen its programmes and hence maximize its
impact.
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To implement its programme of work, SPREP collaborates with governments and
administrations that are members of SPREP, in conjunction with the many organisations
and individuals active in the protection of the environment and natural resources of the
Pacific islands region. Intra-member collaboration also contributes to achieving the
outputs of the Strategic Programmes. Key players include environment, planning and
development agencies in each country and territory, natural resource management
agencies, donors, community groups, local communities and resource owners, regional
and international organisations, and local non-governmental organisations. The 14 Pacific
Type 11 partnership initiatives released at the World Summit for Sustainable Development

(WSSD) will in part provide the regional mechanisms for improved partnering for
effective collaboration and coordination.

Corporate functions

SPREP recognises the need for effective and streamlined corporate services to support the
delivery of the Programmes. These services includes:

corporate policy and planning;

strategic leadership and managerial services;

donor and member relations;

financial services, management and reporting;
human resources management and development;
organisational performance and assessment;
infrastructure and asset management;

administrative services; and

information and communication technology services.

The Secretariat is directed by a group of executives who are responsible for the operation

and implementation of the many areas of corporate functions. Two areas stand out that
involve collaborative efforts from across the organisation.

Resourcing Strategy

SPREP receives resources from its members and primary donors, as well as direct funding
from other donors and international agencies. Both SPREP and its donors will develop
resourcing strategies that allow long-term commitment of funds, and the consequent

flexibility and confidence, improved quality of service and greater impact for members
and donors.

Performance Management

The Secretariat recognizes the need for effective performance management to ensure the
efficient delivery of its programmes and associated priorities and goals. The SPREP
Secretariat, through its management processes, will continually assess its progress against
performance indicators that are reflected in the logical framework. This approach will
allow clear, analytical reporting of performance against outputs and approved work
programmes. It will also enable SPREP to reflect the diversity in the region and the needs
of the members and other stakeholders. Such an approach allow SPREP to indicate the
programme outputs that have been achieved and the direction of continuing activities, thus
making SPREP more readily accountable to its members and its donors every year.
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Organisational structure

The SPREP Meeting has approved an organization chart that supports the implementation
of the Strategic Programmes.

Programme strategies

1. Island Ecosystems

Goal: Pacific islands countries and territories able to manage island resources

and ocean ecosystems in a sustainable manner and that support life and
livelihoods.

Programme rationale

SPREP’s direction in the Islands Ecosystems Programme reflects a fundamental
commitment to sustaining the livelihoods of Island peoples today and tomorrow by
supporting ecosystem management and species conservation. The Islands Ecosystems
programme focuses on developing the capacities of the peoples of the islands to equip
them to sustainably manage and conserve the terrestrial, coastal and marine
ecosystems of Pacific islands. The Programme also focuses efforts to protect priority
threatened species, and to protect Pacific island countries and territories (PICTs)
from invasive alien species and living modified organisms (LMOs). SPREP’s core
business under this programme is to address the issues of ecosystem conservation, the
sustainable management of natural resources and the protection of priority threatened
species from the threats of human-induced impacts, invasive species and living modified

organisms. These issues require action at the community, national, regional and
international levels.

For most PICTs, the protection of critical biodiversity and the sustainable management of
natural resources will inevitably involve local communities. Lessons from the past 50
years of protecting area management in the region reaffirm this approach. Building on this
experience, future ways for delivering community-targeted services will focus on capacity
building and other catalytic measures where the regional approach is more cost effective.
Technical and legal advice, and direct interventions, will be made in specific areas,
including the development of income-generating enterprises, resource management
planning, ecosystem, species and threat management and monitoring. Interventions will
respond to specific country requests, involving careful participatory planning and
consultation. For the parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD), the work
will be consistent with the priorities of National Biodiversity Strategic Action Plans.
Activities will also be undertaken within the framework of the Regional Action Strategy
for Nature Conservation and the roundtables mechanism.



DRAFT 15SM/Officials/WP.7.1/Att. 1
Page 9

Programme components

1.1 Terrestrial island ecosystems

Particularly among the high islands, important terrestrial ecosystems require continuing
support to secure representative areas under robust conservation arrangements, and to
promote sustainable use of resources by local communities. National efforts, and

subregional or regional collaborative initiatives, targeting key terrestrial island ecosystems
will be facilitated over the medium to long term.

1.2 Coastal and marine ecosystems

As the dominant ecosystem of most SPREP members, coastal and marine environments
will be the focus of considerable attention throughout the life of the plan. As a principal
support for life and livelihoods throughout the region, community-based initiatives will
continue to be the basis for much of SPREP’ programme in coastal and marine
ecosystems. Understanding social and economic driving factors in community decision
making in relation to resource use and conservation, and empowering local communities
through co-management of projects, will be critical elements of the Programme.

1.3. Species of special interest

The Pacific islands have a high proportion of species that are threatened with extinction,
including 14% of the region’s bird species — representing 24% of the world’s globally
threatened species. Loss of species not only increases the vulnerability of island
ecosystems to environmental disturbances but also impoverishes economies and cultures
that depend on them for food, medicine and in some cases, spiritual values. The major
threats to Pacific native species are invasive species, habitat loss or modification and over-
harvesting. This focus area aims to protect the region’s biodiversity against the threat of
invasive species and living modified organisms. It also aims to ensure the maintenance of

viable wild populations of species of special significance by identifying and addressing
their key threatening processes.

1.4 People and institutions

People and institutions, from the regional to the community level, are critical to the success
of every element of this SPREP’s Strategic Programmes. This component will provide an
integrated, long-term approach to strengthen island members’ capacities in these areas. The
potential to achieve all programme goals will be enhanced by mutually beneficial
partnerships with other multinational organisations, national institutions, non-government
organisations, community groups and the private sector.

SPREP provides assistance to the Pacific islands through a number of general
environmental management support mechanisms that cut across all technical areas.
However, there are a number of very specific issues to develop essential capacities in the
Pacific islands. These include the ability of Pacific islands to deal with national
environmental legal frameworks, developing knowledge and information capacity,
environmental education and awareness, and building capacity within countries to develop
human resources and training.
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2 Pacific Futures

Goal: Pacific island countries and territories able to plan and respond to
threats and pressures on island and ocean systems.

Programme rationale

This Programme focuses on securing a healthy Pacific islands environment for present and
future generations. Themes for the Programme include good governance - through
building institutional capacity for assessment and priority setting, planning responses and
the ability to monitor and anticipate the impact of pressures, and emerging threats to
Pacific islands. In the medium term, threats and pressures include climate change, climate
variability, sea-level rise, pollution and waste.

The Regional Action Strategy for Nature Conservation and the Pacific Islands Regional
Framework on Climate Change both identify the need to mainstream biodiversity,
conservation and climate change adaptation, and this approach is incorporated in the
Pacific Futures Programme. Interventions will include support for the inclusion of
biodiversity priorities and plans in national sustainable development strategies, through

partnerships such as the Roundtable for Nature Conservation and by integrated policies
and planning.

Programme Components

2.1 Managing multilateral environmental agreements and regional
coordination mechanisms

Many Pacific islands are parties to a range of international environment-related
agreements and processes. To secure favorable outcomes, Pacific island countries (PICs)
are required to maintain an active role in the development and subsequent implementation
of these agreements and negotiation outcomes. To support SPREP members, the
Secretariat will promote coordination at the national level, provide technical and legal
advice to countries, assist in preparing conference briefing papers, identify synergies
among agreements and related international processes such as the Commission on
Sustainable Development (CSD) and the Barbados Plan of Action Ten Year Review
(BPoA+10), and coordinate pre-conference consultations to determine regional positions.
This component also addresses the need to strengthen regional legal frameworks such as
the Apia, Noumea and Waigani Conventions. This component will also accommodate the
development of partnerships for better collaboration, coordination and leveraging of
resources through Pacific Type II Initiatives, CROP working groups and other regional
mechanisms. The latter include regional strategies that are implemented by a range of
partners such as the Action Strategy for Nature Conservation, Pacific Islands Regional
Oceans Framework and the Pacific Islands Regional Framework on Climate Change,
Climate Variability and Sea Level Rise and support to the implementation of overarching
strategies such as the Regional Sustainable Development Strategy and the Pacific Plan.
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2.2. Environment monitoring and reporting

Ultimately, this component aims to provide PICTs with better systems to monitor
environmental performance, recognising that the key to this approach is the availability of
relevant information. There are two linked elements. Firstly, the lack of data vital to
effective decision making has been identified as a recurring problem for most PICTs since
the 1992 Rio Conference. Support for data acquisition, application and management is
therefore an essential element. Secondly, to build on the outcomes of the World Summit
on Sustainable Development (WSSD) and BPoA+10, work in the area of the state of the
environment (SOE) will focus at the national and regional levels, to reassess and identify
key issues for environmental management and sustainable development. The aim is to
develop processes to monitor detrimental trends, emerging threats or identify competing
policies that threaten sustainable development. Simple but systematic reporting systems
will be designed with Pacific islands and tailored to suit key issues and indicators. The

outcome of this work will be a reduced burden of reporting by PICs to numerous
international agreements.

2.3. Climate change, climate variability, sea level rise and atmosphere
Global warming is one of the world’s most serious environmental problems and Pacific
islands are in one of the most vulnerable regions of the world. Phenomena consistent with
the anticipated adverse consequences of climate change are already a reality for Pacific
islands. Serious and wide-reaching consequences of climate change included the
frequency and intensity of tropical cyclones and alteration of weather patterns, extensive
coastal erosion and coral bleaching, damage to coastal roads, bridges, foreshores and
plantations, decreased productivity in fisheries and agriculture, droughts and the more
widespread occurrence of mosquito-borne diseases.

The Secretariat will assist in building up the capacity of its members to plan and respond
effectively to climate change, variability, sea level rise and its adverse impacts. The
capacity of national meteorologists and climatologists will be enhanced through the
coordination of the Pacific Island Global Climate Observation Implementation Plan. The
Secretariat will also continue to improve the availability of relevant information for the
use of its members’ scientists, policy and decision makers. This particular focus will be
integrated with other knowledge management systems related to the rest of the
Secretariats’ programmes components and linkages to relevant partners.

The Action Plan identifies climate change adaptation as a key issue in the Pacific. The
Secretariat will provide support to members to access adaptation funding for adaptation
projects from multilateral and bilateral sources. This support will include assistance with
the planning, design and execution of pilot projects. The Secretariat will also promote
activities allow countries to better adapt to climate change, such as strengthening the
climate roundtable process, strengthening national climate teams, building the capacity of
climate change negotiators and assisting with assessments and reporting requirements of
members under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. The
Secretariat will also be seeking to address mitigation options for its members by
promoting abatement initiatives and pilot projects on greenhouse gases. In addition, the
Secretariat will continue work on the regional strategy to eliminate ozone-depleting
substances, including further work on removing these substances from member countries.
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2.4. Waste management and pollution control

Pollution is one of the major threats to sustainable development in the Pacific islands
region. The transboundary nature of much marine pollution requires a coordinated and
comprehensive approach to both assessment and control. Without adequate measures to
combat the growing sources and extent of pollution, the Pacific islands’ efforts to maintain
healthy societies, to stimulate development and new investment and to build a sustainable
future for its people may be permanently undermined.

Immediate concerns to the Pacific island members included increasing quantities of solid
waste, the lack of controls on chemicals imported into the region, and the lack of capacity
to manage the range of pollutants. In addition to land-based activities, the region’s coastal
and marine resources are threatened by introduced marine species, shipwrecks, marine
accidents and spills, ships’ waste and antifouling paints on vessels. This programme
component will mainly operate through technical advice and support. It will continue to
evolve over time, to an even greater focus on national activities carried out under bilateral
arrangements. There are some elements, such as hazardous waste disposal, where the
Secretariat is directly involved in implementation, because of the technical and logistical
complexities of the work.

2.5. Environmental policy and planning

The intent of environmental policy and planning is to address the causes of environmental
degradation and over-exploitation through integrated government and community
decision-making mechanisms. The aim is to enhance the range of tools available to PICTs
to enable sound environmental decision-making in the pursuit of sustainable development.
Effective decision-making through integrated policies and planning is the primary theme.
Capacity development will assist with providing development-assessment tools to
anticipate and address negative pressures, key risks and emerging threats, and to seek out
sustainable development opportunities. There will also be the promotion of integrated
assessment and environmental planning platforms for PICTs - to bring together the above
two aspects in a manner that mainstreams environment as part of the development process.
This area also assumes that the implementation of National Sustainable Development
Strategies will integrate country priorities as identified in National Biodiversity Strategic
Action Plans or similar mechanisms.
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials

Pape’ete, French Polynesia
13-16 September 2004

Agenda Item 7.2: Resourcing Strategy

Purpose of Paper

1; To provide the Meeting with an update on the efforts by the Secretariat since the
14" SPREP Meeting to further advance the concept of its Resourcing Strategy tabled
and endorsed last year.

Background

2. The 14" SPREP Meeting discussed the financial security of SPREP in
association with the Meeting's consideration of the draft Strategic Programmes and the

planned review of the Action Plan for Managing the Environment in the Pacific Islands
Region that was scheduled for 2004.

3 In relation to the draft Resourcing Strategy, the Meeting noted the relationship
between the Secretariat’s core budget and extra-budgetary sources of assistance and the
historical reliance on relatively few sources of external support. The Meeting supported
the suggestion that the Secretariat research possibilities for expanding the support base

for SPREP’s work, strengthen existing ones and forge new partnerships that could
contribute to longer-term financial security.

4, This paper provides an update on developments in relation to the Resourcing
Strategy.

Summary of initiatives

4. Since September 2003, SPREP Management has taken the opportunity to
discuss the concepts presented in the draft Resourcing Strategy at the 14™ SPREP
Meeting to a large number of stakeholders such as Japan, Australia, New Zealand,
Peoples Republic of China, United States of America, France, the European
Community, GEF, ADB, UNDP, UNEP and a number of NGOs. The initiative has
generally been well received and has produced some modest results.
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5. Further elaboration of the Resourcing Strategy has to await the adoption of the
new Action Plan and subsequently the Strategic Programmes. With these two
documents, the Secretariat is armed with significant assets to market to a broad range of
existing and potential new stakeholders in SPREP.

6. In order to market SPREP as the preferred partner in its areas of comparative
advantage in the Pacific Islands region, following adoption of the Strategic
Programmes, the Action Plan and the realigned structure, some further refinement of
the Resourcing Strategy will take place. The recommended realignment of the

Secretariat will have some direct bearing on the implementation of the Resourcing
Strategy.

Proposed implementation arrangements

e i The Secretariat will further the initial dialogue with partners and engage new
ones, at the same time it will explore ways to improve its fund raising capabilities and
communication with SPREP’s stakeholders. This will entail upgrading existing skill
levels and filling relevant budgeted positions that would directly support our resourcing
efforts. Management will need to focus more attention and resources on the Resourcing

Strategy than before. To this end the Secretariat welcomes the views and direction of
the members.

Recommendation
8. That the SPREP Meeting:

» note the status of the Secretariat’s Resourcing Strategy for the Organisation;
and

» provide guidance in relation to further progressing the Resourcing Strategy

21 July 2004
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials
Pape'ete, French Polynesia
13-16 September 2004

SPREP

Agenda Item 8.1: Triennial CROP Remuneration Review on
Professional Staff

Purpose of Paper

1 To inform the SPREP Meeting of the findings of the Review and seek its approval
of the application of the review recommendations to the SPREP Secretariat.

Background

2. Since the mid-1980s, the review and setting of salaries, benefits and other terms
and conditions of service for professional staff of regional (CROP) organizations [except
for USP and Fiji School of Medicine (FSM)] had been done collectively on the recognition
that they recruit largely from the same market and to avoid bidding each other up on
salaries and benefits. These reviews are done every three years.

3. The last CROP review was completed and decided upon by CROP governing
councils in 1999/2000 and implemented in January 2001 except for SPREP, which being
the last CROP agency to have its annual meeting, had the review results implemented in
January 2002. At that review the reviewer and the CROP Remuneration Working Group
recommended and all the governing bodies agreed, that the comparator market for CROP
professional staff would be the median of the Australian Public Service (APS) market.
The next triennial review was due last year and was commissioned about mid year and the
final draft report of the Reviewers (Mercer) was available in November 2003.

4. The consultant’s report highlighted two significant issues:

i. the base salaries of CROP professional staff were significantly lower (by

between 14% and 32%) than the equivalent positions in the approved APS
comparator market; and

ii. the continued downward trend of the SDR exchange rates against currencies of
most of the CROP host countries over the past two years had resulted in a
serious negative impact on the take home salary of CROP professional staff.



15SM/Officials/W.8.1
Page 2

5 The first two CROP agencies governing bodies to which the report and its findings
was presented was the Forum Officials Committee (FOC) meeting held in the second week
of November 2003 and the SPC’s Conference held a week earlier. Both governing bodies
decided that given the significance of the issues raised in the reviewer’s report and the
little time afforded members by its late completion to comprehensively assess its
implications, the matter be referred to the CROP Remuneration Working Group (CRWG)
for detailed examination and recommendations. The Working Group comprised of Forum
and other member countries represented in Fiji [Australia, Federated States of Micronesia,
Fiji, France, Kiribati, Nauru, New Zealand (Chair) Papua New Guinea, Tuvalu and United

States of America] while CROP agencies (PIFS, FFA, SPBEA, SPC SOPAC and SPREP)
participate as observers.

6. In referring the matter to the CRWG, the two governing bodies, in consideration of
the significant negative impact on professional staff salary of the two major issues referred
to in paragraph 4 above, also decided to award to the professional staff of the Forum
Secretariat and SPC a 5% across the board interim salary increase effective from 1 January
2004 while the results of the CRWG work is being awaited. In the following weeks to the
SPC and FOC meetings the governing bodies of South Pacific Board for Educational
Assessment (SPBEA) and South Pacific Applied Geo-science Commission (SOPAC) did
similarly for the staff of these two agencies. And in May this year, the governing body for

Forum Fisheries Agency (FFA) likewise awarded the 5% increase to FFA staff backdated
to 1 January 2004.

7. The increase was on the basis, that it was interim for one year and that it would not
be passed to members via any increase in contributions but financed by secretariats
through savings and implementing various efficiency measures.

8. Only SPREP now remains to address this and it is strongly recommended that the
SPREP Meeting approve the application of the once only 5% across-the-board increase to
SPREP professional staff effective 1 January 2004. This would be consistent with the
letter and spirit of CROP terms and conditions harmonisation exercised since the mid-
1980’s. SPREP professional staff had also been similarly negatively impacted by both the
erosion on earnings due to the creeping SDR devaluation and the significant slide against
the APS as other CROP colleagues. This recommendation is made on the basis that it
would not affect membership contributions. The Secretariat, as with other CROP
agencies, would ensure the cost would be absorbed in normal secretariat operational costs

through efficiency gains and appropriate savings through rationalising administrative
expenditures.

9. Total cost is estimated to be USD65,654 for the whole year of which USD23,012

relates to core funded positions and the balance of USD42,642 relate to positions funded
by various donor projects. .
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CRWG Report

10.  The full report of the CRWP together with its Summary of Recommendations is
annexed as Attachment 1. The Secretariat supports all fifteen (15) recommendations

except for Recommendation 16 which applies only to the Forum Secretariat. These are
listed below:

Summary of Recommendations

Recommendation 1:

Efficiency gains should be fully exploited by CROP agencies before any requests
for increases in Member contributions are considered by Governing Bodies.

Recommendation 2:

The CROP Harmonisation and Remuneration Guiding Principles and Strategies, as
presented in Annex I, be adopted.

Recommendation 3:

CROP agencies should continue to use the SDR to denominate salary scales and
should adopt the stabilisation mechanism described (refer paragraph 18), effective
from 1 January 2005. Further compensatory payment for exchange rate

fluctuations, such as the 5% one-off temporary adjustment approved for 2004, was
no longer necessary.

Recommendation 4:

In the case of an unpredictable event that significantly impacts on exchange rates,
CROP agencies should immediately investigate and implement appropriate
remedial action.

Recommendation 5:

The median of the APS no longer be used as the comparator market for
professional staff and Australia (public service sector), Fiji (all organisations) and
New Zealand (public service sector) markets be established as reference markets.

Recommendation 6:
Annual tracking of the reference market data and analysis of CROP recruitment,
retention and other data for monitoring CROP salary scales should be undertaken.

Recommendation 7:

Data from all three markets should be reviewed by a CROP agency working group
annually and submitted to the CROP Heads meeting. If a recommendation for a
salary increase is the result of this annual review, the recommendations should be
presented to Pre-Forum FOC and subsequently other CROP Governing Bodies.
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Recommendation 8:
The currency for comparison of reference markets should be the SDR and the
appropriate exchange rate to be used for the conversion from the reference market

currency to SDR should be the average for the month falling at the end of the
period for which the market data is relevant.

Recommendation 9:
A 5% increase should be applied equally across the CROP professional staff salary
scale effective from 1 January 2005. Movement of staff into the new salary scale

will be subject to satisfactory performance except for some agencies in the
transition year 2005.

Recommendation 10:

In order to contribute to the cost of the 5% increase in the salary scale, CROP
agencies should continue to achieve ongoing efficiency and productivity gains.

Recommendation 11:

In future any increases to the salary scale should be applied differentially across the
grades.

Recommendation 12:

CROP agencies through their Governing Bodies encourage Members to consider
more favourable taxation arrangements for their staff.

Recommendation 13:

The tax exempt status of many CROP agency staff be considered in the annual

examination of relativities between the CROP salary scale and the reference
markets.

Recommendation 14:

The CROP harmonised remuneration arrangements as attached in Annex VI and
V1I be adopted.

Recommendation 15:

On the matter of the application of the six year rule to the other CROP agencies the
Working Group seeks further clarification.

11.  The cost of implementing Recommendation 9 on the 5% across the professional
staff scale would be similar to the cost for the once off 5% adjustment for 2004 in
paragraph 9 above a total of USD67,534 for the whole year of which USD23,768 related to
core funded staff and USD43,766 relate to programme funded staff.
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Recommendation

12,

5 July 2004

The SPREP Meeting approves:

> a once off 5% increase for SPREP professional staff for 2004 to be effective
from 1 January 2004 on the basis that it would not be funded through a
membership contributions increase;

> all fifteen (15) recommendations of the 2004 CRWG report including a 5%
equal increase across the CROP and SPREP professional staff salary scale
effective from 1 January 2005, and

» the stabilisation mechanism described below also to be effective from 1
January 2005:

Stabilisation Mechanism

« A floor and ceiling to be set, between which salaries would be paid at the
rate of exchange of the SDR and the currency of payment applicable at the
time. The floor and ceiling would be set at 5% below and above a reference
point. If the actual SDR exchange rate falls below the floor, the floor rate
would be used to calculate salaries, and if the actual rate rose above the
ceiling, then the ceiling rate would be used. In order to avoid daily
fluctuations, the SDR exchange rate used in calculating actual pay will be a
monthly average immediately prior to the day the pay is calculated.

» The reference point would be the average SDR exchange rate of the twelve

months to December of the previous year, which would be recalculated
annually to apply from 1 January.
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Summary of Recommendations

Recommendation 1:

Efficiency gains should be fully exploited by CROP agencies before any requests
for increases in Member contributions are considered by Govemning Bodies.

Recommendation 2:

The CROP Harmonisation and Remuneration Guiding Principles and Strategies,
as presented in Annex I, be adopted.

Recommendation 3:

CROP agencies should continue to use the SDR to denominate salary scales and
should adopt the stabilisation mechanism described (refer paragraph 18), effective from 1
January 2005. Further compensatory payment for exchange rate fluctuations, such as the
5% one-off temporary adjustment approved for 2004, was no longer necessary.

Recommendation 4:

In the case of an unpredictable event that significantly impacts on exchange rates,

CROP agencies should immediately investigate and implement appropriate remedial
action.

Recommendation 5:

The median of the APS no longer be used as the comparator market for
professional staff and Australia (public service sector), Fiji (all organisations) and New
Zealand (public service sector) markets be established as reference markets.

Recommendation 6:

Annual tracking of the reference market data and analysis of CROP recruitment,
retention and other data for monitoring CROP salary scales should be undertaken.

Recommendation 7:

Data from all three markets should be reviewed by a CROP agency working group
annually and submitted to the CROP Heads meeting. If a recommendation for a salary
increase is the result of this annual review, the recommendations should be presented to
Pre-Forum FOC and subsequently other CROP Governing Bodies.

Recommendation 8:
The currency for comparison of reference markets should be the SDR and the
appropriate exchange rate to be used for the conversion from the reference market

currency to SDR should be the average for the month falling at the end of the period for
which the market data is relevant.

Recommendation 9:
A 5% increase should be applied equally across the CROP professional staff
salary scale effective from 1 January 2005. Movement of staff into the new salary scale

will be subject to satisfactory performance except for some agencies in the transition year
2005.
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Recommendation 10:
In order to contribute to the cost of the 5% increase in the salary scale, CROP
agencies should continue to achieve ongoing efficiency and productivity gains.

Recommendation 11:

In future any increases to the salary scale should be applied differentially across
the grades.

Recommendation 12:

CROP agencies through their Governing Bodies encourage Members to consider
more favourable taxation arrangements for their staff.

Recommendation 13:

The tax exempt status of many CROP agency staff be considered in the annual
examination of relativities between the CROP salary scale and the reference markets.

Recommendation 14:

The CROP harmonised remuneration arrangements as attached in Annex VI and
VII be adopted.

Recommendation 15:
On the matter of the application of the six year rule to the other CROP agencies

the Working Group seeks further clarification.

Recommendation 16:

Recommendations ex PIFS(03)OCBS.10 Working Group Recommendations

1. Given the salary scales lie within the upper | Supported.
quartile of both the Fiji general market and the
CROP comparator market', it is recommended that
there be no change in the current salary scales.

2.That the market be reviewed annually with | Supported.
appropriate annual adjustments to the salary
scales, which will ensure that salaries remain
aligned with the market and in a timelier manner
than is currently provided for.

3. That there be no change in the current practice of | Supported.
providing superannuation, medical and life
insurance.

4. On expiry of the support staff contracts (31 | Supported. The Working Group considered that a
December 2003) that staff on reappointment be | robust performance management system applied
offered permanent tenure. equally to staff on either contract or tenure and that

the decision on the nature of the appointment

(contract or tenure) could be left to the discretion

of the head of the CROP agency as long as this is

cost neutral,

' Note: In this context the “CROP Comparator Market” refers to the 62 organisations in the

PriceWaterhouseCoopers 2003 remuneration survey plus an additional seven organisations which CROP
felt better represented comparable organisations.
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Recommendations ex PIFS(03)OCBS.10

Working Group Recommendations

5. In support of professional development, provide
for the payment of subscriptions for membership
of a work relevant professional body to a
maximum of FID300 per annum.

Supported.

6. That the hours for all support staff be 37 hours per
week.

Supported.

7. The current provision for annual leave is 18 days
with an additional three days after five years of
service. Since this practice rewards length of
service rather than performance, 21 days per
annum be awarded for all support staff.

The Working Group considered that additional
leave was provided for occupational safety and
health reasons not for reward for length of service.
It recommended that the current provisions be
retained, particularly given that in the Fiji market
the most common annual leave provision was 15
days.

8. Sick leave entitlements in the market are generally
5-21days per annum. The most common provision
in the market is 10 days per annum. The current
provision for sick leave is 30 days per annum .
Sick leave should be reduced to 21 days per
annum in line with market best practice,

Supported.
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1. Introduction
1.1. Mandate

1. At the November 2003 Budget and Work Programme Session, the Forum
Officials Committee (FOC) agreed to convene a working group comprised of the Suva-
based Missions of the Governing Bodies to further evaluate the issues arising from the
2003 triennial review of the CROP harmonised terms and conditions of remuneration.

2. FOC provided the following mandate for the Working Group:

“consider issues relating to harmonisation of CROP remuneration and to make
recommendations to the 2004 Pre-Forum FOC. The CROP Working Group may
wish to revisit the existing policy approved by the various governing bodies on the
link of CROP base salaries to the median of the APS and the use of the SDR, and
to make recommendations on how these might be progressed further”. FOC

further agreed that “support staff issues be referred to the CROP Working Group
Jor review in the context of the whole of CROP."

1.2. Working Group Composition

3. New Zealand agreed at the November 2003 FOC meeting to chair the Working
Group. Membership of the Working Group was open to the Suva-based Missions of the
participating CROP governing bodies. The following Members participated:

Australia;

Federated States of Micronesia;
Fiji;

France;

Kiribati;

Nauru;

New Zealand;

Papua New Guinea;

Republic of Marshall Islands;
Tuvalu;

United States of America.
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4. CROP agencies party to the harmonised remuneration process were invited by the
Chair as observers to the Working Group and were invited to contribute to inform the
Working Group in its deliberations. CROP agencies participating as observers were:

Forum Fisheries Agency;

Forum Secretariat;

Secretariat of the Pacific Community;

South Pacific Applied Geoscience Commission:
South Pacific Board for Education Assessment;
South Pacific Regional Environment Programme.

e & @ & @0 o

1.3. Background

5. The participating CROP agencies commissioned the triennial review of both
professional and support staff in 2003 as required by the 1999 FOC and other Governing
Bodies. Mercer HR Consultants (Wellington) were contracted to undertake the review of
the professional staff and PriceWaterhouseCoopers (Suva) (PwC) the support staff. The
review was part of an ongoing process that began in the early 1990°s to harmonise CROP
remuneration, terms and conditions of service.

6. The consultancy reports indicated that the process over the previous three years
has resulted in a reasonably high level of harmonisation across the CROP agencies. Their
recommendations reflected the need for further refinement of the remuneration systems
and processes, rather than a complete change in approach.

7 Affordability of the consultants’ recommendations arose as the key issue for

Members in the discussion at November 2003 FOC and in other Governing Bodies
meetings.

1.4. Key Issues Identified by the Working Group

8. The Working Group met fortnightly over a period of three months and examined a
broad range of issues encapsulated by the mandate. Key topics identified included
guiding principles and strategies of remuneration, harmonisation, recruitment and
retention, salary and benefits, benchmarking, link to SDR, taxation, general terms and
conditions, and the review process itself.

9. The findings and recommendations of the Working Group on these issues are
discussed in the following sections.
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2. Findings and Recommendations

2.1. Affordability
Findings

10.  The Working Group recognised that affordability is the principal influence on
services provided by CROP agencies. It is also a key concern for Members and
development partners. The Working Group further recognised, however, the need to have
remuneration systems that enable CROP agencies to attract and retain suitably
experienced and qualified staff.

11.  Inflation has an impact on all operating costs over time. This also affects
remuneration costs, which account for a significant proportion of the agencies’ total
budget. It is important to note that these increases need not automatically lead to an
increase in Member contributions. The Working Group concluded that efficiency gains
should be fully exploited by CROP agencies before any requests for increases in Member
contributions are considered by Governing Bodies.

12.  Some of the efficiency gains that CROP management could consider include: use
of short term appointments and consultancies rather than establishment of positions;
exploring opportunities for shared services across CROP agencies; using more lower level
positions (graduates, research assistants, or junior professionals) to support fewer senior
advisors; clearer definition of programmes and projects to optimise productivity; cost-

effective location of programmes; and an examination of staff benefits, terms and
conditions, and travel.

Recommendation 1:

Efficiency gains should be fully exploited by CROP agencies before any
requests for increases in Member contributions are considered by
Governing Bodies.

2.2. Harmonisation and Remuneration Guiding Principles and Strategies
Findings

13.  In addressing the issue of affordability, the Working Group noted the need to
establish clear guiding principles and strategies to govern CROP harmonisation and
remuneration practices. Although there have been a number of external reviews and
decisions by Governing Bodies on issues related to harmonisation and remuneration,
there has not been a clear articulation of the guiding principles and strategies. It was also
noted, that there were different levels of understanding across CROP agencies and their
Governing Bodies as to what harmonisation entails and how this applies to remuneration.
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14. The Working Group concluded that clear guiding principles are essential for
CROP agencies’ operational decision-making, and for Members in monitoring the

agencies’ practice. Such clarity would build on the work to date of the CROP on
harmonisation of remuneration.

I5. The Working Group agreed that the “principles” articulate the broad parameters
within which the harmonisation of remuneration would operate, while the “strategies”
would define how the principles were implemented by the agencies. It was envisaged
that, over time, the strategies could change to reflect trends in best practice.

Recommendation 2:

The CROP Harmonisation and Remuneration Guiding Principles and
Strategies, as presented in Annex I, be adopted.

2.3. Special Drawing Rights (SDR)
Findings

16.  The major objective underpinning CROP harmonisation of remuneration is to pay
equivalent salaries for equivalent jobs. To achieve this objective the CROP agencies have
adopted a harmonised salary scale denominated in a common currency, namely the
International Monetary Fund’s Special Drawing Rights (SDR). As the SDR is a basket of
currencies (USD 42%; EUR 34%; YEN 13%; STG 11%) it was expected that the SDR
would provide a level of stability for both the agencies and staff when converting salaries
from SDR to the currency of payment. The continued weakening of the USD over the
past three years has, however, seen the trend in the SDR exchange rate movements
between the SDR and currency of payments as illustrated in the graphs below.

FJD:SDR Exchange Rate Movements since January 2001
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USD:SDR Exchange Rate M ts since J. y 2001
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¢ While the Working Group acknowledged that the prolonged slide in the value of
the US dollar (accentuated by its dominance in the SDR currency basket) had caused
difficulties, it was decided that the use of the SDR should continue. The Working Group
agreed that it was important that uniformity in the denomination of salary scales should
be maintained across CROP agencies and the SDR represented an international currency
standard that was well understood. Therefore, options such as adoption of a single

currency or the development of a CROP basket of currencies, were not considered viable
solutions.

18.  The Working Group recognised that associated with the use of the SDR some
further protection against exchange rate fluctuations was needed for both staff and
agencies. Hence it was decided to institute a stabilisation mechanism as follows:

a. A floor and a ceiling to be set, between which salaries would be paid at the
rate of exchange of the SDR and the currency of payment applicable at the
time. The floor and ceiling would be set at 5% below and above a reference
point. If the actual SDR exchange rate falls below the floor, the floor rate
would be used to calculate salaries, and if the actual rate rose above the
ceiling, then the ceiling rate would be used. In order to avoid daily
fluctuations, the SDR exchange rate used in calculating actual pay will be a
monthly average immediately prior to the day the pay is calculated.

b. The reference point would be the average SDR exchange rate of the twelve
months to December of the previous year, which would be recalculated
annually to apply from 1 January.

19. It is important that management have flexibility to deal with any unexpected
significant events, for example, currency devaluation. Thus, should a significant and
unpredictable event that affects the SDR exchange rates occur then the CROP agencies
should immediately investigate the effect of the event and implement remedial action.

-10 -
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20. The Working Group considered that this stabilisation mechanism provided
sufficient protection for staff and the agencies against exchange rate fluctuations. Further

compensatory payment for exchange rate fluctuations, such as the 5% one-off temporary
adjustment approved for 2004, was no longer necessary”.

Recommendation 3:

CROP agencies should continue to use the SDR to denominate salary scales and
should adopt the stabilisation mechanism described above, effective from 1
January 2005. Further compensatory payment for exchange rate fluctuations, such

as the 5% one-off temporary adjustment approved for 2004, was no longer
necessary.

Recommendation 4:

In the case of an unpredictable event that significantly impacts on exchange rates,

CROP agencies should immediately investigate and implement appropriate
remedial action.

2.4. External Benchmarking - Comparator versus Reference Markets

Findings

21.  FOC in 1999 approved the median of the Australian Public Service (APS) as the
comparator market for professional staff and the upper quartile of the respective local
market for support staff. For the Fiji based CROP agencies, the findings of the 2003
Remuneration Review identified that the support staff salary scales sat within the upper
quartile of the Fiji market. In the case of professional staff, the 2003 review indicated that

the professional staff salary scales were, overall, significantly less than the median of the
APS,

22.  In considering the issue of affordability, the Working Group noted that the
increase necessary to shift the CROP professional salary scales to match the median of
the APS would impact negatively on the agencies’ budgets, delivery of work
programmes, and, potentially, on Member contributions. Furthermore, multi-year APS
contractual agreements had embedded in them an annual increase of around 4% which
would lead to a further widening of the gap between APS and the CROP scales in the
future. These observations led the Working Group to decide that the APS was not an
appropriate comparator market.

? Note: In the case of some agencies, the 5% one-off temporary adjustment was approved in recognition of
the widening gap between the CROP salary scale and the APS comparator market, in addition to the
exchange rate argument.

< 1ili=
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23.  The Working Group further considered whether a comparator market was a useful
tool for CROP to use. The major disadvantages associated with the use of a comparator
market were the building of expectations among staff for automatic salary increases

matching increases in the comparator market, and the lack of flexibility for agencies in
determining salary scales.

24.  The Working Group acknowledged that external benchmarking remained essential
and could be most appropriately achieved through the use of reference market(s). A
reference market would provide information regarding market trends. It would not have a
direct link to CROP salaries and would not therefore, create a staff expectation to be
bound by these trends. This contrasts with the use of a comparator market that implied an
automatic increase to the CROP salary scale with increases in the comparator market.

25.  The Working Group concluded that annual tracking of the reference market data
together with analysis of CROP recruitment and retention data would enable the agencies
to proactively manage potential recruitment and retention issues.

26.  The Working Group then explored the options available for a reference market.
Three options emerged based on the need for regular, reliable and robust market data.
These markets were Australia (public service sector), Fiji (all organisations) and New
Zealand (public service sector). It was confirmed that for each of the reference markets
identified, the data was available at least once annually. This would allow the monitoring
and review of CROP salary scales to be conducted annually rather than triennially.

27.  The Working Group considered that a combination of all three markets would
provide the best range of information currently available. The Working Group noted that
some Governing Bodies had already asked for this option to be considered.

28.  The Working Group concluded that data from all three markets, which will be
available by June each year, should be reviewed by a CROP agency working group, and
findings would be submitted to the CROP Heads meeting in July each year. If a
recommended move in CROP salary scales resulted from this review, this would be
submitted by CROP Heads to Pre-Forum FOC and subsequently other CROP Governing
Bodies. The Working Group noted that this approach would enhance the budget process
for all CROP. The Working Group further noted that it was not expected that annual
review of salary scales would necessarily result in annual increases in salaries.

29.  An important issue associated with the presentation of the data is that the
reference markets and the CROP professional salary scale are denominated in different
currencies. The Working Group agreed that the most appropriate currency for comparison
should be the SDR since this is the currency of the CROP professional salary scale. They
further agreed that the appropriate exchange rate to be used for the conversion from the
reference market currency to SDR should be the average for the month falling at the end
of the period for which the market data is relevant.

Ry
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30.  The Working Group noted that whilst the concept of a comparator market for
professional staff was no longer valid, it was deemed appropriate for support staff
because they were recruited from the local market and not from the entire region. The
support staff remuneration arrangements in each agency should therefore be aligned to
those of the local markets (all organisations).

Recommendation 5:

The median of the APS no longer be used as the comparator market for
professional staff and Australia (public service sector), Fiji (all organisations) and
New Zealand (public service sector) markets be established as reference markets.

Recommendation 6:

Annual tracking of the reference market data and analysis of CROP recruitment,
retention and other data for monitoring CROP salary scales should be undertaken.

Recommendation 7:

Data from all three markets should be reviewed by a CROP agency working
group annually and submitted to the CROP Heads meeting. If a recommendation
for a salary increase is the result of this annual review, the recommendations
should be presented to Pre-Forum FOC and subsequently other CROP Governing
Bodies.

Recommendation 8:
The currency for comparison of reference markets should be the SDR and the
appropriate exchange rate to be used for the conversion from the reference market

currency to SDR should be the average for the month falling at the end of the
period for which the market data is relevant.

2.5. Salary Scales Effective Sfrom 1 January 2005
Findings
31.  The CROP agency representatives presented to the Working Group an argument

that a 5% increase should be applied to the current CROP professional staff salary scale.
This justification was made in the form of a business case attached as Annex II.

-13-
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32.  Annex III shows a comparison of the CROP professional salary scale compared
with the reference markets. This comparison shows the CROP salary scale to be
significantly lower than that of the Australian and New Zealand reference markets and
significantly ahead of the Fiji reference market as illustrated in the table:

Grade NZ Market Aus Market Fiji Market

1 -15% -14% 76%
J -25% =27% 51%
K -33% -32%

L -36% -26%
M -39% -24%

33.  The Working Group recognised the CROP agencies’ justification for a 5%
increase to the professional staff salary scale, noting the CROP agencies’ assurance that
this would be absorbed within budget base-lines without an increase in cost to Members.
In looking at the pay lines of the three reference markets compared with the current
CROP pay line (see Annex III) it was clear that the relationship between individual
CROP grades and reference markets differed significantly.

34.  The Working Group considered that in the longer-term it would be appropriate,
with salary scale increases, to adjust each of the CROP grades differentially (i.e. each
grade to receive a different percentage increase) in order to improve the relativity to the
reference markets across the whole scale. However, it was recognised that immediate
application of this methodology would cause difficulty for CROP agency management
with respect to staff morale, given staff expectations that all salary range increases would
be uniform. In this respect, the Working Group agreed that in 2005 the 5% increase be
applied uniformly but that in future any changes to the salary structure should be applied
differentially. The Working Group further encouraged agencies to prepare staff for this
change with particular emphasis on staff in Grade 1.

35.  The Working Group noted FOC’s decision on performance based application of
salary adjustments. It was noted that not all agencies had been given the same direction
by their governing bodies and there was, therefore, the need for transitional arrangements
in 2005. It was agreed, however, that future salary increases would be subject to
satisfactory performance, using individual agency performance management systems.

36.  The Working Group also noted the need for agencies to enhance efficiency and
productivity in order to contribute to the cost of the proposed 5% increase in the salary
scale for professional staff.

Recommendation 9:

A 5% increase should be applied equally across the CROP professional staff
salary scale effective from 1 January 2005. Movement of staff into the new salary
scale will be subject to satisfactory performance except for some agencies in the
transition year 2005.

=@
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Recommendation 10:

In order to contribute to the cost of the 5% increase in the salary scale, CROP
agencies should continue to achieve ongoing efficiency and productivity gains.

Recommendation 11:

In future any increases to the salary scale should be applied differentially across
the grades.

2.6. Taxation
Findings

37.  The Working Group noted that there was variation in taxation arrangements across
the CROP agencies. The general arrangement was that expatriate professional staff were
not taxed by the host country while local staff, whether professional or support, paid tax.
Whether expatriate staff are taxed in their country of origin depends on the agreement
reached between the agency and their home government. Under special provisions in
both Noumea and Suva, all SPC staff are not taxed by the host governments, although
support staff in Suva had salaries tax-adjusted to bring them more into line with
counterparts in other Suva-based CROP agencies.

38.  The Working Group agreed that tax-exempt status was not a benefit conferred by
the CROP agencies on their staff, but resulted from the tax policies that were established
by respective host governments and governments of expatriate employees. This led to the
conclusion that the matter of taxation was not a simple one and one that required CROP
agencies, through their Governing Bodies, to encourage Members to consider more
favourable taxation arrangements for staff of CROP agencies.

39.  The Working Group agreed that it was not appropriate for CROP agencies to be
responsible for compensation to staff for differences in tax regulations. CROP agencies
should make tax provisions clear to staff members on appointment.

40.  The Working Group noted that the tax exempt status of many CROP agency staff
members was a matter to be considered in the annual examination of the relativities
between the CROP salary scales and the reference markets.

Recommendation 12;

CROP agencies through their Governing Bodies encourage Members to consider
more favourable taxation arrangements for their staff,

Recommendation 13:

The tax exempt status of many CROP agency staff be considered in the annual
examination of relativities between the CROP salary scale and the reference
markets.

s |8
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2.7. Benefits
Findings

41. In considering the CROP tables of harmonised conditions, the Working Group
recognised the value of clearly articulating the principles associated with remuneration
arrangements. With this in mind, three categories were identified under which each of the
current CROP salary, benefits, terms and conditions were aligned. The overarching
principle associated with the remuneration arrangements was determined to be:

*“To provide a fair, equitable and competitive remuneration package".

42.  The Working Group agreed on principles for each of these three categories as
follows:

Salary and Benefits To recruit & retain talented, skilled & mativated people.
Relocation Provisions To assist with adjustments arising from relocation.
Other Terms & Conditions To clearly define entitlements and provide clarity to the
employment relationship.

43.  For professional staff, the current CROP benefits were readily assigned to these
three categories (refer Annex IV) with the exception of housing and education
allowances. On these two allowances there was a difference of opinion between members
of the Working Group. One view was that these allowances should only be associated
with the cost of relocation and hence the wish to see them associated with the “relocation”
principle. The alternative view was that these benefits were linked to the position,
independent of the incumbent’s location on appointment, and thus the wish to see these
allowances assigned to the “salary and benefits” principle. The Working Group wished to
explore every avenue for achieving consensus on this issue and therefore agreed to seek
further information on the matter from an independent HR consultant. As this information
has not yet been received it is proposed that the matter of housing and education
allowances be deferred to a later time and that the status quo be maintained in the interim.

44.  For support staff, the current CROP benefits were assigned to two of the above
three categories (refer Annex V). Since support staff are recruited from the local market
the relocation provisions are not applicable.

45. The CROP agencies presented their proposed harmonised remuneration
arrangements to the Working Group for consideration. The Working Group amended
some of the CROP proposals and agreed that these be adopted by the agencies. These are
presented as Annex VI and VII.

Recommendation 14:

The CROP harmonised remuneration arrangements as attached in Annex VI and
VII be adopted.
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2.8. Six Year Rule
Findings

46.  The Working Group noted the outcome of the Special Leaders Retreat and the
decision that the Forum Secretariat enforce the provision that professional staff be hired
for no more than two three-year terms of employment at the Secretariat, noting that the
Secretary General has a transition period in which to apply this provision to current staff,
As a result the Forum Secretariat staff regulations will be amended to reflect this decision.
The Working Group was uncertain as to the Leaders’ intention in respect of all other

CROP agencies and also whether this limited employment of staff in more than one
CROP agency.

47.  The Working Group identified practical difficulties with implementation of the six
year rule. Strict application of the rule may make it difficult to fill specialist positions
where there is a limited pool of expertise available. The rule may also limit the
opportunities for young Pacific island professionals in CROP agencies to advance through
to senior technical/scientific/management roles.

Recommendation 15:
On the matter of the application of the six year rule to the other CROP agencies

the Working Group seeks further clarification.

2.9. Forum Secretariat Support Staff
Findings
48. As mandated by FOC, the Working Group reconsidered document

PIFS(03)OCBS.10 on the outcome and recommendations of the 2003 remuneration
review with regard to support staff.
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Recommendation 16:

Recommendations ex PIFS(03)OCBS.10

Working Group Recommendations

1. Given the salary scales lie within the upper
quartile of both the Fiji general market and the
CROP comparator market’, it is recommended
that there be no change in the current salary
scales,

Supported.

2.That the market be reviewed annually with
appropriate annual adjustments to the salary
scales, which will ensure that salaries remain
aligned with the market and in a timelier manner
than is currently provided for.

Supported.

3. That there be no change in the current practice of
providing superannuation, medical and life
insurance.

Supported.

4. On expiry of the support staff contracts (31
December 2003) that staff on reappointment be
offered permanent tenure.

Supported. The Working Group considered that a
robust performance management system applied
equally to staff on either contract or tenure and that
the decision on the nature of the appointment
(contract or tenure) could be left to the discretion of
the head of the CROP agency as long as this is cost
neutral.

5. In support of professional development, provide | Supported.
for the payment of subscriptions for membership
of a work relevant professional body to a
maximum of FID300 per annum.

6. That the hours for all support staff be 37 hours | Supported.

per week.

7. The current provision for annual leave is 18 days
with an additional three days after five years of
service. Since this practice rewards length of
service rather than performance, 21 days per
annum be awarded for all support staff.

The Working Group considered that additional
leave was provided for occupational safety and
health reasons not for reward for length of service.
It recommended that the current provisions be
retained, particularly given that in the Fiji market
the most common annual leave provision was 15
days.

8. Sick leave entitlements in the market are
generally 5-21days per annum,  The most
common provision in the market is 10 days per
annum. The current provision for sick leave is 30
days per annum . Sick leave should be reduced to
21 days per annum in line with market best
practice.

Supported.

' Note:

In this context the “CROP Comparator Market” refers to the 62 organisations in the

PriceWaterhouseCoopers 2003 remuneration survey plus an additional seven organisations which CROP

felt better represented comparable organisations.
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Annex I

CROP Harmonisation and Remuneration
Guiding Principles and Strategies

Shared Commitment to and Understanding of Harmonisation Principles

The Governing Bodies of the CROP agencies reaffirm the usefulness of
harmonisation as a means of simplifying their oversight of agencies, providing more
robust, joint corporate policy development processes and allowing cost sharing across the
agencies. The Governing Bodies recognise that harmonisation can lead to opportunities
for on-going integration, increased equity and reduced scope for competition between
agencies. Harmonisation in the human resources and remuneration context is defined as
alignment of key principles and philosophies and specifically includes salary structure,
benefits, review processes and performance management.

2 Harmonisation, to be most effective in practice, should be seen as a flexible
guideline for participating agencies rather than a set of rules of implementation that must
be rigidly applied. Harmonised positions should be the starting point for all CROP
agencies, and wherever possible they should be adhered to. But where harmonisation
cannot meet the business needs of agencies, other options may be explored. Each CROP
agency will choose its own mode of implementation of the CROP agreed harmonised
principles based on its needs resulting from its own particular situation and location.
CEOs will report to their Governing Bodies on deviations from CROP common practice.

Remuneration Principles

3. The Governing Bodies are committed to a remuneration policy that provides for
pay for performance related to the reference markets and which is affordable. They agree
that the CROP remuneration system adopted by the agencies will be robust, fair, and
competitive and allow for the recruitment and retention of talented, skilled and motivated
people focused and committed to the vision of the Members and delivery of agency goals.
They further agree that the system must be equitable to both the Members and to staff.

4. Each CROP agency’s reward and recognition system will have the active support
and commitment of staff, management and Members, will be open and transparent, and
easy to understand and administer.  Furthermore, the systems will be consistently

applied, flexible, affordable and related to the market with pay being directly linked to
performance.
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Implementation Strategies

S. The guiding strategies the CROP agencies will use to implement the above
principles are:

a.

All positions will be sized using a CROP wide job evaluation methodology
to determine into which of the broad-banded salary ranges the positions will

be placed. Regular independent validation of job descriptions will be
undertaken.

To ensure the salary ranges remain affordable for Members and CROP
agencies and equitable to staff, external relativity and competitiveness will
be maintained through an objective and systematic benchmarking process
which will annually assess reference markets and recruitment and retention
statistics together with consideration of the Members and CROP agencies

ability to pay. This assessment will consider the tax exempt status of some of
the agencies’ staff.

The mid-point of each range will represent the fair level of remuneration for
competent performance in any position sized into that range. Therefore:

(1)  Remuneration on appointment will normally be in the lower half of the
salary range. In exceptional circumstances, the CEO has discretion to
apply a market allowance as inducement, over and above base salary in
order to secure staff with either scarce or highly sought-afier skills.

(i) The link between remuneration and performance will be open and
transparent; the remuneration of staff who have demonstrated
competent performance will be progressed towards the mid-point; only
staff who have demonstrated exceptional performance will be
progressed beyond the mid-point; and staff whose performance is less
than satisfactory will not be progressed.

Bonuses, if used, will be provided in recognition of one-off outstanding
achievements. Improvement in competency and performance will otherwise
be rewarded through base pay.

As a responsible and good employer, the CROP agencies will provide
appropriate terms and conditions including benefits and allowances in
addition to take-home pay.
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Annex I1
CROP Business Case

Supporting the Proposal for a 5% Increase in the
CROP Professional Staff Salary Scale

Proposal

The CROP agencies propose that the current CROP professional staff salary scale
be increased by 5% effective from 1 January 2005 in order to improve the
competitiveness of the agencies’ remuneration package.

2. This proposal, in effect, means that the new CROP professional staff salary scale

will be the current CROP salary scales plus the 5% interim pay adjustment being paid for
2004,

Background

3. The current CROP harmonised remunerations arrangements were approved by

the governing councils of all participating CROP agencies, in 2000. Under the approved
arrangements:

i.  The base salaries for professional staff were to be aligned with the median of
the comparator market, namely, the Australian Public Service (APS). Other

terms and conditions of service were the prevailing CROP harmonised
benefits at the time.

ii. The remuneration packages were to be reviewed externally every three years
against the comparator market with a view to updating these as appropriate.

4, In compliance with the above arrangements, participating CROP agencies
commissioned the triennial review of remuneration and terms and conditions of service in
2003. The professional staff review was undertaken by Mercer Human Resource
Consulting Ltd. The consultant’s report highlighted two significant issues:

i.  The base salaries of professional staff employed by CROP agencies were
significantly lower than the equivalent positions in the approved APS
comparator market. Furthermore, the consultant projected that that gap
would grow even larger because of formal commitments in the APS to

. provide for additional annual increases (or around 4% per annum for a
period of three years).

il.  The continued downward trend of the SDR exchange rates against currencies
of most of the CROP host countries, over the past two years had resulted in a

serious negative impact on the take home salaries of professional staff in
CROP agencies.
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5% Interim Pay Adjustment

3: Four Governing Bodies considered the professional staff salaries during their
meetindgs in November/December 2003. Three of these meetings were done in session:
the 3" Conference of the Pacific Community; the Budget FOC; and the SPBEA
Governing Council. The fourth meeting, the SOPAC Council, was held out of session.
Furthermore, FFC considered the issue in their meeting in May 2004.

6. Governing Bodies noted with concern the departure of the CROP salary scale
from the approved comparator market. They also noted the negative impact on take home
pay for professional staff as a result of the continuously unfavourable SDR exchange rates
in the host countries. Four of the Governing Bodies, approved an interim 5% pay
adjustment for SPC, SPBEA, SOPAC and FFA to maintain at least some parity with the
comparator market. FOC approved the interim 5% adjustment for the Forum Secretariat
in recognition of the exchange loss due to the unfavourable SDR exchange rate. The 5%
adjustment was granted for one year, on the basis that it could be funded by the agencies
with no increase to membership contributions.

Z FOC and the other Governing Bodies supported reconvening the Suva-based
CROP Working Group on remuneration to address the longer-term relationship of the
CROP salary scale to the approved comparator market.

8. It is worth noting that all participating CROP agencies were of the view that the
comparator market idea required serious analysis, given that it was not realistic to expect
annual average increases of around 4% per year, which had become the norm in the
approved comparator market, the median of the APS.

9. The move towards utilising three ‘reference markets’ (APS, NZPS and Fiji all
organisations) rather than continuing with the APS as a ‘comparator market’ is supported
by CROP agencies. The reference markets will provide a better basis for monitoring the
relativity of the CROP salary scale vis-a-vis movements in each of the three reference
markets, from which a large proportion of professional staff are recruited.

10. The move toward adopting a ‘SDR exchange rate stabilisation mechanism’ will

to a large extent reduce the negative impact of exchange variations on the take home
salaries of professional staff.

11 The major remaining question then is ‘what is the appropriate CROP professional
staff salary scale?”

The Problem

12. The existing CROP salary scale (without the 5%) is inadequate to fulfil the key
Guiding Principal of CROP Remuneration, that of being able to “recruit and retain
talented, skilled and motivated people focussed and committed to the vision of the
Members and delivery of agency goals”. There are a number of factors which influence
the agencies ability to do so, one of which is to provide a fair and competitive salary and
remuneration package.
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13. There are a number of signals that indicate that the CROP professional staff
salary scale is becoming less competitive. This is impacting on the ability of the agencies
to recruit and retain. These signals are emerging from the recruitment and retention
statistics and from analysis of the reference markets as follows.

Recruitment

14. The agencies are starting to have difficulty in recruiting suitably skilled and
experienced people. The number of applications is dropping, and thus the pool of
candidates from which to choose from is smaller. An analysis of the recruitment
statistics of the CROP agencies over the past three years is summarised in the following

table. This analysis shows that on average 41% of the positions advertised had a pool of
less than 20 applicants to choose from.

SOPAC SPREP FFA PIFS SPC Total
Number of positions 7 13 12 17 89 138
advertised
Number of positions with 20 5 4 2 4 42 57
or less applicants
Percentage of total % 31% 17% 24% 47% 41%
15. Furthermore, the number of suitably qualified applicants in some cases is small.

In many cases, CROP agencies are unable to recruit the right calibre of people, with many
of the positions having to be re-advertised. While some of these difficulties can be
attributed to very specialist and thus scarce skills, there are signals that the some of these
difficulties are due to the CROP salaries no longer being competitive.

16. The current CROP practice is to recruit at the lowest point in the appropriate
salary grade. However, there is a trend emerging where the agencies are finding that they
are having to negotiate salaries with staff on appointment. In the case of one agency for
example, out of the 30 professional staff currently employed, 17 (57%) started on salaries
higher than the lowest point in the grade. This is a strong signal that starting salaries are
not meeting the expectation in the market place.

17. Furthermore, a number of agencies have examples of completing the selection
process only to find that the recommended candidate declined the position because the
salary package was not competitive. This impacts upon the ability of CROP agencies to

deliver quality services to PICTs and incurs significant cost in terms of both time and
money.
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Retention

18. CROP agencies have lost many excellent staff prior to the expiration of their
contracts to better paying jobs and the agencies are noticing that the number of staff
leaving before expiry is rising. In one agency, 12 staff (40% of total professional staff)
have left over the past 4-5 year period before expiry of their contracts for better career
prospects and terms and conditions. A further two staff completed their contracts but did
not reapply.

19. A major concern among the executive CROP agencies is the knowledge that the

existing CROP salary scale will not retain many of the excellent staff currently serving
with regional organisations.

Analysis of Reference Markets

20. Analysis of the reference markets supports the proposition that the CROP
professional salary scale is becoming less competitive. In 2001 the CROP professional
salary scale was aligned to the median of the Australian public service (APS) sector.
Analysis of the data shows the CROP professional salary scales have fallen significantly
behind the APS benchmark, and are also significantly lower than the New Zealand public
service sectors as illustrated in the following table:

Range NZ Market Aus Market Fiji Market
I -15% -14% 76%
J -25% -27% 51%
K -33% -32%
L -36% -26%
M -39% -24%
21. Whilst there had been significant movements in the reference markets since 2001

the CROP scales have remained static. This had been the principle driver for the inability

by CROP agencies to recruit and retain the calibre of staff they need to deliver the level of
regional service expected of them.

22. It is important to note, that the ability of CROP agencies to deliver quality
services depends very much on the quality of staff they have at their disposal and their
ability to recruit and retain excellent and competent staff. A reasonable salary structure
coupled with reasonable terms and conditions is key in attracting the right people.

23. Taking into account the tax exempt status of some of the CROP agencies staff, it
is clear that the CROP salary scale is lower than that of the Australian and New Zealand
reference markets.
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The CROP Salary Scale

24, Acknowledging that the CROP agencies salary scale has fallen significantly
behind the APS benchmark; that the median of the APS was not affordable; that the
median of the NZ Public Service being even higher than the APS was even less
affordable; and the Fiji salary scale was considered too low to be able to “attract and
retain” the mix of staff required for regional service; ‘the current CROP salary scale plus
the 5% interim adjustment’ is recommended as the new CROP salary scale.

29. The current CROP scale plus the 5% adjustment will be more competitive for
potential candidates to regional positions, but more importantly, it might assist CROP
agencies retain some of the excellent staff currently working in the region.

26. CROP agencies are unanimous in their view that the ‘current CROP scale plus
the 5% adjustment” is closer to where the new CROP salary scale should be.

Financial Implications

Z7. The 5% increase applies to the personnel costs for professional staff onl y. Across
the total agencies’ budget, this translates to between 2 - 2.2 percent increase.

28. To offset the cost of this increase, each of the CROP agencies has, and will
continue to implement further productivity and efficiency saving initiatives to ensure that
the financial impact will not translate into an increase in membership contributions.
Some of these efficiency gains would result from the restructuring of programmes and
services within each agency; moving towards closer inter-agency cooperation and sharing
of services; cutting down on operational costs in its administrative and support services;
reviewing the current selection and recruitment processes; assessing travel; and re-
examining the sick leave provisions and associated accruals.

29, It should also be noted, that over the past years, the CROP agencies have been
proactively driving their cost structures downwards through a large number of initiatives.
This is clearly demonstrated by the fact that the agencies have absorbed inflation
increases without increasing their base-line budgets — increases in membership
contributions have not occurred. None of the savings from these initiatives in the past
three years have been translated into rewards for the CROP staff.

Recommendation

30. The CROP agencies recommend that the WG endorse ‘the current CROP scale
plus the 5% adjustment” to be the new salary scale for CROP agencies. They further
recommend that the WG recommends to the respective Governing Bodies the approval of
this new CROP salary structure with effect from 1 January 2005.
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31.

In making the above recommendation, the CROP agencies:

e  Agree that there will be no increase in membership contributions as a direct
consequence of granting the 5% increase on a permanent basis. This
agreement does not preclude request for increases in membership
contributions based on factors other than the 5% increase;

e Have, and will continue to implement further productivity saving initiatives
through rigorous and regular reviews of their programmes and services as
well as their various administrative processes;

¢ Acknowledge that the 5% increase would to a small extent reduce the gap
between the CROP salary scales and the APS benchmark; and

¢ Note that non-approval of the 5% on a permanent basis could lead to a

deterioration of the current recruitment and retention difficulties faced by
many of the agencies.
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Annex IIT
Comparison of the CROP Professional Staff Salary Scale

Compared to the Reference Markets

The following graph compares the CROP professional staff salary scale compared
to the reference markets of the Australia public service sector, the New Zealand public
service sector and the Fiji all organisations sector.

CROP Professional Salary Scale Compared to Reference Markets

1 ) K L ™M
Ranges
= CROP Medians (SOR) =®=NZ Median Sept 2003 (SDR) AUS Median Dec 2002 (SDR) +4%
[ =" Fijij All Orgs Apr 2003 (SDR) T Linear (Fjij All Orgs Apr 2003 (SDR))

2. The following table shows where the CROP salary scales sit as a percentage of
each of the reference markets:

Grade NZ Market Aus Market Fiji Market

1 -15% -14% 76%
J -25% -27% 51%
K -33% -32%
L -36% -26%
M -39% -24%
3. In making the comparison, the following data and assumptions have been made:

a. The NZ data is that of the New Zealand public service sector as at
September 2003 as provided by Mercer HR Consultants;

b. The Australian data is the Australian public service sector as at December
2002 as provided by Mercer HR Consultants in their 2003 Remuneration
Review Report plus 4% as an estimate of the December 2003 data;
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C.

€.

The Fiji data is the PriceWaterhouseCoopers (PwC) “all organisations” data
sourced from their March 2003 annual survey. This data was converted
from PwC job sizes to the Mercer job sizes by Neil Jury, who advised that
the conversion methodology is not considered to be accurate for job sizes
greater than 800 points. Mercer converted range [ and J, and the remaining
salary range data was extrapolated from these two points;

The SDR has been used as the common currency for the comparison;

The SDR:NZD exchange rate used for the comparison is the average of the
SDR rates for September 2003 (downloaded from the IMF website). The
SDR:AUD exchange rate is the average of the SDR rates for December 2003
(downloaded from the IMF website). And the SDR:FJD exchange rate is the

average of the SDR rates for March 2003 as provided by the Fiji Reserve
Bank.
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Annex IV

Professional Staff Remuneration Arrangements

Professional Staff Remuneration Arrangements - Summary

To provide a fair, equitable and competitive remuneration package

Salary and Benefits

To recruit and retain
talented, skilled and

Relocation Provisions

To assist with adjustments
arising from relocation.

Other Terms and
Conditions
To clearly define
entitlements and provide

. larity t /f
motivated people. clarity to thf;' emp oyment
relationship
Recruitment and Repatriation
Salary Allowances Contract Terms

- Salary on appointment

- Salary review on performance

Benefits

- Superannuation/Provident
fund

- Health insurance

- Life and disability insurance

- Travel on recruitment and
repatriation

- Freight expenses on
recruitment and repatriation

- Establishment allowance
- Accommodation on
recruitment and repatriation

- Repatriation allowance
Family Provisions
- School holiday travel

- Home leave travel

- Duration of contract

- Termination of contract
- Working hours

- Class of travel
Leave

- Annual leave
- Sick leave

- Other leave

Location Specific Provisions
- Apia
- COLDA
- Honiaria
- COLDA
- Retention allowance
- Location allowance
- Annual home leave
- Annual leave - 5 extra days
- Sick leave - 6 extra days
- Noumea
- COLDA
- Child allownce
- Adoption allowance
- Pohnipei
- COLDA

Note: Education and housing allowances are also provided for but have been excluded
from the above table pending completion of the ongoing review (refer paragraph 43).
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Annex V

Support Staff Remuneration Arrangements

Support Staff Remuneration Arrangements - Summary

To provide a fair, equitable and competitive remuneration package

Salary and Benefits

To recruit and retain talented, skilled and
motivated people.

Other Terms and Conditions

To clearly define entitlements and provide
clarity to the employment relationship.

Salary

- Salary on appointment

- Salary review on performance
Benefits

- Superannuation/Provident fund
- Health insurance

- Life and disability insurance

Contract Terms
- Duration of contract
- Termination of contract
- Working hours
- Class of travel
Leave
- Annual leave
- Sick leave
- Other leave
Location Specific Provisions
- Honiaria
- Housing allowance
- Sick leave - 6 extra days
- Noumea
- COLDA
- Child allowance
- Adoption allowance
Organisation Specific Provisions
= SPC

- Net of tax salaries
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Annex VI

Proposed Harmonised Remuneration Arrangements

Professional Staff

Professional Staff Remuneration Arrangements - Detail

To provide a fair, equitable and competitive remuneration package

Arrangement Harmonised Principle Harmonised Practice
Salary
- Salary Scales

To pay equivalent salaries for equivalent
jobs

Salary scales assessed annually compared 10 the
reference markets, in conjunction with
recruitment and retention statistics.

Reference markets Australian Public Service
Sector, New Zealand Public Service Sector and
Fiji All Organisation market.

Salary scales denominated in SDR and paid in
agreed or local currency according to the
average SDR exchange rate in the preceding
period.

- Extemal job sizing

To ensure relative worth of similar positions
across CROP agencies is maintained and
consistent with the market,

Sample of positions across CROP agencies are
validated, sized and cross-validated every three
years

- Recruitment market

To recruit professional stafl from the
market of the Members.

Recruit from the market of the Members subject
to current market supply and donor
requirements.

- Salary on Appointment

To provide flexibility in recruiting preferred
candidate.

At first step or higher level of salary range at
management discretion.

- Salary review on Performance

To motivate and reward for performance

Annual salary adjustments based on
performance.

- Salary on renewal of contract

To provide consistent practice.

Annual salary adjustments based on
performance.

Benefits

- Superannuation/Provident Fund

To provide minimum legal requirement in
host country.

5 - 8% but no lower than minimum legal
requirement of host country

- Health insurance

To provide standard health insurance.

Al management discretion, depending on
schemes and reasonable costs to cover spouses
and dependants.

- Life and disability insurance

To provide standard life insurance.

Term life insurance cover not less than wwice and
not more than three times base salary of staff.

Relocation Provisions

- Travel on recruitment and
repatriation

To enable stafl and dependants to travel 1o
work station and to be repatriated.

Economy air travel and transit costs for stafl
member and accompanying dependants between
agreed home and work station by most direct and
economical route.

- Removal expenses on recruitment
and repatriation

To meet costs for moving personal effects
of staff and dependants 10 work station on
recruitment and to recognised home on
repatriation.

Reasonable removal expenses (packing,
insuring, shipping and unpacking) from place of
recruitment and on end of contract.

On recruitment,

6 cub metres for stalT

P spouse

I... ...  each dependent child.

For repatriation,

8 cub metres for stafl

. spouse

I... ...  eachdependent child.

Or the use of a 20ft container, which ever is the
least cost,
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Professional Staff Remuneration Arrangements - Detail

To provide a fair, equitable and competitive remuneration package

Arrangement Harmonised Principle Harmonised Practice
- Establishment grant To assist with setthng in expenses. SDR1,100 for positions recruited fram outside
locality of the base station.
- Accommodation on arrival and To assist staff and dependants while finding | 6 working days or with management discretion
repatriation suitable accommodation on arrival and prior | upto |12 working days hotel accommodation on

1o repatnation. arrival and up to 6 days on repatriation. Housing

allowance is not paid when accommadation 1s

paid
- Repatriation grant To assist staff from outside base stanon Allowance equivalent to two weeks salary on
settle back in home location. repatriation.

Family Provisions

- School holiday travel To enable parent-child reunion. One economy class retumn airfare per annum for
child to visit stafl member at work station or one
economy class return air fare for staff member or
spouse to visit dependent child studyng
overseas.

- Home leave travel To enable stafl to mainain contact with Return economy class airfares between place of

home environment. employment and home location for staff member
and dependants at the mid point of a three year
contract and on renewal.

Contract Terms

- Duration of contract’ To ensure recruitment and retention of the 3 years renewable subject to annual performance
best person for the position. evaluation. Position to be advertised after 6

years in a post. In the case of Forsec the SG is
giving effect to the Leaders decision on this
1ssue.

- Termination of contract To give lair notice. Minimum ol one month’s nolice.

- Working hours To ensure minimum legal standard. Minimum 37 hours per week at management
disereton.

- Class of travel To ensure cost effective use of resources Normally economy class. Other class of travel
while being mindful of the health and well al the discretion of CEO subject to agency
bemg of stafl. policy.

Leave

- Annual leave To provide for recuperation and recreation 25 days per annum but nat less than the legal
minimum. Maximum accrual is double annual
amount.

- Sick leave’ To provide for leave for illness or accident. | 30 days per annum. Medical cenificate required
for more than 3 consecutive days. Uncertified
sick leave up to a maximum of 8 days per year.
Maximum accrual 90 days.

- Other leave To provide for leave in special Family Leave 6 days per annum including

circumstances. Paternity and Compassionate leave (for

immediate family members only).

Maternity leave — 60 working days alter one
year service.

Special leave or Leave Without Pay ot discretion
of Head of Agency.

Leave to be no less than local legal conditions
and consequential needs of the organisation.

* Clarification has been sought, refer Recommendation 15.
S Subject to review for productivity and efficiency gains.
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Professional Staff Remuneration Arrangements - Detail

To provide a fair, equitable and competitive remuneration package

Arrangement Harmonised Principle

Harmonised Practice

Location Specific Provisions — Apia

- COLDA To provide for cost of living differential
between Suva and location of post.

Suva is used as the base station, with COLDA
being calculated (exclusive of housing) by an
independent agent.

Location Specific Provisions — Honiaria

- COLDA To provide for cost of living differential
between Suva and location of post.

Suva is used as the base station, with COLDA
being calculated (exclusive of housing) by an
independent agent.

- Retention allowances To provide for hard-ship location.
- Location allowance To provide for hard-ship.!ocalion,
- Annual home leave To provide for hard-ship locanon.
- Annual leave To provide for hard-ship location.
- Sick leave To provide for hard-ship location.

Location Specific Provisions - Noumea

- COLDA To provide for cost of living differential
between Suva and location of post.

Suva is used as the base station, with COLDA
being calculated (exclusive of housing) by an
independent agent.

- Child allowance To ensure minimum legal standard.

- Adoption allowance Tao ensure minimum legal standard

Location Specific Provisions — Pohnipei

- COLDA To provide for cost of living differential
between Suva and location of post.

Suva is used as the base station, with COLDA
being calculated (exclusive of housing) by an
independent agent.

Benefits Under Ongoing Review

- Housing Allowance To ensure that stafl have access o a
reasonable standard of housing appropriate
to their position.

Remal assistance of 75% of suitable standard
accommodation. Maximum rates 1o be reviewed
al each location annually.

- Education Allowance To enable stafl to have their dependant
children educated to a recognised and
accepiable standard.

To cover tuition and boarding to specified levels
with fees being claimable against receipts.
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Annex VII

Proposed Harmonised Remuneration Arrangements

Support Staff

Support Staff Remuneration Arrangements - Detail

To provide a fair, equitable and competitive remuneration package

Arrangement Harmonised Principle Harmonised Practice
Salary
- Salary Scales To pay equivalent salaries for equivalent

jobs.

Salary scales assessed annually compared to
upper quartile of the relevant local market.

Salary scales denominated and paid in relevant
local currency.

- External job sizing

To ensure relative worth of similar
positions across CROP agencies is
maintained and consistent with the
market.

Sample of positions across CROP agencies are
validated, sized and cross-validated every three
years.

- Recruitment market

To recrunt support staff from the local
market.

Recruit from the local market

- Salary on Appointment

To provide Mexibility in recruiting
preferred candidate.

Al first step or higher level of salary range at
management discretion

- Salary review on Performance

To motivate and reward for performance.

Annual salary adjustments based on
performance.

- Salary on renewal of contract

To provide consistent practice.

Annual salary adjustments based on
performance.

Benefits

- Superannuation/Provident Fund

To provide at least the minimum legal
requirement in host country.

5 - 8% but no lower than mmimum legal
requirement of host country

- Health insurance

To provide standard health insurance.

At management discretion, depending on
schemes and reasonable costs to cover spouses
and dependants.

- Life and disability insurance

To provide standard life insurance.

Term life insurance cover not less than twice and
not more than three times salary of stafT.

Contract Terms

- Duration of contract

To ensure tenure 15 in-line with the local
market and/or organisational needs

Normally renewable three-year contracts,

subject to organisational needs and funding

- Termination of contract

To give fair notice.

Minimum of one month’s notice except in
exceptional cases such as gross misconduct.

- Working hours

To ensure working hours in line with best
practice in the local market

Minimum 37 hours per week at management
discretion

- Class of travel

To ensure cost effective use of resources
while being mindful of the health and
well being of stafl.

Normally economy class. Other class of travel
al the discretion of CEO subject 10 agency

policy.

Leave

- Annual leave

To ensure annual leave is in-line with best
practice in the local market.

15 - 25 days per annum but not less than the
legal minimum. Maximum accrual is double
annual amount.

- Sick leave To ensure sick leave is in-line with best Not less than local legal conditions. Medical
practice in the local market. certificate required for more than J consecutive
days. Uncentified sick leave up to a maximum
of 8 days per year. Maximum accrual 90 days.
- Other leave To provide for leave in special

circumstances.

Family Leave 6 days per annum including
Paternity and Compassionate leave (for
immediate family members only).

Maternity leave — 60 working days after | yr
service.
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Report of the CROP Harmonisation Working Group — June 2004

Support Staff Remuneration Arrangements - Detail

To provide a fair, equitable and competitive remuneration package

Arrangement

Harmonised Principle

Harmonised Practice

Special leave or Leave Without Pay at discretion
of Head of Agency

Leave to be no less than local legal conditions
and consequential needs of the organisation

Location Specific Provis

ions — Honiaria

- Housing allowance

To ensure minimum legal standard.

- Sick leave

To provide for hard-ship location.

Location Specific Provis

ions — Noumea

- COLDA

To provide for cost of living differential
between Suva and location of post.

Suva is used as the base station, with COLDA
being calculated (exclusive of housing) by an
independent agent.

- Child allowance

To ensure minimum legal standard

- Adoption allowance

To ensure minimum legal standard.

Organisation Specific Provisions - SPC

- Salary scale net of tax

To pay equivalent salaries for equivalent
Jobs taking into account SPCs particular
1ax status.
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials
Pape’ete, French Polynesia
13-16 September 2004

SPREP

Agenda Item 8.2: Triennial Remuneration Review of
SPREP Support Staff

Purpose of Paper

L. To inform the SPREP Meeting on the findings of the consultant’s review and seek
approval to the relevant recommendations.

Background

2. Like professional staff, the terms and conditions of support staff are reviewed every
three years at the same time as professional staff. While CROP professional staff are
reviewed against a common employment or comparator market and share generally
harmonised salary, terms and conditions, CROP support staff are reviewed against the
relevant local employment market from which they are recruited. The CROP agencies
governing bodies have established however that the salary scales of support staff be set to
the 75 percentile range of comparable positions in the relevant local employment market.

The last review was done in 2001 and addressed together with the review for professional
staff.

3. The review for the SPREP support staff was conducted by Betham and Company a
local audit and human resource consulting firm. Their report is attached as Annex I. The
consultants made nine recommendations and suggestions six of which require
consideration and decision by the SPREP Meeting or noting. These are summarised under
paragraph 4 together with the Secretariats comments. Three are addressed to Management

to take up with staff. These have been addressed by Management with staff and the Staff
Committee.

4. The key recommendations of the Reviewer are as follows:

A. Recommendations that Need SPREP Meeting Decision
(i) Salary adjustments
Minimum salaries

It is recommended that the starting base or minimum salaries of all of the five
grades be reviewed for upgrading.

The survey results show that the SPREP minimum starting salaries are below the
75™ percentile cut off point of the market.- Refer APPENDICES 4 and 5.

The suggested salary adjustments are shown in APPENDIX 4(1).
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Maximum salaries

The survey results show that all maximum salaries fall within the 75™ percentile
cut off point and therefore do not need an increase.

Secretariat Comment and Position

Agreed

(ii) Overtime

It is suggested that following the 75" percentile guidelines that SPREP should
extent the maximum salary at which overtime can be paid from $28,600pa to the
top of the maximum of the highest grade of $36,200pa.

Secretariat Comment and Position

Agreed

(ili) Sports leave and retirement allowances

It is suggested that SPREP introduces a provision for sports leave for
representation on national teams for Samoa. Most organizations including the

Public Service provide this for staff representation for national teams up to 4 weeks
on full pay.

While no employer specifically refers to the special tax benefit for retiring
allowance provided for under Section 9 of the Income Tax Act 1974, it is
suggested that SPREP apply this section when ever possible as a benefit to staff
especially in cases of serious illness. To assist with qualifying for this section it is

suggested that for staff serving say 9 years that their contract specifies the word
“retirement” at the end of their service.

Secretariat Comment and Position

The award of both sports leave and retirement allowances are practices drawn
largely from the Samoan Public Service and some national organizations or
companies which naturally serve the national interest in relation to national
representation in sports and are more or less career services with identified
retirement ages and allowances for long and meritorious service to the Public
Service or their organizations until retirement.
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SPREP on the other hand is an international service serving the interests of 25
different countries and territories. Sports leave for its multinational staff, although
it might rarely be applied, would be inappropriate and cumbersome.

In respect of retirement allowances, as the consultant himself pointed out in other
sections of his report, SPREP is not a career service. It is operated on contracted
terms of normally 3 years per term with professional staff serving to a maximum of
two terms. Retirement both in terms of age or allowances is not a relevant Jfactor.

The Consultant's survey also concluded that, overall, in terms of the range and

total benefits, SPREP support staff are more advantaged than other employees in
the market.

The recommendation is therefore not supported

(iv) Review of job titles to fit job duties and review line reporting

responsibilities within organization chart to reflect actual
situation.

It is suggested that a review of duties be done to assess whether the job titles are
appropriate.

Secretariat Comment and Position

Agreed. This process had begun before the review and will continue to cover all

staff.

B. Recommendations that Require No SPREP Meeting
Decisions

(i)  Annual leave/Long service

The Samoan Public Service offers greater long term leave benefits etc but only in
the years of service from 15 years upwards. SPREP is more generous for the lesser
years of service (e.g. SPREP gives 15 working days while the Samoan Public
Service offers 10 days for years of service from 1 to 8 and 15 days from 9 to 14
years of service).

A comparison with the market shows that SPREP is at the top range or
organizations who offer the most attractive annual leave benefits.
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Due to the short term nature of SPREP positions, it is not considered appropriate to
consider long service leave benefits for SPREP staff.

Secretariat Comment and Position

Agreed and noted.

(ii) Incentives for staff who have reached the top of their grades

It is understood that bonuses are offered to staff who have reached the top of their
grades and who have performed well.

This reward is more than what most other organizations give. For most employees
in Samoa (other than those employed in profit making ventures where bonuses are
easily related to monetary results), the only avenue for further increases would be
in general salary increases or promotions.

Secretariat Comment and Position

Agreed and noted.

5 As can be gauged from the report, the nett effect of the consultants main
recommendations on the budget is minimal (no more than WS$24,100 p.a. or US$8,495
p.a) while its impact on support staff morale would be great (they received no adjustment
at the last 3 yearly review). The Secretariat strongly recommends that the SPREP Meeting
adopts the recommendations of the review regarding the upward adjustment of the bottom
of the salary scale to the required 75" percentile of the local market and the upward
adjustment of the salary limit for overtime. To be consistent which what has been done for
professional staff, these become effective from 1 January 2004. The modest cost of

implementing these two measures would be absorbed by the Secretariats budget through
savings and efficiency gains over is operations.

Recommendation

6. That the SPREP Meeting approves:

(i) the upgrading of the minimum salary of all five grades of support staff to the
75™ percentile of the local employment market as stipulated in the Staff
Regulations while the maximum remain at current levels depicted in the
salary table in Attachment 2;

(ii) extension of the current maximum salary at which overtime rates are based
from WST28,600 p.a. to WS$T36,200 p.a; and

(ii1) (i) and (ii) become effective from 1 January 2004.

5 July 2004
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1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This survey follows the terms of reference pursuant to a consultancy agreement
dated April 23, 2004 between the South Pacific Regional Environment Programme
(SPREP) and J T Betham of “Betham & Co" Apia, Samoa. The survey covers the
public and private sector employers in Samoa.

About 40 organizations (including Government Departments and Corporations)
employing about 10,000 workers were included in the survey.

Discussions were held with major employer groups as well as with SPREP

management; staff committee members; and support staff prior to the finalization of
this report.

It is not possible to replicate many exact market positions with the same or similar
job positions for SPREP support staff. This is because of the different nature of job
descriptions and requirements between the market and SPREP for most positions.

Even for jobs with the same or similar job titles, the duties and requirements are not
exactly the same.

Again it was not possible for comparison purposes to determine the level of
incremental steps within a salary scale in the market that would align to the steps

allotted to individual SPREP staff as movements within salary scales depend on job
performance.

Given these constraints, we have compared market salary ranges which pay the
same or similar minimum and maximum SPREP salaries as well as compared
market positions with the same or similar job titles as for SPREP.

The comparison of positions that pay similar salaries to SPREP shows how SPREP
positions rank in terms of seniority to the market notwithstanding that no
comparisons of actual or like positions and duties are made.

Market Survey of SPREP Support Staff Salary Conditions May 2004
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The comparison of positions with similar or same job titles does give some idea of
how the market pays employees for these positions. However there are limitations in
this comparison as well. For example similar or the same job titles does not mean
the same duties and responsibilities as for SPREP positions.

Both comparable basis therefore have limitations as discussed in this report but
these are the only realistic options available. So long as the limitations are
appreciated we feel that the use of these comparisons are not only reasonable but
the only options available under the circumstances.

We have used the 75" percentile cut-off point as meaning that consideration for
comparable purposes should be exactly at the borderline top 75 percentage of salary
ranges. Ranges above and below this cutoff point have not been used to determine

the 75" percentile point but are of course shown for comparable purposes.
These comparisons are illustrated by reference to APPENDICES 3, 4 and 5.

It is important to point out that in arriving at our conclusions we have placed more
emphasis on market position comparisons than on salary range comparisons. The
reason for this is that salary range comparisons refer to different job titles while

market position comparisons relate only to similar or the same job titles as those for
SPREP.

We have not used the UNDP salary rates for comparable purposes as the tax
exempt status of employees in that organization would not normally fall within the
"Apia general market” and “public and private” sectors that are specifically mentioned
in our terms of reference. We understand that other CROP agencies also exclude
tax exempt organizations for salary comparable purposes. Discussions with SPREP
management support the position that it is not appropriate to compare benefits with
UNDP. However we have included it as an Appendix for information purposes only.-
Refer APPENDICES 11(1) and 11(2).

Market Survey of SPREP Support Staff Salary Conditions May 2004
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Notwithstanding the above, some senior support staff in SPREP have referred to
Regulation 3 which is discussed later in this report and wondered whether this
should not be a reason to compare salaries with international organizations such as
UNDP. This matter is discussed further in our report.

It should also be noted that UNDP while not regarded as a normal employer in the
Apia general market nevertheless is a competitor for SPREP positions as is proven
by the movement of some staff from SPREP to UNDP or its sister agencies,
UNESCO and FAO.

If UNDP salaries are taken into account, it is clear that both their minimum and
maximum salaries are significantly in excess of the SPREP gradings especially in

the senior levels. The reason for this is due to the tax exempt status of local staff in
UNDP.

As local diplomatic corps staff are taxable we have made enquiries of those offices.

2 RECOMMENDATIONS
(a) Salary adjustments

It is important to note that notwithstanding our recommendations, it should be noted
that finding a suitable basis for comparison of grades and positions has been difficult

and those that have been used here have limitations as discussed in this report.
Nevertheless the comparisons used here are the only options available given that it

is not possible to obtain a perfect match between SPREP and the market.

It is also important to remember that our comparisons do not include UNDP although
we have commented on the UNDP salaries and have included details in this report..-
Refer APPENDICES 11-1 and 11-2.

Market Survey of SPREP Support Staff Salary Conditions May 2004
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Minimum salaries

It is recommended that the starting base or minimum salaries of all of the five grades
be reviewed for upgrading.

The survey results show that the SPREP minimum starting salaries are below the
75" percentile cut off point of the market.- Refer APPENDICES 4 and 5.

The suggested salary adjustments are shown in APPENDIX 4(1).

Maximum salaries

For the maximum salaries, the survey results show that all maximum salaries fall
within the 75" percentile cut off point and therefore do not need an increase.
Please refer to APPENDIX 4(1) for the suggested salary structure.

Comparison with similar salary ranges in the market

A comparison of the SPREP existing and proposed salary structure guidelines with
market salary ranges as shown in APPENDIX 3 shows what positions in the market
are paid the salaries that SPREP offers.

These position salaries may be compared to SPREP as a general perspective of
how different positions are paid. For example, SPREP's minimum salary for F3 is
more than the minimum salary for a Police Superintendent or the principal Dental
Officer in the Health ministry. SPREP’s maximum salary for F3 is more than that for

the Police Deputy Commissioner or an experienced qualified lawyer.

SPREP's salary range for F2 is more than what some qualified accountants and
lawyers are paid.

Market Survey of SPREP Support Staff Salary Conditions May 2004
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Monetary or quantitative values for salary adjustments.

It is considered prudent that no final or definitive recommendations on the quantum
of the adjustments for the minimum rates be made at this stage until SPREP has had
an opportunity to review this report and to consider the wider implications (including
reaction of staff at the higher steps of each grade who may receive a
disproportionate or smaller adjustments) of any amendments.

It is clear that the implications of any adjustment at the lower end of the salary scale
without a proportionate corresponding one at the top needs more time than is

available in this assignment to consider properly the effects on staff and salary
policies.

However as an example of how the adjustments can be structured within the existing
salary gradings, we have included in APPENDIX 4(1) some guidelines on what the
final salary scales might look like following the survey results and our conclusions
from those results. The final adjustments will need further refinement and review
after SPREP have fully considered this report.

Total annualized increased salary costs of these adjustments is $20,731-refer
APPENDIX 4(2).

(b) Overtime

It is suggested that following the 75" percentile guidelines that SPREP should extent
the maximum salary at which overtime can be paid from $28,600pa to the top of the
maximum of the highest grade of $36,200pa.

(c) Annual leave/lLong service

The Samoan Public Service offers greater long term leave benefits etc but only in the
years of service from 15 years upwards. SPREP is more generous for the lesser
years of service (e.g. SPREP gives 15 working days while the Samoan Public
Service offers 10 days for years of service from 1 to 8 and 15 days from 9 to 14
years of service).

Market Survey of SPREP Support Staff Salary Conditions May 2004
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A comparison with the market shows that SPREP is at the top range or organizations
who offer the most attractive annual leave benefits.

Due to the short term nature of SPREP positions, it is not considered appropriate to
consider long service leave benefits for SPREP staff.

(d) Incentives for staff who have reached the top of their grades

It is understood that bonuses are offered to staff who have reached the top of their
grades and who have performed well.

This reward is more than what most other organizations give. For most employees in
Samoa (other than those employed in profit making ventures where bonuses are

easily related to monetary results), the only avenue for further increases would be in
general salary increases or promotions.

(e) Sports leave and retirement allowances

Itis suggested that SPREP introduces a provision for sports leave for representation
on national teams for Samoa. Most organizations including the Public Service
provide this for staff representation for national teams up to 4 weeks on full pay.

While no employer specifically refers to the special tax benefit for retiring allowance
provided for under Section 9 of the Income Tax Act 1974, it is suggested that
SPREP apply this section when ever possible as a benefit to staff especially in cases
of serious iliness. To assist with qualifying for this section it is suggested that for staff

serving say 9 years that their contract specifies the word “retirement” at the end of
their service.

(f) Interpretation of Regulation 3

As staff have raised the question of whether SPREP staff salaries should be
compared to those of other international organizations such as UNDP, it is
suggested that SPREP clarify the correct interpretation of Regulation 3 (in terms of
CROP and SPREP policies) to staff and amend the section so that there is no
ambiguity.

Market Survey of SPREP Support Staff Salary Conditions May 2004




1 5SM/Officials/WP.8.2/Att. 1
Page 10

(g) Meal allowances

It is suggested that the meal allowance rate of $10 be increased to say $15 to

accommodate price increases since the original rate was struck some time ago.

(h) Review of job titles to fit job duties and review line reporting

responsibilities within organization chart to reflect actual situation

It is suggested that a review of duties be done to assess whether the job titles are
appropriate.

In at least one case of "Customs Clerk" the job title does not seem to reflect duties
as presented by the staff member-Refer APPENDIX 10. The actual duties as
provided by the staff member concerned are different from the official list of duties.

Subject to this list being confirmed by management, it does appear that the customs
duties represent only one portion of the many other important responsibilities that
this person attends to. The problem with inaccurate job title labeling is that it
increases the risk of salary comparison errors.

In fairness to the incumbent of this position the job title “Customs clerk” may convey
a less senior position that what it really should be. It is therefore possible that in this
case, an inaccurate job title or understanding of duties may have adversely affected
this employee's salary reviews and grading placement. It is therefore suggested that
this position duties, job description, and salary grading be reviewed.

The list of duties for Receptionist/Fax Operator conveys a relatively junior position
and accordingly would affect the salary grading especially when salary comparisons
are made. It would be useful to review the actual duties carried out for this position

and where appropriate re-consider the description of the job title.

Another matter to review is the placement of the position of “Administration Manager”
in the organization chart. The SPREP organization chart shows that the
Administration Manager reports to a Senior Administration Officer (position vacant
now) who in turn reports to the Business Support Manager.

Market Survey of SPREP Support Staff Salary Conditions May 2004
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The official list of duties however states that the Administration Manager reports to
the Director and Deputy Director under the supervision of the Business Support

Manager thereby bypassing the position of Senior Administration Officer altogether.

It is suggested that the placement of this position in the organization chart be
reviewed as there may not be a need for a Senior Administration Manager.

Because of the salary grading and position within the organization chart for this
position, the salary comparison has focused on Administration Officers excluding the
top Administration positions who report directly to the Chief Executive Officers. The

latter in very large organizations would earn salaries beyond the maximum shown in
grade 3 or the SPREP gradings.

Other large private organizations pay more that $36,200pa which is the top step in
Grade 3 for SPREP for the top Administration position.

It is therefore suggested that this person's actual responsibilities relative to her
position within the organization chart and therefore on salary grading be reviewed.

Inappropriate recognition of the importance of job responsibiliies may have
contributed to the recent loss of the Maintenance Tradesman who is leaving SPREP
for a starting salary of $18,000pa at his new employer compared to the $13,700pa
he is earning in SPREP. A review of this person's qualifications and experience (e.g.
qualified tradesman in plumbing and electrical work) would suggest that the title
should be upgraded to include the word "Qualified “ or “Skilled"” assuming that
SPREP requires someone of this quality.

It is also suggested that a review be made of whether or not the vacant position of
Property Services Officer is really needed given the possibility of using or upgrading
some of the other positions to fill the gap. E.g. Property Supervisor. Continuation of
a position which may be redundant will not do justice to the positions below that level
and may result in those lower level employees performing by default or design, some
of the responsibilities intended for the higher position but not being paid for those

duties due to their placement within the organization chart.

Market Survey of SPREP Support Staff Salary Conditions May 2004
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(i) Concerns and suggestions raised by staff at meeting between
J T Betham and staff on May 17, 2004

It is suggested that SPREP take on board the concerns and suggestions raised by
staff and not covered elsewhere in this report for further review. These matters are
shown in the last page of this report.

3 COMPARISONS OF MINIMUM AND MAXIMUM SALARY
RANGES FOR SIMILAR POSITIONS BETWEEN THE
SAMOAN PUBLIC SERVICE AND SPREP.

For comparative purposes this analysis is presented in APPENDIX 12.

It is useful to have this information as Government despite a lower salary package is
nevertheless a competitor as it does provide other attractions not reflected in the
salary such as study leave; training trips; long term job security and benefits. (note

there is a review of Government remuneration under way but not completed)

This comparison shows that SPREP salary levels remain more attractive than that
for the Samoan Public Service and to this extent it supports the general observations

included earlier in the report that SPREP salaries are generally competitive with the
market.

It should be remembered that duties and responsibilities are not necessarily identical
between the two entities for the same position descriptions and that Government

offers other benefits not provided for by SPREP especially in long term benefits and
study leave.
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4. SALARY COMPARISONS WITH INTERNATIONAL
ORGANIZATIONS

In the terms of reference for this report, it is specifically mentioned that the survey
cover the Apia general market including public and private sector employers. It is
reasonable to assume that salaries are expected to be subject to income tax within
the general employment market. This is supported by the fact that all salaries in

Samoa are subject to income tax with the exception of the United Nations agencies
local staff.

Discussions with SPREP management indicated that it is their view that comparisons
with international organizations such as UNDP are not appropriate as their salaries

are tax exempt and therefore do not fall within the general definition of the Apia
general market.

We also understand that other CROP agencies do not include tax exempt

international organizations for local support staff salary comparison purposes.

However some local support SPREP staff in our discussions have referred to clause
3 of the Staff Regulations. This regulation states that all members of the staff of
SPREP are international civil servants and that their responsibilities are not national
but exclusively international. Accordingly they have enquired as to whether this
justifies salary comparisons with international organizations in Samoa.

It is for SPREP to advise on the correct interpretation of the above regulation. The
regulation may simply mean that staff are responsible to an international
organization and this seems to be supported by the last sentence in this section
where it is stated that staff “pledge themselves to discharge their functions and to
regulate their conduct with the interests of SPREP only in view".

There are wide implications in extending the interpretation of this section to
international or tax free organizations for purposes of salary comparisons or
determination.
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As staff have raised this issue it is suggested that SPREP clarify the correct
interpretation of this section in terms of CROP policies to staff and amend the
section so that there is no ambiguity.

We have attached the current UNDP salary scales in APPENDICES 11(1) and 11(2).

If the UNDP salary scale is used for comparison purposes, there would need to be
further upward adjustments made to SPREP salaries.

Because local staff in other international organizations are subject to income tax we
did include the diplomatic corps offices in our survey.

5 GENERAL CONCLUSIONS OF SALARY COMPARISONS WITH
MARKET INDICATORS

The following conclusions and observations can be drawn from a review of the
above methods of comparison:

For all SPREP salary scales the current minimum salaries fall behind the 75"
percentile point or borderline of the market.

However, the maximum SPREP salary levels are the same as the 75" percentile
cutoff point.

There is therefore a case for SPREP to review the minimum or starting salary scales

upwards or to accelerate the increments in order to move closer towards parity with
the market.

It is however acknowledged that such an upgrade at the minimum levels or
increment accelerations would have repercussions on the next steps right to the top
as well as on the procedures for salary advancement.
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Any such review would also have to take into account the fact that there is a
compensating factor in favour of current SPREP staff in that the higher salary steps
or maximum salaries are similar or higher than the market indicators.

Therefore any adjustments would need to be carefully considered in the wider

context of the total salary range and annual reward policy before implementation.

| do not believe it is wise to make any definitive recommendations on the quantum of
the adjustments at this stage untii SPREP has had an opportunity to review this
report and to consider the wider implications of any amendments.

However we have shown in APPENDIX 4(1) an example of how the adjustments
may be structured.

6 PERFORMANCE SALARY ADJUSTMENTS

SPREP provides rewards for service of up to two increments a year based on the
relevant salary scale. Our experience with the market and as practiced also by the

Samoa Public Service indicates that the same or similar procedures are adopted
there.

7 PAYMENT OF BONUSES

Not many employers aside from profit making organizations pay bonuses and

therefore SPREP's bonus scheme is considered an attraction not readily available
elsewhere.

8 NUMBER OF SALARY STEPS

SPREP current salary scale provides for 9 incremental steps. This is similar to other
organizations. For example the biggest single employer, the Samoan Public Service
provides for five steps within each scale but sometimes two scales overlap for a
position so that effectively there are 10 incremental steps.
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9 OVERTIME

SPREP current policies are the same for most employers surveyed and this is
probably because the minimum conditions on rates and hours worked are governed
by the provisions of the Labour and Employment Act 1972 of Samoa.

In one respect however, SPREP is not competitive and that is the maximum salary at
which overtime can be paid. For SPREP that annual salary maximum is $28,600pa.
For the Samoan Public Service the annual salary rate is about $32,384 which is just
below the special contract rate. Other employers pay overtime for positions with
annual salaries as high as $38,000pa.

It is accordingly suggested that following the 75" percentile guidelines that SPREP
should extent the maximum salary at which overtime can be paid from $28,600pa to
the top of the maximum of the highest grade of $36,200pa.

10 INCENTIVES FOR STAFF WHO HAVE REACHED THE TOP OF
THEIR GRADES

Incentives for staff who have reached the top of their grades but who cannot
advance further because of incompatibility due to lack of qualifications or ability etc
are fairly restricted. In the Public Service the incentives are provided for by long
service benefits such as long term leave entitiements etc.

SPREP's practice in paying bonuses is therefore considered a benefit not usually
available in the market place in Samoa.

Other common incentives for staff who are unable to advance beyond the top of their

grades are token gifts especially where such staff have served for long periods of
time.

These gifts while inexpensive do mean a lot to staff and are a great morale booster
as well as further incentives for other staff to strive for the same goals.
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11 ANNUAL LEAVE ENTITLEMENTS COMPARISONS

A survey of 21 organizations employing in total staff numbers of about 6,500

(including 5,500 of the Public Service) for annual leave entitlements is shown in
APPENDIX 7.

This survey indicates that using the 75™ percentile criteria, SPREP offers the same
or better annual leave entitlements for the first years up to about 10 to 15 years.
After this period, SPREP’s annual leave entittements are not as attractive when
compared to the market. However this is understandable given the short term nature
of SPREP local support staff employment contracts.

If it is considered that because SPREP’s employment conditions for support staff,
employees are not employed for long term periods (say in excess of 9 years) then

there is no compelling need to change SPREP’s current leave entitlements.

12 SICK LEAVE ENTITLEMENTS

Compared to the market, SPREP sick leave entittements are more generous

especially when coupled with the benefits relating to medical cover and personal
accident and disability insurance.

Market Survey of SPREP Support Staff Salary Conditions May 2004




15SM/Officials/ WP.8.2/Att.1
Page 18

14 CURRENT SPREP SUPPORT STAFF BENEFITS

A survey was done on the benefits in the market and a comparison to what SPREP
currently offers made. Refer APPENDIX 6 that summarizes the findings.

A separate section is devoted to Paternity, Maternity and sick leave provisions.

This comparison shows that with the one exception of maximum salary levels at

which overtime is paid, SPREP fares the same or better than the market for the
listed benefits.

Recommendations to change SPREP's maximum level of salary for overtime
purposes are made in the earlier sections of this report.

15 MATERNITY AND PATERNITY (COMPASSIONATE)
LEAVE PROVISIONS

Please refer to APPENDIX 8 for the results of our survey.

The findings in our survey indicate that SPREP is more generous in all of these

benefits than what is generally available in the employment market in Samoa
including the Public Service.

16 BENEFITS THAT SPREP DOES NOT OFFER

Benefits that are available for some employees including public servants but are not
specifically provided for in the SPREP staff regulations are shown in APPENDIX 9.

These are sports leave; long service leave; retirement and resignation leave
provisions.

It is suggested that SPREP introduces a provision for sports leave for representation
on national teams for Samoa.

While no employer specifically refers to the special tax benefit for retiring allowance
provided for under Section 9 of the Income Tax Act 1974, it is suggested that
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SPREP apply this section when ever possible as a benefit to staff especially in cases
of serious iliness. To assist with qualifying for this section it is suggested that for staff

serving say 9 years that their contract specifies the word “retirement” at the end of
their service.

17 STAFF DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

It is difficult to justify recommending that benefits which the Public Service offers in

terms of long periods of study leave on full pay and training courses sponsored by
overseas agencies be also offered by SPREP.

This is because of the special short term nature of employment contracts for SPREP

and the uncertainty of cashing in on the investment of a long term training period for
staff.

In house; on the job; and short training courses available locally and regionally are
probably therefore the best options for SPREP.

18 CONCERNS RAISED BY STAFF AT OUR MEETING ON
MAY 17, 2004

The following concerns and/or suggestions were raised by some staff during our
above meeting.

(a) Salary comparisons should be with other CROP countries as SPREP is not a

local organization but an international one as stipulated under Regulation 3.

(b)  Salary reviews should be done annually.
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(c) Maternity leave should be allowed to be taken in advance after six months
service.

(d) Education allowance should be extended to support staff as they face the
same expense requirements as do professional staff.

(e) SPREP should provide the bus service to and from work free and the $1
charge cancelled.

(f) List of duties be updated to reflect actual work being currently carried out
and/or job descriptions be reviewed to match list of duties. In particular the

Customs clerk provided a list of actual duties not reflected in his official list. —
Refer APPENDIX 10.

Similarly the Registry Management Assistant and the Receptionist/Fax Operator
complained that their job descriptions do not properly reflect the importance of the
actual responsibilities being undertaken.

It is suggested that SPREP take on board these concerns and suggestions for
further review.
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SPREP Support Staff Benefits ~ Appendix 2
As of review - April 2004
QOvertime (for all support | Payable up to the maximum step of Grade F2 ($28,600) Reg. 18
staff) (i) one and a half time the normal hourly rate for days other than public
holidays and Sundays; and

(i) double time for Sundays and public holidays.

Driver/messenger, Gardener, Handyman and Teaperson/Cleaner is Reg. 17 (c)

required to work either 40hrs a week or 8hrs a day before overtime rate

applies.

Reg. 18 (c

Meal allowance ($10) for more than 6hrs work on a non-working day or 9-18(c)

beyond 6.30pm on a full working day.

Transport assistance for more than 1hr's overtime on a normal working Reg. 18/29

day and during weekends and public holidays. Staff are entitled to SPREP
transport if available, reimbursable taxi fare or personal transport
reimbursement at prevailing public transport rates.

Performance increments

Evaluated annually and awarded on highly satisfactory performance

Reg. 20(f)(i)

Increment in recognition | Equivalent o one step on support staff attaining additional formal Reg. 20(f)(ii)
of permanent increases qualification
in formal skill levels
Performance bonus For support staff who have reached maximum of grade, Director may on Reg. 20(g)
annual assessment of highly satisfactory performance award as a non
permanent increase in salary a bonus not exceeding 5% of current salary
Annual leave 15 working days per annum, accumulating up to 50 working days subject Reg. 25
to Director’'s approval.
Sick leave 30 working days per annum, after one year service, accumulating up to 90 | Reg. 26
(same to all staff) days. Uncertified sick leave however is limited to 6 days a year.
Maternity leave 60 working days, after one year service on full pay, to be taken not more Reg. 27 (a)
(same to all staff) than 30 days before and after confinement date.
Family leave Not more than 5 days per situation or maximum of 6 days in one year plus | Reg. 27 (b)
(Compassionate and minimal travel time outside or within Samoa. Leave applies towards
Paternity) immediate family members only (such as spouse, children, parents or birth
(same to all staff) of a male staff member).
Examination leave Leave credit to attend/sit an examination is awarded upon successful Reg. 27 (e)
passing an examination towards an approved course of studies directly
relevant to officer's duties.
Training Priority is given to support staff, where deemed necessary in the interests | Reg. 32 (j)
(same to all staff) of SPREP, to undertake training in areas directly related to their duties and
advancement. Reimbursement of training or course fees is awarded on
successful completion.
Life Insurance Policy Term life cover equivalent to twice salary for staff member.
(same to all staff)
Personal Accident and Cover for personal accident and disability Reg. 32 (a)
disability Insurance
(same to all staff)
Medical cover For staff and dependents — cover local medical consultation, Reg. 32 (c)
(same to all staff) pharmaceutical benefits and overseas medical evacuation and treatment
(subject to certain conditions) outpatient. Includes optical, and dental
Superannuation/ NPF SPREP subsidy of 7% of salary. Reg. 32(f)
(same to all staff)
Protective Gear For maintenance and cleaning staff

Reg. 32(h) &
(i)
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COMPARISON OF SPREP POSITIONS WITH 75% POSITION OF MARKET

GRADE
F3

F1

D/E

B/C

SPREP

75% POSITION IN MARKET
PROPOSED

% salary increase

SPREP

75% POSITION IN MARKET
PROPOSED

% salary increase

SPREP

75% POSITION IN MARKET
PROPOSED

% salary increase

SPREP

75% POSITION IN MARKET
PROPOSED

% salary increase

SPREP

75% POSITION IN MARKET
Proposed

%0 salary increase
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PROPOSED SALARY STRUCTURE GUIDELINES-APPENDIX 4(1)

MINIMUM % MAXIMUM %
23,400.00 70 36,200.00 84
25,000.00 75 32,384.00 75
25,000.00 75 36,200.00 84

7% 1% 0% 0%

MINIMUM % MAXIMUM %
18,400.00 72 28,600.00 91
19,176.00 75 23,663.00 75
19,176.00 75 28,600.00 91

4% 4% 0% 0%

MINIMUM % MAXIMUM %
12,800.00 62 20,000.00 83
15,553.00 75 18,000.00 75
15,552.00 75 20,000.00 83

22% 22% 0% 0%

MINIMUM % MAXIMUM %

8,200.00 74 12,800.00 96
8,300.00 75 10,000.00 75
8,304.00 75 12,800.00 96
1% 1% 0% 0%
MINIMUM % MAXIMUM %
5,200.00 70 ~ 8,200.00 111
5,544.00 75 5,544.00 75
5,544.00 75 8,200.00 11
7% 7% 0% 0%
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Computation of annual increased costs as a result of salary adjustments-APPENDIX 4(2)
SPREP support staff Increased
Minimum Point2 Point3 Point4 Polnt5 Pointé Point7  Point 8 Maximum costs pa
Grade F3 Current $23,400 $25,000 $26,600 $28,200 $29,800 $31 A00  $33,000 $34,600 $36,200
Suggested $25,000 $26,400 $27,800 $29,200 $30,600 $32,000 $33,400 $34,800 $36,200
Couper, Ruta $600 $600
Efi, Apiseta $800 $800
Masina -Hadley, Malama $600 $600
Tuailemafua, Siuli $0 $0
% Increase 7% 6% 5% 4% 3% 2% 1% 1% 0%
F2 Current $18,400 $19675 $20,950 $22,225 $23,500 $24,775 $26,050 $27,325 $28,600
Suggested $19,176 $20,354 $21,532 $22,710 $23,888 S$25066 $26,244 $27,422 $28,600
Fruean, Pauline £776 5776
Lui, Tania $291 291
Onesemo-Simaika, Nifo $582 $582
Silulu, Lupe $0 $0
% Increase 4% 3% 3% 2% 2% 1% 1% 0% 0%
F1 Current $12,800 $13,700 $14,600 $15500 $16,400 $17,300 $18,200 $19,100 $20,000
Suggested $15,552 $16,108 $16,664 $17.220 $17,776 $18,332 $18,888 $19,444 $20,000
Ah Kuoi- Tuilagi, Helen $2,408 $2,408
Aiolupotea -Enosa, A $688 $668
€hong-Wong, Runj 41, $1,032 $1,032
Foaga,-Gatatasi-Tino- $2,408 $2,408
Fruean, Therasa §2,408 $344 $2,752
Geluvao-Rosanna 5344 $344
“loane Su'a; Fititagr- $2,752 $2,752
Matau, Saunoa $0 $0
Nickal, Viola-Alisa \ $344 $344
Tiedemanm, Chistepher ' 1111 $2,064 $2,064
Williams, Miraneta $0 0
% Increase 22% 18% 14% 1% B% 6% A% 2% 0%
DE Current $8,200 $8,775 $9,350 $9,925 $10500 $11,075 $11650 $1 2,225 $12,800
Suggested $8,304 58,866 $9,428 $9.980 $10,552 S11,114 $11676 $1 2,238 $12,800
Fonoti, Faamanu $0 $0 -
Sititi, Faamanatu $91 891
Tuulua, Filifilia $104 $104
Ualolo-Tupai, Monica 50 $0
% Increase 1% 1% 1% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
B/C Current $5200 $5575  $5.950 $6,325 $6,700 §7,075 $7450 $7.825 $8,200
Suggested $5,544 $5,876 $6,208 $6,540 $6,872 $7,204 $7,536 $7,868 $8,200
Gafa, Silupe $129 $129
Levu, Sione $344 $344
Tooloo, Amosa $86 $86
% Increase T% 5% 4% 3% 3% 2% 1% 1% 0%
Total $19,195
Add ACB $192
Add NPF $1,344

Total additional annual costs $20,731
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Market Indicators Annual leave entitlements-Appendix 7

A total of 21 organisations were surveyed including the Public Service
A total of 8500 employees were covered in this survey including about 5,500 Public Service employees.

Annual leave pa Sick leave pa
% or Organisations % or Organisations
who provided who provided
65
Year 1- 10 working days 5
Year 2- 15 working days 15
Year 8 upwards-20 working days 5
10
Years 1 to 7 -10 working days
Years 8 upwards- 20 working days 5
5
Years 1 to 9- 10 working days
Years 10 upwards- 20 working days 5
For senior staff above level of cleaners,
nightwatchman, messengers etc- 15 days
For less senior staff- 10 working days 18
For all staff except Managers- 10 working days 5
For senior staff- 20 to 25 working days
For junior staff- 15 working days 23
1-4 years- 10 working days
5-9 years-15 working days
10-14 years-20 working days
15 years and more- 25 working days 5
1-5 years- 10 working days
6-10 years-15 working days
11 years and over-20 working days 5
1-10 years- 10 working days
11 years and over- 15 working days plus
3 additional days for every year of completed
service 5
Regardless of years of service-10 days 19
Public Service
1 1o 8 years of service-10 days
9to 14 years of service-15 days
15 years and over-20 days
(excludes long service leave) 5
100 100
SPREP entitlements

15 days pa and accumulating to 50 days

Percentage in number of employees
Govemment 75%
Others 25%
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Appendix 8
Survey on Maternity and Paternity Leave benefits-May 2004

1 Number of organizations surveyed and employees included

A survey of maternity/paternity leave benefits in relation to twenty-one organizations
in Samoa was carried out by our firm and updated recently. These organizations,
including the largest employers, employ over 9,000 workers in total and in terms of
numbers represent the majority of formally paid employees in Samoa. The Public
Service Commission included in the survey employs about 5,500 workers.

2 Results of survey
The statistical results of this Survey are summarized in this report.

3 Types of organizations surveyed

The following types and number of organizations are included in this Survey.

Type of organization Number included

Professional Public Accounting firm

Educational Tertiary Institutions

Church/Educational institutions

Insurance/Superannuation/Compensation Funds

Samoa Public Service

Airline Company

Shipping Company

General Merchants

Manufacturing Companies

Public Utilities

Parts Assembly Company

Financial Institution

==t b = = [ | = [B |

Total number of organizations

3 Maternity and/or Paternity Leave

It should be noted that these types of leave are not accumulated (i.e. they are paid only
when an employee has a child born); are normally given after one year’s service, and
are not paid cash in lieu. Paternity and Maternity leave are not given to a husband and
wife who are both employed by the same employer. In these instances, it is assumed
that the relatively greater benefit, which is maternity leave, will be taken by the wife
with the husband having to resort to other types of leave such as annual leave.

Of the twenty-one organizations surveyed the majority (13 or 62% ) provided paid
maternity leave... In relation therefore to SPREP conditions for these benefits, SPREP
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easily falls within the 75" percentile of the number of employers who pay maternity
leave. SPREP is more generous than the Public Service in its Maternity leave
provisions '. Only SPREP and the National University of Samoa pay up to 60 days on
full pay for maternity leave. It is understood that other tertiary/educational institutions
also pay generous maternity leave entitlements.’

However in contrast, 14 employers or 66 percent did not provide any paid paternity
leave

Accordingly for paternity leave SPREP is more generous than most of the
organizations surveyed with the one exception of the National University of Samoa
where paternity leave is the same as maternity leave benefits..

The number of days granted for maternity leave ranged from as low as 10 days to as
high as 60 days paid leave per. annum. The Public Service grants up to 40 working

days for maternity leave with pay but may grant up to an additional 4 months but
without pay.

The National University of Samoa (NUS) is the most generous in terms of these
benefits. They grant a female employee maternity leave on full pay up to a maximum
of 60 days and in special circumstances, the Vice Chancellor may grant up to a total

of 4 months leave on full pay. NUS also grants paternity leave on full payupto a
maximum of 60 days.

The following table summarize the percentage of organizations that offered various
types of leave .

Number and percentage of organizations that offered various lengths of long
service leave. (Table 1).

Maternity No of Percentage of  Paternity No of Percentage of

leave organizations Organizations leave organizations Organizations
days pa Days pa

None 8 38% None 14 66%
10 days pa 2 10% 2 days 2 10%
15dayspa 1 5%

20 dayspa 4 19% 3 days 2 10%
25dayspa 1 5% 5 days 2 10%
30 dayspa 1 5% 60 days | 4%
40 days pa 3 13%

60 days pa 1 5%

4 Conclusions

! SPREP pays up to 60 days on full pay for maternity leave while the Samoan Public Service pays up to
only 40 days on full pay.

% Samoa Polytechnic also pays 60 days while the University of the South Pacific is understood to pay
even more.
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The above tables show that:

*  The majority of employers in number or sixty six percent of those surveyed do
not offer paternity leave

®  Given that the Samoa Public Service Commission does not offer paternity
leave, therefore in terms of the number of employees, the majority of
employees in Samoa therefore do not also have access to paternity leave
benefits. Paternity leave is therefore not generally expected as a standard
employment benefit in Samoa.

* SPREP is therefore more generous in this respect than the majority of

employers surveyed and the majority of the number of employees covered in
this report..

= The number of paternity leave days granted ranged from a low of 4 days to 10
days with the average being 3 days per annum. However one tertiary
institution offers 60 days.

*=  SPREP’s allowance of 5 days is therefore above the average and is at the top
range with the one exception of the National University of Samoa.

= The majority of employers and employees, including the Public Service
Commission participate in maternity leave benefits. Of the employers
surveyed, sixty two percent provided some sort of maternity leave.

® Maternity leave is therefore generally expected as a standard employment
benefit in Samoa.

s The average number of days of maternity leave provided is 10 day while the
number of days granted ranged from 10 to 60 days per occasion. SPREP pays
at the top of the range of 60 days.
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Appendix 9

Benefits which SPREP does not provide or are not specifically
mentioned in Support Staff regulations. Some organizations in
Samoa provide these benefits.

Benefit Details
Sports leave where employee | The Samoan Public Service which col lectively employs most
participates as a Samoan workers (about 5,500) provides that in special circumstances, the
National representative for a HOD will grant special leave with or without pay. Circumstances
sports event. such as national participation in sporting teams, graduation ceremony

etc. In a survey of 20 other organizations(representing 1,480
employees) it was disclosed that 35% of them did provide this type
of leave for up to 4 weeks and purely on a discretional basis with
special approval by the Manager.

Long service leave. It is Some major organizations including the Public Service provide this
understood that due to the benefit.

contractual nature of SPREP
employee conditions, this type
of leave incentive is not
required.

Retirement leave and Only the Public Service provides this type of leave.
resignation leave for
employees who have
completed 10 years or more of
continuous service

Tax benefit for retiring Provision is available under the tax laws of Samoa for taxation of
allowance under Section 9 of | only 5% of the specified sum of a retiring allowance under certain
the Income Tax Act 1974. conditions even if the employee’s age is below 55 years for males

and 50 years for females. Because the criteria for qualification for
this benefit is subject to the Tax Act and the Commissioner of Inland
Revenue discretion, it is not practicable to include this in staff
regulations. However it is worthwhile for SPREP exploring this
option especially where the employee has reached retirement in
accordance with the terms of the contract of employment or where
employment has been terminated due to serious illness or permanent
disability. No employers in Samoa specifically allow for this but
some do negotiate successfully with the tax authorities (e.g.
retirement in the case of illness) when the event does occur.
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APPENDIX 10

CUSTOMS CLERK POSITION - DUTIES AS GIVEN BY EMPLOYER
MAY 17, 2004

Duties I’ve been doing for the past two years to date and not shown in my present Duty
Statement:

Certify overtimes, annual/sick leaves of those staff under my supervision
Prepare/Certify Purchase Orders, Request for Payments, Petty Cash for relevant
maintenance works

e Obtain/Assess and recommend quotes for all maintenance quotes done by outside
contractors

¢ Ensure jobs meet requirements of the service agreement and raise/process/follow up
relevant payments

e Coordinate the planning and implementation of the work plan of the Maintenance
Tradesman

e Check/Certify invoices for EPC, water, spring waters supply, rubbish collecting by
outside contractor, gasoline for all SPREP vehicles, cell Phones, security company,
lawnmower company :
Report on any damaged tools/assets and recommend possible placement
Prepare Annual Personal Evaluation Report of staff under my supervision
Report/Recommend Estimated Cost of proposed jobs to be included in Annual
Budget

e  Assist with arrangements for SPREP Meetings and Workshops

2. As recommended by your company during the last review, SPREP need to review job titles
to make it easier for your company to compare to the market.

3. In may case, I believe there is a need to have a serious look at my list of
duties/responsibilities before considering a suitable title.

4. During my Annual Report Evaluation (refer attached copies) in the past few years, my
superiors recommended some of the job titles i.e. Maintenance Supervisor, Administration
Assistant and Property Services Officer for this position to at least reflect the range of duties
and responsibilities carried out.

5. Finally, if no other suitable title, then I suggest to seriously consider the redesignation of
this position to something like Shipping/Customs Officer instead of the current job title
Customs Clerk, to at least reflect the reality and scope of work I'm doing.

Faamanu Fonoti
Customs Clerk
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials

Pape’ete, French Polynesia
13-16 September 2004

SPREP

Agenda Item 9: Recommendations of the Joint Task Force on
SPREP Core Services and Budget

Purpose of Paper

1. To provide the SPREP Meeting with the main conclusions of the Joint Task Force on

SPREP Core Services and Budget and to seek approval of these
conclusions/recommendations.

Background

Z. At the 14" SPREP Meeting (Apia, 8 — 12 September), the Secretariat proposed and the
Meeting agreed, to the formation of a Joint Task Force (JTF) of SPREP members and the
Secretariat “to agree on a clear definition of the core functions of the organisation” the
outcome of which should result in “allowing the organization to put these functions on a more
secure basis”. The Secretariat had raised this proposal in the context of the new SPREP
strategic programmes and the 2004 work programme and budget, both adopted by the
Meeting, and the occasional differences that arise from varying interpretations by the
Secretariat and some members of the meaning of core functions set by the Financial

Regulations that govern both the financial and budgetary administration of the Secretariat’s
work.

3. For practical and cost effective reasons it was agreed that the core of the JTF be
formed of those members represented in Apia — Australia, New Zealand, Samoa, Tokelau and
the United States of America — plus representatives from American Samoa, Federated States

of Micronesia, Fiji and Kiribati to provide a representative cross-section of membership
views.

4, The JTF was accordingly convened by the Secretariat and took place at SPREP
Headquarters, under the Chairmanship of Tokelau on 25 and 26 November 2003. All
nominated members attended.
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JTF Report and Conclusions

o The Terms of Reference, the Report and the Agenda for the JTF meeting are attached
as background information (Attachments 1, 2 and 3 respectively).

6. The main conclusions and recommendations of the JTF are set out below for
examination and endorsement. Implicit in the 14" SPREP Meeting decision on the JTF, the
Secretariat has used the JTF conclusions on budget matters in formulating the 2005 Work
Programme and Budget now before this meeting under a separate item. The Secretariat has
also used the JTF conclusions on budget and finance to draw up revised Financial Regulations
also before the Meeting for consideration and approval.

“Main Conclusions of the Joint Task Force

» General agreement that current SPREP budget format presentation is too complicated and
therefore not as clear or transparent as should be
General agreement to simplify this for future reference

>
» Future budgets to comprise of a Core Fund Budget and a Programme Fund Budget
» The two to generally comprise the following*:

CORE FUND BUDGET PROGRAMME FUND BUDGET
Expenditure Composition
e Executive management and support including | 1. Island Ecosystems Programme Components:
executive management's role in: * Terrestrial Ecosystems management
e regional coordination and international e Coastal and Marine Ecosystems Management
cooperation ® Species of special interest
e donor liaison o People and institutions
e consultation with members
Servicing SPREP Meetings, and 2. Pacific Futures Programme Components:
¢ Corporate services * MEA’s and Regional Coordination
* translation/interpretation ¢ Environment monitoring and Reporting
e library * Climate Change and atmosphere
e publications and information * Waste management and Pollution control
¢ information and communications
technology 3. e International programme cooperation
e  property management e  Servicing COPs of Apia, Noumea and
e personnel administration Waigani Conventions
e general administration ¢  Programme publications and information
* finance services
* Programme support
Income Sources

e voluntary membership contribution s donor funding
¢ administration/management fees e additional voluntary members contributions
¢ miscellaneous income ®  corporate sponsorship
e other voluntary contributions
* donor grants

*As SPREP’s work programme evolve and change in future years there would be flexibility for the SPREP Meeting to
review and amend the above categorisation as appropriate.



15SM/Officials/WP.9
Page 3

» Agreeing to this two component budget and identification of services or functions
particularly for funding from the Core Fund Budget is not with the intention of requiring
any increase or decrease in members contributions which remain voluntary.

» Consequent to agreeing to a simpler two component Budget and the identification of the
components of the Core Fund Budget, the JTF recommend that the current requirement in
the Financial Regulations for a Budget in terms of Primary, Project Management and
Project Implementation Functions be replaced to reflect its conclusions recorded in this
summary.

»  This would require the following key changes to the Financial Regulations:

Regulation 2

Definitions

Corporate Services means translation and interpretation, library, publications and
information, information and communications technology, property management,
personnel administration, general administration and finance.

Regulation 3
The Annual Budget Estimates will cover:

(i)  Core Fund Budget — Core Budget income and expenditure proposals covering
Executive management and support including Executive management’s functions
in Regional Coordination and International Cooperation, Donor Liaison and

Consultation with Members; Servicing the SPREP Meeting and Corporate
Services.

(i) Programme Fund Budget — Programme funding and expenditure
» The above conclusions and recommendations of the JTF would require consequential

amendments and changes to existing Regulations which the Secretariat will prepare for
submission for consideration and approval of the next SPREP Meeting.

» The Secretariat would use the above conclusions to guide its preparations of the 2005
Draft Budget for submission to the 2004 SPREP Meeting.

» The JTF also noted with concern the serious situation with unpaid membership
contributions, while noting the voluntary nature of these contributions and urged the
SPREP Meeting and members to make these voluntary contributions in a timely way.”

Recommendation

7. The Meeting is invited to:

* consider and approve the conclusions of the JTF as presented under paragraph 6
above.

17 June 2004
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Terms of Reference

With appropriate reference to the Basic Texts of the Organisation, work with the SPREP
Secretariat to:

)

(ii)

(iif)
(iv)

)

(vi)

Define the Secretariat’s:

a. Core business and services;

b. Other services;

having regard to the references to ‘Primary Functions’, ‘Project Management
Functions’ and ‘Project Implementation Functions’ as presented in the SPREP
Financial Regulations;

Recommend variations to the above terms in the Financial Regulations, as may be
needed and provide clear interpretations of their meanings for improved financial
management and reporting, and budget presentation;

Describe Secretariat services that should be fully funded from Member
contributions;

Review the structure, format, classification and presentation of the SPREP work
programme and budget to provide for enhanced clarity and understanding
members and implementation by the secretariat;

On the basis of the foregoing, develop a strategy for expanding SPREP’s financial
support base with the objective of increasing the potential for long term financial
security for the Organisation; and

Provide guidance to the Secretariat on any other matter related to these Terms of
Reference
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% South Pacific Regional Environment Programme (SPREP)
—_—

Joint Task Force on SPREP Core Functions and Budget
SPREP Headquarters, Vailima, Apia, Samoa
25-26 November 2003

1. Opening

The Meeting was opened with a prayer. The Meeting considered the draft Agenda and
agreed upon it, with a suggestion from the representative of the Federated States of
Micronesia to adopt a flexible approach to the matters under discussion.

2. Selection of Chairperson
The Meeting selected the representative from Tokelau, Mr Falani Aukuso, as Chair.
3. Working Arrangements and Procedures

The Secretariat noted that the Task Force was regarded as a subcommittee of the SPREP
Meeting and was guided by the rules of procedure of SPREP. Consequently the conduct of

the meeting was by consensus and a report of the meeting was required to be submitted
through the Chair to the SPREP Meeting.

The Secretariat briefly outlined the content of the documentation provided to
representatives, which gave the background to the agenda points.

4. SPREP's Core Services and Work Programme

The Chair invited the Director to outline what he expected as an outcome of the Task
Force. The Director encouraged the participants to use the lessons of the past to look
forward to coordinate activities in all aspects of the environment, to provide members with
technical assistance coordinated by the Secretariat and for the Members to gain assistance
from the Secretariat in participating in international conventions.

The Director suggested that the core functions of the Secretariat should be directed to
facilitating these activities. Its recent move to strategic programming would remove the
short-term approach of project work. The Director noted that the forthcoming review of
the Action Plan would influence SPREP's core functions, but he hoped that this meeting
would agree on a definition of the core functions to allow the Secretariat to carry out its
mandate. He also hoped for agreement on simplifying the budget process so that it would
gain flexibility and become more useful. The Director hoped that the Task Force would

also recommend clear guidelines on reporting, which would more clearly illustrate
SPREP's impact at national and regional level.
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The Chair drew the attention of the Task Force to the terms of reference set out by the
14th SPREP Meeting, and noted that the agenda reflected them. The representative of
Australia suggested that the meeting particularly consider how the definitions of core
functions fitted in with SPREP's strategic approach.

The Secretariat outlined the content of the background documentation, noting that the
policies and procedures of the other agencies of CROP had been summarised to inform the
discussions. Over the years there had been changes in SPREP and these had been reflected
in the budgeting procedures, and each new Action Plan also influenced the budget formats.
Efforts had been made to account for project administration and implementation, but it had
become evident that a much simpler format of the budget was required. There was a need
to produce a simpler and clearer budget that was transparent for the Members, the

Secretariat and the stakeholders. All the CROP agencies employed much simpler budget
presentation formats.

The Chair noted that the outcome of the agenda would be a report outlining procedures to

accurately reflect the new programmatic approach that SPREP is taking forward, together
with a much simpler budget process.

The Director noted that the report should include some detail of the discussions that led to
the conclusions, to inform readers of the way that conclusions had been reached.

4. (i) The composition of the core services of SPREP

The Secretariat outlined the accepted definition of core functions as specified in the
financial regulations. These were: management of the Secretariat and corporate services,
personnel, information, publications, information technology, equipment and staff, general
administration and financial services. Additionally, core functions as specified in the
Financial Regulations definition included servicing of the SPREP Meeting, as well as
acting as the secretariat of three conventions, the Apia, SPREP or Noumea and Waigani
Conventions. Raising funds and donor liaison were considered as important core
functions, as well as providing consultation and information to member countries.

The Secretariat posed the question whether SPREP should depend entirely on donors to
fund programmes, or, as other CROP agencies were doing, gradually absorb at least token
aspects of key or priority programmes into the core budget.

In response to a question of whether all personnel costs were part of core functions, the
Secretariat noted that 21 out of a total of 71 approved positions, in Management,
information technology, information resources centre, communications and finance,
personnel, accounting and administration are financed from the core budget. Support staff
for projects are funded from the project management fee.
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The representative of Australia noted that moves towards a programatic approach could
indicate a simplified budgetary structure of programme and core funding. This would
allow some existing core functions and staff to be financed from programme funds,
leaving only very specific functions to be met under core funds, such as Management and
the SPREP Meetings. Following this line of discussion, the representative of American
Samoa noted that many staff have many different roles within the organisation. A
consolidated programme approach would allow staff and other costs to be grouped under
one heading, unless the individual donors required separate funding. The need for
simplification was affirmed by the representative of New Zealand, noting that the strategic
programatic approach offered this opportunity.

The Director told the meeting that the definition of core functions is consistent throughout
the CROP agencies. At SPREP, core functions means the promotion of core functions and
the provision of support to the strategic programmes, together with capacity building and
assistance to Member countries. Restrictions varied among donors as to what their
contributions could be used for. Pooling contributions under a programme structure could
avoid these restrictions, introducing flexibility and efficiency.

The representative of Samoa noted that there was still some complication in other CROP
agencies' budget structures and agreed that SPREP should move ahead with a simplified
approach that would introduce more clarity in its reporting.

The representative of American Samoa, with regard to the agenda point "Aspects of
programmes", noted that project management could be regarded as an essential part of
project implementation, supporting the clear distinction between core and programme. The
representative of New Zealand then asked about project management fees. The Secretariat
noted that the SPREP Meeting had set these at between 10 and 15%, but that some donors
required lower rates, which had been negotiated individually by the Secretariat. She then
invited further discussion of the servicing of the three Conventions. The Secretariat
responded that this work was clearly regarded as a core function of the normal operation
of the Secretariat. The Director observed that only six Members of SPREP were part of the
Apia Convention, which raised the possibility of discussing whether that level of
participation justified SPREP supporting the Convention, and others, as a core function.
Servicing the three conventions raised the question of the affordability of such work.

The representative of Samoa observed that the SPREP core budget was very small in
comparison to other CROP agencies, so that no additional activities could be
accommodated as core. The representative of Australia noted that the programme
approach would allow existing core functions, such as IT activities and recruiting, to be
defined as programme activities. The representative of the USA highlighted the flexibility
already inherent in its contribution and the representative of Fiji noted that this experience
was reflected at the national level.

Discussion turned to the core budget, with participants noting that the task Force should
not come to any conclusions that would mandate the Secretariat to go back to the SPREP
Meeting to request an increase in core funding.
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4. (ii) Funding of core services

Member contributions - The representative of the USA highlighted the voluntary nature of

member contributions and cautioned against creating an expectation of a budgetary
increase or an increase in voluntary contributions.

In response to a question about the use of Member contributions, and whether they could
only be used for core functions, the Secretariat observed that existing contributions were
not sufficient to meet the cost of the 21 core staff, without considering other activities. The
representative of American Samoa noted that in many other agencies where funding was
voluntary, satisfactory performance would usually maintain the flow of funds.

The Secretariat noted that no changes in staffing were anticipated in adopting the
programmatic approach in the short term, but in the longer term it might allow some
rationalisation and savings in costs and staff positions. The Director noted that the
programmatic approach would be phased-in gradually and making the organisation more
efficient by simplifying operations and approaches. Some management change would
certainly be necessary in implementing the approach. The Director noted that professional
assistance had been enlisted to assist the Secretariat in analysing the staff positions
required to accomplish the tasks. The review of the Action Plan would also affect how the
programmatic approach was implemented. Overall the approach was envisioned to
streamline operations, with consequent cost savings due to achieved efficiency.

4. (iii) Need for separate core budget and work programme budget

The Chair noted that several contributions had already been made in support of this topic
and the meeting had no further comments.

4. (iv) Funding of work programme budget

- donor funds
- member voluntary contributions
- corporate sponsorship.

The Secretariat addressed the topic of corporate sponsorship, noting that some efforts had
been made to locate funds from the corporate area. The SPREP Meeting had endorsed this
approach with the caution that any corporate sponsorship would not introduce a conflict of
interest or compromise the mission of SPREP. The meeting also discussed the issue of
revenue generation, noting that an expansion of the role of technical advisor might allow
SPREP to seek to recover some costs, with a differentiation to what degree of cost
recovery might be made. This might have the result of reducing the work load and number
of requests of assistance to the Secretariat, as well as determining what value Members
attached to the Secretariat's efforts. The Secretariat noted that recently it had charged

consultancy fees for two SPREP staff to assist in a meeting sponsored by a major
international donor.
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The Director noted that he had had informal discussions with Taiwan about funding since
SPREP is the only CROP agency that has not received any funds from Taiwan to date.
SPREP had never requested funding from Taiwan, which was done through the Forum
Secretariat. However, Taiwan had indicated that it would be receptive to any such request.
He was also investigating other areas of funding, especially in private sector in the United
States. He noted that the major non-governmental organisations in the region had reached
agreement amongst themselves for a concerted approach to funding. He had also received
official requests to visit France, Japan and the People's Republic of China, which might
lead to further funding avenues. He noted that strengthening the management of the
organisation would increase the confidence of present and new donors in SPREP.

The representative of New Zealand noted that the Resourcing Strategy that had been
adopted by the 14™ SPREP Meeting was already a useful indicator of avenues of funding.

The meeting then discussed whether revenue raising and donor liaison were a part of core
functions. One view was that donor liaison was not a core function because donors do not
contribute to the whole programme. However a donor liaison position was already in the
unsecured core budget but it had never been funded. Up to now, no concerted management
effort has been made towards donor liaison, although individual coordinators and staff
made ad hoc efforts. Such activities could well be part of core functions but did not justify

a dedicated position at the moment. It could be more of a diffuse, team effort, especially
amongst senior management.

The meeting agreed that donor liaison should be included as a core function, under the
responsibility of senior management.

The meeting discussed a summary table of core functions that had been produced by the
Secretariat during the lunch break, and the agreed text is included as Annex 1.

4. (v) Need for changes in the financial regulations

- definitions
- budget structure

The Chair noted that several comments already referred to this agenda item. Because this
was a very technical matter, it was suggested that the Secretariat be tasked with preparing
a detailed proposal for changes in financial regulations, in line with the recommendations
of the Task Force and move towards the programmatic structure. The meeting agreed that
"reporting requirements" should be included as an element in this item. The
Representative of the USA suggested that in reformulating reporting requirements that all
income and sources of income be reported.

The Secretariat agreed to prepare a detailed submission for Task Force members to
consider.
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8. Other matters

- financial/audit
- administration/recruitment

The Secretariat explained that these items had been included in the Agenda of the Task
Force, as they had been mentioned at the recent SPREP Meeting of Officials. In particular,
the auditors had suggested that the presentation of donor funds be entered in the balance
sheet rather than in the income/expenditure statements, even though this was mandated by

the financial regulations. Such an action would hinder detailed examination of the
expenditure of the funds.

The Secretariat had also been requested by the SPREP Meeting to make observations and

suggestions on Regulation 11 in the Staff Regulations with regards to the Director's
powers to make appointments.

The meeting discussed these two issues, observing that the auditors had noted the
difficulties in tracing the allocation of funds and linking them to the impact their use had
had. The Director noted that with care this could be done. However, since some concerns

had been expressed about the use and handling of funds, this matter had been included for
discussion.

The Secretariat explained that the Director's powers to make appointments were
circumscribed by the Staff Regulations, then the Secretariat detailed the recruitment
procedures that were followed in terms of advertising, shortlisting candidates, constitution
of interview panels and recommendations for appointment. The Representative of New
Zealand noted that there were no details of selection procedures specified in the
Regulation, adding that these would make the process more transparent. In response to a
further question, the Secretariat explained the reasoning and implementation of the "Six-
year Rule", where staff members who had already completed six years' employment with
SPREP could re-apply for their position at the end of their second contract. This ensured
an adequate turnover of staff but also allowed some continuity of knowledge, expertise
and experience to be retained within the organisation. When staff who had already served
6 years are successful in retaining their position for a third term, management had

determined that in the spirit and intention of the six year rule this would be the final term
in SPREP.

The Chair invited the Secretariat to submit some detailed rewording of the regulation for

the Task Force to consider, then asked for further comments from the floor about the audit
procedure.
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The representative of American Samoa observed that perhaps the auditor needs to know
more about the procedures of the organisation and this would facilitate the process of
reporting to the SPREP Meeting. The Secretariat observed that the situation was based on
a misunderstanding; the auditor himself was not meant to make the presentation to the
14th SPREP Meeting and was unprepared for it. Hence he had made some statements that
were not fully accurate. In particular his comments on the treatment of work programme
income and expenditure. However, since these funds represented 80% of the income of
the organisation and the majority of its activities, it was essential that the expenditure of
these funds be reported on in detail through the work programme and budget. This also
was prescribed in the financial regulations.

The representative of Samoa brought the attention of the meeting to regulation 14 about
advances and loans, and suggested that some more detailed guidelines on borrowing might
be presented. The Secretariat agreed to undertake this task for presentation to the 15
SPREP Meeting and noted further that the provision of using funds from the capital fund
to meet a short-term cash flow shortage existed but has never been used.

In response to a further question, about a reference to section 11 of the Auditors
Management Letter, the Secretariat stated that Management would give due consideration
to the auditors comments and the need to adjust current depreciation policy and its effect
on the financial statements of the organization and adopt appropriate action.

On reflection, the Task Force found no grounds to question the audit procedures nor the
ability of the Secretariat to follow these procedures.

In response to a query from the representative of the Federated States of Micronesia on the
Work Programme and Budget Sub Committee, the Secretariat explained that this was
inserted into the Financial Regulations at the time the SPREP Meeting had met every two
years and the Work Programme and Budget Sub Committee then met in the years that the
SPREP Meeting did not sit to examine and adopt a Work Programme and Budget. The
representative of FSM, then suggested that either this sub committee is removed from the
Financial Regulations if it is no longer required or the SPREP Meeting could decide to use
this to review Work Programme and Budgets just prior to SPREP Meetings.

The Director mentioned the possibility of multiyear budget agreements, similar to those
that Australia and New Zealand had signed with the Pacific Community. Such agreements
were a much better way for funding an organisation as they conferred flexibility and
longer-term planning. The representative of American Samoa mentioned that his agency
had recently instituted a 2-yearly work programme and noted to the SPREP Secretariat
such an innovation is efficient and promotes a more productive programme effort.

Conclusions

The main conclusions and recommendations of the JTF is contained and summarized in
the Attachment.
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South Pacific Regional Environment Programme
(SPREP)

Joint Task Force on SPREP Core Functions and Budget
25 - 28 November 2003

SPREP Headquarters, Vailima

Apia, Samoa

Suqggested Draft Agenda

Rl - B

(1)

(ii)

(iii)
(iv)

(4]

Opening
Selection of Chairperson

Working arrangements and procedures

SPREP’s Core Services and Work programme
The composition of the core services of SPREP

- corporate/administrative
- aspects of programmes

Funding of core services

- Voluntary member contributions
- administration/management fees
- miscellaneous sources

- other voluntary contributions

- donor grants

Need for separate core budget and work programme budget
Funding of work programme budget

- donor funds
- members voluntary contributions
- corporate sponsorship

Need for changes to Financial Regulations

- on definitions
- budget structure
- reporting requirements

5. Other matters

Financial/Audit

- Administration/Recruitment

Next Meeting (if any)

Adoption of Report

21 November 2003
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials
Pape’ete, French Polynesia
13-16 September 2004

SPREP

Agenda Item 11.1.1: Regional Support Mechanism For
National Capacity Self-Assessments

Purpose of Paper

L To seek consideration and endorsement of the Meeting for the approach taken by
the Secretariat to establish and coordinate a Regional Support Mechanism for Pacific

island countries (PICs) to complete and implement their National Capacity Self
Assessments (NCSA).

Background

2 The NCSA is a process-oriented programme of the Global Environment Facility
(GEF) that intends to have countries assess their own capacities to deal with the
implementation of objectives of the three Rio Conventions. These are: the United Nations
Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC); the Convention on Biological
Diversity (CBD) and the UN Convention on Combating Desertification (UNCCD). The

NCSA is designed to be a nationally owned and led, participatory and consultative process
of self-assessment at the individual, institutional levels.

3. The initiative will see the production of National Capacity Needs Assessment
Reports and Capacity Development Action Plans in each participating country. The NCSA
was launched in September 2001 as a means for future GEF assistance to be better tailored
to specific country needs and circumstances. Some PICs are now beginning to obtain

resources for the commencement of their NCSAs, while others are still finalizing their
funding proposals.

4. The overall rationale for the Pacific Regional NCSA Support Mechanism is to
provide to countries a means for technical and advisory backstopping to enable them to
implement and complete their NCSA projects within the given timeframes.. This
mechanism should ensure the best possible support, resources and guidance available from
a wide range of partners that have experience with capacity assessment and capacity
development issues. The support mechanism will assist with technical backstopping,
training and use of a range of assessment methodologies and tools.
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5. A number of organizations and countries have been involved with the development
of a Regional Support Mechanism Proposal which was first discussed by SPREP Members
attending the meeting on Multi-Lateral Environmental Agreements at Nadi in April 2004.
Further information on the Regional Support Mechanism is presented in Attachment 1. It
needs noting that a number of partners have begun seeking resources to assist countries
implement the NCSA. The support mechanism is to be coordinated by SPREP within the
framework of the WSSD Type II Umbrella Initiative on Capacity Building for
Environmental Management and Sustainable Development.

Recommendation

6. The Meeting is invited to:

» consider and endorse the approach taken by the Secretariat to coordinate the
Regional Support Mechanism aimed at assisting PICs implement and complete
their National Capacity Self Assessments detailed in Attachment 1.

08 July 2004
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Proposal Outline

Regional Support Mechanism to assist SPREP Members
implement their National Capacity Self-Assessments

Background

The over-riding objective of each National Capacity Self Assessment (NCSA) is to
identify and analyze country level priorities and needs for capacity development related
to the implementation of the 3 Rio Conventions, the UNFCCC, CBD and UNCCD.
Countries eligible to access GEF funding for the NCSA are entitled to seek up to USD
225,000 for planning and implementation activities. The NCSA process and outputs can
also catalyse both domestic and external support for meeting identified needs and
priorities in a planned and coordinated manner. Hence, the NCSA can also form a basis
for mobilising new and additional resources and for improving environmental and
natural resource management. Resources may be both financial and non-financial. They

may originate from inside the country, from the international community, or from the
GEF.

The GEF NCSA Guideline identifies a series of outputs that each NCSA should deliver.
They include:

A stocktake of previous and ongoing activities related to capacity building;

An account of the process by which the NCSA was prepared;

A description/inventory of capacity building needs in the three thematic areas;

An identification of cross-cutting issues and synergies, and;

(optional) A plan of action to meet the prioritised needs and a mechanism for
monitoring and evaluating the progress made in meeting those needs.

The Regional Support Mechanism is aimed at assisting countries implement their
NCSA’s and achieving the above stated outputs.

Regional Support Mechanism

A Regional Support Mechanism aimed at assisting countries in the speedy and effective
conduct of their NCSAs has been proposed to Members. The support mechanism will be
coordinated by SPREP, but include a number of regional and international partners, that
can be called upon to assist where necessary. The support mechanism can also enable
countries to prepare for parallel and follow-up programmes and activities that are
expected to commence over the same period or as an outcome of the NCSAs. These will
include projects initiated through the Global Environment Facility (GEF)or through other
funding sources, including bilateral donors, and international and regional organizations.



15SM/Officials/WP.11. 1. 1/Att.1
Page 2

Partners

The main partners to be involved in the support mechanism are the 14 Pacific Island
Countries eligible for GEF funding, CROP agencies, United Nations Development
Programme (UNDP), United Nations University (UNU), Convention Secretariats,
Department of Environment and Heritage of the Government of Australia and various
other national, regional and international organizations.

Benefits to Members

Members will be expected to benefit from this support mechanism through:

i)

1ii)

The development of a pool of resource people and experts at the national level,
equipped with the knowledge, skills and tools to support their governments
implement, monitor and evaluate the NCSA process and other related
assessments in the future. This will be achieved through training provided to
national experts and resource persons to assist with coordinating the NCSA and
facilitating the process and the various activities involved. The pool of expertise
developed in the countries can also be used for further monitoring and evaluation

work and can assist governments develop GEF proposals for capacity building
projects and programmes.

Having access to appropriate and ready-to-use tools developed specifically to
support the various activities and assessments required throughout the NCSA.
The tools will be introduced during the training activities and further explained
through on-going advice and support. Annex 1 provides a brief description of
likely tools to be developed in collusion with particular country needs.

Awareness of and access to appropriate information and support services
available on a timely basis by various partners.

Being able to link the NCSA with the range of assessments, monitoring &
reporting requirements, regional and national strategies and action plans required
under the different multilateral environment agreements (MEAs), the WSSD and
now the BPOA+10 preparation process. Efforts will be made to strategically use
the NCSA to assist in mainstreaming environmental dimensions in countries’
National Sustainable Development Strategies (NSDSs) required by 2005 and to
consolidate various MEA plans and strategies into a manageable package.

Strengthened links and cooperation with and between various partner
organizations working in the Pacific, giving preference in the first instance to
capacity support from regional based stakeholders.
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vi) Country officials and experts having a better understanding of the UN
Conventions covered in the NCSA, and the short to longer term capacities
required to implement and comply with these conventions.

vii)  Partner stakeholders having a better understanding of the status of institutional,
human resources, information and infrastructure capacity needs of countries, and

being more receptive to nurtured responses within the timeframes suited to
Pacific SIDS.

viii)  Completion of the NCSA within the required timeframes and countries in a

position to submit proposals to the GEF to address priority capacity building
needs.

Coordination of partnerships

The partnership support mechanism will primarily be an initiative under the Pacific Type

II Umbrella Initiative on Capacity Building, approved by Pacific Island leaders. There
will be linkages to the following Type II Initiatives:

* Mainstreaming Nature Conservation and Traditional Knowledge (to address
the CBD);

Land Resources (to address the UNCCD);
Adaptation to Climate Change (UNFCCC);
Vulnerability Reduction (UNFCC and the wider ambit of vulnerability);

Planning for Sustainable Community Lifestyles (as it contends with growing
calls for community development frameworks to address cross-sectoral and
implementation issues)

The partnership mechanism will comprise three main components through which various
forms of assistance will be made available and provided to countries to enable them to
plan and implement the NCSA'’s. These include:

1) The NCSA Pacific Toolkit
2) NCSA training activities for country personnel
3) Backstopping services

It is intended that each partner organization will designate a primary contact person to
which countries can channel requests. These will be responsible for disseminating
information, organizing a response, reporting and maintaining links with other partners
in the Support Mechanism on behalf of their organizations or countries. At the country
level the NCSA coordinating committee will be asked for their ‘Contact Point’ to ensure
that there is coordinated and consistent liaison and action.
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Main components of the Support Mechanism
Training of country personnel

It is anticipated that a cross-agency coordination committee be used to coordinate efforts
for the NCSA, with day-to-day management by a government agency and that those
involved in the committee or the responsible agency have a good understanding of the
NCSA process. They will also need to be familiar with the range of methodologies and
tools available for use and how the intended outputs can be achieved and documented. It
is therefore proposed that up to two people attend two training activities during the
NCSA period. This will also enable the development of an inter-country support network
where countries are able to share experiences that will assist with completing the NCSA.

The NCSA Pacific Toolkit

The NCSA toolbox will be composed of simple but encompassing guidelines and
templates that countries can follow or adapt for use in the course of their NCSAs. It
follows the steps outlined in the GEF guidelines with the addition of the more practical
Pacific context necessary for effective assessments.

The NCSA Pacific Toolkit shall be a ‘living’ product in that it will be open for continued
update and improvement. The guidelines will be developed by partner organizations, as
the working of the support mechanism progresses and be made available during the

training activities. Countries will have the option of choosing and using the tools as and
when needed.

Backstopping services

The range of backstopping services that can be provided include: provision of
information; networking and e-mail support; web-based internet discussion board; advice
from resource personnel and in-country assistance during national workshops,
consultation activities, as well as assistance with report compilation etc.

Indicative timetable

June — Aug 2004 Development of NCSA inception and consultation with partner
organization and countries.

Sep 2004 Endorsement of the Regional Support Mechanism

October 2004 Begin implementation of Regional Support Mechanism

Dec 2004 First NCSA training activity

Jan 2005 — Jun 2006 | Implementation of NCSA by most countries

Feb 2006 Second NCSA training activity

Jun 2006 Most countries complete NCSA

Dec 2006 Regional Support Mechanism ends.
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Indicative costs and cost-sharing mechanism

Each country undertaking the NCSA is entitled to funding assistance from GEF totaling
USD 225,000.

Partner organizations involved with the Support Mechanism have secured or are seeking
complementary resources to assist with the provision of services.

It is important to note that the costs related to various activities linked to the NCSA
Support Mechanism will need to be borne by countries as well as partner organizations
depending on priorities, needs and available resources.

Indicative costs pertaining to the potential services that can be provided through the
Support Mechanism are outlined in a detailed proposal sent to countries by the
Secretariat. Countries will be able to confirm the services they need and the activities
they wish to be involved in.
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials

Pape’ete, French Polynesia

13-16 September 2004
SPREP

Agenda Item 11.2.1: Pacific Islands Environment Outlook 2004

Purpose of Paper

1, To inform the Meeting of developments in developing the Pacific Islands
Environment Outlook, 2004 (PIEO 2004).

Background

2 SPREP’s charter includes, inter alia, the need to provide assistance in order to:

b) “monitor(ing) and assess(ing) the state of the environment in the region
including the impacts of human activities on the ecosystems of the
region...” [SPREP Agreement 1993]

3 SPREP has continued working on state of the environment (SOE) with national
and international stakeholders, though its Environmental Monitoring and Reporting
programme component of the Sustainable Economic Development Division.

4. The first Pacific Islands Environment Outlook was produced by SPREP in 1999,

sponsored by the UNEP Division of Early Warning and Assessment (UN-DEWA) and the
European Union.

5 The production of the PIEO 2004, has been aligned with the regional sustainable
development coordination work for World Summit on Sustainable Development (WSSD),
and now the preparations for the BPOA+10. This is consistent with the Project proposal
for WSSD (2001) and Barbados Programme of Action ten year Review (BPOA+10)
preparations (2002). A copy of the PIEO 2004 will be circulated as an information paper.

6. SPREP in submissions to the UNEP Goveming Council 2003, argued the need
for:

o future UNEP sponsored SOE efforts to target national capacity development;

e generation of the PIEO 2004 to be done in unison with preparations for
BPOA+10.
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7. UNEP Regional office for Asia Pacific (UN-ROAP) presented to this affect at the
BPOA+10 Pacific Regional Preparatory Meeting, 4-8 August 2003. While the production
of this latest PIEO has not directly facilitated national SOE capacity development, it has
assisted the region in aggregating anecdotal, textual and tabular data to highlight capacity
shortfalls, in respect of data gaps, ability to monitor and policy directions. This will
enable the good inception of regional facilitation of national capacity development for
SOE intended to commence in late 2004.

8. The PIEO 2004 has been generated using the Pacific Regional Synopsis on
Sustainable Development (SPREP, 2002), the Pacific Regional Assessment on
Sustainable Development (SPREP 2004), the Pacific Position for BPOA+10 (SPREP
2004) and Country National Assessment Reports to the WSSD and now BPOA+10. A
first draft was circulated to Pacific delegates at the SIDS Inter-regional Preparatory
Meeting for the BPOA+10, Bahamas, January 2004.

9. The PIEQ 2004 will be released at the International Meeting in Mauritius
(BPOA+10), January 2005. It presents a review of environmental trends over the last
decade, and the key pressures or socio-economic driving forces on ecological systems. It
also considers cross cutting issues and implementation matters. Consistent with the
ambitions of the Johannesburg Plan of Implementation (JPOI) and the preparations for
BPOA+10, the PIEO 2004 concentrates on the implementation mechanisms required to
move forward on environmental management for sustainable development. It therefore
represents a comprehensive evaluation of the environment pillar of sustainable
development. It also links to the social and economic dimensions.

10. The PIEO 2004 will therefore be a useful reference for regional and national
environmental assessment, policy development and response programming.

11. The PIEO 2004, will support the environmental planning and management

dimensions of the eventual Pacific Regional Sustainable Development Strategy (Pacific
RSDS).

Recommendation
12.  The Meeting is invited to:

» consider the draft PIEO, 2004 and comment as necessary; and

> support the production of the PIEO 2004 as a key reference document for

regional sustainable development policy, focussing on the environmental
pillar.

22 July, 2004
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials

Pape’ete, French Polynesia
13-16 September 2004

SPREP

Agenda Item 11.2,2: Climate Change, Climate Variability and Sea Level Rise

Purpose of Paper

1. To inform the Meeting of the status of the climate related programmes in SPREP
and to seek endorsement for the matters proposed in the recommendations.

Background

Climate Research

2. The Pacific Island Global Climate Observing System programme commenced in
January 2004. The aim of the programme is to strengthen the capacity of SPREP Pacific
island members with the collection, exchange and use of environmental data to address
climate related issues. The programme is funded by the United States National Oceanic
and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) and also works closely with national
meteorological services in collaboration with the World Meteorological Organisation Sub

Regional Office (based in SPREP) to implement projects supporting national climate
systems,

Adaptation to the Impacts of Climate Change

. 8 The Canadian Intemnational Development Agency (CIDA) funded adaptation
project (CBDAMPIC) executed by SPREP was a ‘first” in the region to pilot adaptation
implementation at the community level. The project concludes in March 2005 with no
provision for extension either in the four participating countries or to other Pacific island

countries (PICs). This is largely a policy shift by the Government of Canada affecting all
Canadian funded projects in the region.

4, Australia’s USD$2 million adaptation pilot initiative will focus on activities related
to physical adaptation to climate change as requested by PICs. The pilot will involve a

design and planning phase followed by implementation. The Secretariat and SOPAC will
be involved in this initiative.
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S In addition, a full project proposal for a USD$5million GEF/UNDP Capacity
Building Pacific Islands Adaptation to Climate Change Project is under development
similar to the Mainstreaming Adaptation to Climate Change initiative approved for the
Caribbean. The intention is to put this proposal through the GEF pipeline.

Mitigation

6. SPREP executed the GEF/UNDP-funded Pacific Islands Renewable Energy Project
(PIREP) because of its climate change mitigation nature. In the 2001 Pacific Islands
Forum, Leaders called for further commitments to reduce greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions in the future and highlighted the importance that Forum members place on
domestic action to reduce emissions. The Forum of 2003 welcomed the PIREP as the
current regional effort to promote the widespread use of feasible renewable energy
technologies in order to reduce GHG emissions.

7. The PIREP is an 18 months-long project to design barrier removal interventions to
reduce GHG emissions. The current phase of the PIREP was planned to come to an end in
November 2004. The programme will benefit from an early approval of the next phase of
the PIREP (planned to be called the Pacific Islands Greenhouse Gas Abatement through
Renewable Energy Programme — PIGGAREP) to sustain ongoing work in this area

Ozone Depletion Substances Project

8. Support to SPREP members has included institutional strengthening, technical
assistance for refrigeration technicians and with drafting national ozone depleting
substances (ODS) regulations. In December 2003 the Cook Islands and Niue also ratified
the relevant global instruments (Montreal Protocol and all amendments) enabling their
participation in this project that is funded by United Nations Environment Programme
(UNEP) Multilateral Fund Secretariat including the Government of Australia’s
contribution. Of utmost importance is the approval of ODS regulations for restricting the
import of ozone-depleting substances, by SPREP members. Progress in this area is
relatively slow for most participating countries. Once approved, this would enable the
establishment of more specific controls such as: licensing and monitoring systems, training
of customs officials on the monitor and control of imports, introducing tax incentives to
promote the use of substitutes and alternative technologies, banning new installations and

equipment using controlled substances, and banning imports of ODS with the exception of
those for “essential uses”.
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9. At the completion of the current project in 2005, SPREP intends to implement a
regional clean up programme from 2006 — 2010 on the removal of waste ozone-depleting
substances. SPREP has been promoting this initiative with UNEP, Australia, and possible
stakeholders and the status is that proposals have been developed and affirmative
responses received. However, implicit in this initiative is the approval of national controls
(ODS regulations) in each participating country as this would form the legal basis of the

regional clean up programme. A concept paper on this initiative is available as an
information paper.

Policy

10.  In 2003 the Forum Leaders Meeting agreed to establish an Ad Hoc Working group
to revise the Pacific Islands Regional Framework for Action on Climate Change, Climate
Variability and Sea Level Rise 2000-2004. The Secretariat prepared a revised draft that
was presented for discussion at the Ad Hoc meeting in June 2004. This paper was also
widely circulated for comment and input. At the Ad Hoc Meeting, the working group
recommended that the framework be further revised for presentation to the next Climate
Roundtable Meeting to be convened by the SPREP Secretariat in 2005.

11. Under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, all Parties
are required to report on how they have met the objectives of the convention through a
national communication. The Secretariat presented countries with a proposal on how it
would support countries with their second national communications. The proposal was
discussed and approved by a number countries in a regional workshop in July 2004.

12, The Secretariat will also convene a workshop on technology transfer and the Clean
Development Mechanism in October as well as seek funding for a preparatory workshop
for the 10™ Conference of the Parties in Argentina December 6-17".

Recommendations

13.  The Meeting is invited to:

» endorse the approach taken by the Secretariat to address greenhouse gas
mitigation;

» endorse the approach made by the Secretariat in support of assisting Pacific
Island Countries with Second National Communications,

» strongly encourage participating countries to approve ODS regulations; and

» endorse the initiative taken by the Secretariat to address waste ozone depleting
substances.

08 July 2004
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials

Pape’ete, French Polynesia
13-16 September 2004

SPREP

Agenda Item 11.3: Proposed Work Programme and Budget for 2005
and Indicative budgets for 2006 and 2007

Purpose of Paper

1. To seek the Meeting’s approval of the Work Programme and Budget.

Recommendation

2. The Meeting is invited to:

> consider the Work Programme and Budget for 2005 and Indicative Budgets
for 2006 and 2007; and

» approve the 2005 Work Programme and Budget.

21 July 2004
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials

Pape’ete, French Polynesia
13-16 September 2004

SPREP

Agenda Item 12.1: Proposed Name Change For SPREP

Purpose of Paper

1. To seek the SPREP Meeting’s agreement to Samoa’s formal proposal circulated to

all SPREP members on 23 February 2004 on changing the name of the SPREP
Organization and Secretariat.

Background

2, On the initiative of Guam, the 13" SPREP Meeting held in Majuro, Republic of
Marshall Islands in July 2002, agreed with the principle of changing the name of the
organization to be more reflective of the spread of its membership both north and south of
the equator. The Secretariat was then asked to provide “a paper to the 14" SPREP
Meeting proposing a suitable new name for the organization together with its implications
and bearing in mind the retention of the SPREP acronym”.

3. The Secretariat accordingly tabled a working paper (14SM/Officials/WP.9.3) at the
14® SPREP Meeting held in Apia from 8 — 12 September 2003. In the paper, the
Secretariat proposed 3 alternatives for a new name for the organization and the Secretariat
respectively for the consideration and selection by the Meeting and suggested that the new
name be brought into effect by Resolution of the SPREP Meeting and that the necessary

legal procedures for amending the SPREP Agreement be deferred to an opportune time in
the future.

4, In the discussions at both the Officials and Ministerial Meetings, the Members
agreed that the new name for the Organisation be the Pacific Regional Environment
Programme (SPREP) and the Secretariat be the Secretariat for the Pacific Regional
Environment Programme (SPREP).
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5. In respect, however, to the bringing of the new names into effect, the officials
deferred this to the Ministerial session that followed the Officials meeting. The Ministers
endorsed the name changes to the Organisation and Secretariat agreed to by the Officials
and a proposal by the Government of the United States of America that the relevant
provisions of Article 11 of the SPREP Agreement on proposed amendments (Appended as
Annex 1) be observed but that the new names be used unofficially after the next SPREP
Meeting has officially endorsed them.

6. In this connection, the Government of Samoa formally offered to initiate the formal
amendment procedure required under Article 11(1) of the Agreement and submitted to the
Secretariat a proposed text appended as Attachment 2. The proposed amendments by
Samoa was transmitted to Parties and members for consideration by official circular on 23
February 2004. A list of the current Parties to the SPREP Agreement prepared by the
Depositary (Samoa) is attached as Attachment 3.

Required Action

7. Paragraph 2 of Article 11 requires that “an amendment be adopted at a SPREP
Meeting by consensus of all Parties attending the SPREP Meeting and shall enter into
force thirty (30) days after the receipt by the Depositary of instruments of ratification,
acceptance or approval of that amendment by all Parties™. The latter part of this paragraph
notwithstanding, as stated in paragraph 5, the Ministerial meeting last year agreed that
once the SPREP Meeting formally adopts by consensus the already agreed name changes,
these could then be used unofficially pending the completion of formal procedures.

Recommendation
8. The Meeting is invited to:
» consider and formally adopt by consensus of all Parties attending the SPREP

Meeting the proposed name changes and immediately thereafter be able to use
the new names.

28 June 2004
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Article 11
Amendment and Withdrawal
8 Any Party may propose amendments to this Agreement for consideration by the

SPREP Meeting. The text of any amendment shall be circulated to Members no less than
six months in advance of the meeting at which it is to be considered.

2. An amendment shall be adopted at a SPREP Meeting by consensus of all parties
attending the SPREP Meeting and shall enter into force thirty days after the receipt by the
Depositary of instruments of ratification, acceptance or approval of that amendment by all
Parties.



15SM/Officials/WP.12.1/Att.2

P/ Page |
(&)

Government of Samoa
MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS AND TRADE

Tel. No.: (685) 21-171 Our Ref: FA/
Fax No.: (685) 21- 504 Your Ref:
Postal: P.O Box L1859 Email: mfa@mfa.gov.ws
Apia, Samoa

Please address all correspondences to
the Secretary for Foreign Affairs and Trade

9 February 2004

The Director
South Pacific Regional Environment Programme
Apia

Dear Sir,

Proposed Name Change for SPREP

As a follow up to the discussions at the SPREP Ministerial Meeting last year
regarding the name change for SPREP, the Government of Samoa would
like to submit the following proposal to initiate the process for amendment
of the Agreement Establishing SPREP:

« that Article 1 paragraph 1 of the Agreement establishing the South
Pacific Regional Environment Programme (SPREP) be amended to
read as follows:

“ 1.The Pacific Regional Environment Programme (hereinafter referred
to as SPREP) is hereby established as an intergovernmental
organisation.”

+ that Article 1 paragraph 2 of the Agreement Establishing the South
Pacific Regional Environment Programme (SPREP) be amended to
read as follows”

“ 2. The organs of SPREP are the SPREP Meeting and the Secretariat
for the Pacific Regional Environment Programme (also to be known
as SPREP).”

We would appreciate it if the above amendments are brought to the
attention of members before the next ministerial meeting in September.
Yours sincerely,

T. Toomata
CEO, Foreign Affairs & Trade




AGREEMENT ESTABLISHING THE SOUTH PACIFIC
REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRMAME (SPREP)

Status Ratification of the Agreement
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The SPREP Agreement came into force on 31* August 1995 after the deposit of the tenth
Instrument of Ratification with the Government of Samoa as the Depositary of the Agreement.

As of 11 May 2004, fifteen (15) countries are party to the Agreement, having so ratified the
Agreement, and that no reservations or declarations were made by the signatories or Parties to the

Agreement.

Country Signature Ratiﬁcatit(::!):\ccession Entry into force
Australia 21 September 1993 17 October 1994 31 August 1995
Cook Islands ~ (A) 30 August 1995 30 September 1995
Federated States of Micronesia | 10 August 1993 19 January 1995 31 August 1995
Fiji 16 June 1993 12 October 1993 31 August 1995
France 16 June 1993 11 July 1996 11 August 1996
Kiribati 16 June 1993 16 August 1994 31 August 1995
Marshall Islands 16 June 1993 (A) 4 February 2003 6 March 2003
Nauru 16 June 1993 16 March 1994 31 August 1995
New Zealand 10 August 1993 16 December 1993 31 August 1995
Niue 16 June 1993 31 July 1995 31 August 1995
Palau ~

Papua New Guinea

29 September 1993

7 November 1994

31 August 1995

Samoa

16 June 1993

16 September 1993

31 August 1995

Solomon Islands

16 June 1993

7 March 1996

7 April 1996

Tonga ~ (A) 15 September 1995 16 October 1995
Tuvalu 16 June 1993 17 November 1994 31 August 1995
United Kingdom 16 June 1993
United States of America 16 June 1993
Vanuatu 16 June 1993

Apia, 11 May 2004




15SM/Officials/WP.12.2
Page 1

Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials
Pape’ete, French Polynesia
SPREP 13-16 September 2004

Agenda Item 12.2: Process for Recruitment of Director

Purpose of Paper

3 To inform the SPREP Meeting of relevant procedures in the agreed process of
recruitment of the post of Director and seek a decision on the composition of a Selection

Advisory Committee and approval of a duty statement and post requirements for advertising
the post.

Background

2. The recruitment of the post of Director of SPREP is governed by the agreed Rules of
Procedure for Appointment of Director (Attachment 2). The process of recruitment
revolves around a Selection Advisory Committee (SAC) and its chairperson who is also the
current chairperson of the SPREP Meeting (refer Rules 3 and 4 respectively).

3. The incumbent Director took office in January 2003 for an initial term of 3 years
which will expire in January 2006. Rule 8 makes provision for the incumbent to “seek
reappointment through application for a further period of 3 years”. A decision either to
reappoint the incumbent (if he seeks a second term) or to make a new appointment should
therefore be made by the 2005 SPREP Meeting. This would mean that the recruitment
process, in accordance with the Rules of Procedure would have to be initiated by the SAC
and its chair well ahead of the 2005 Meeting. This would, in turn, mean that this SPREP
(15™) Meeting should decide on the composition of a SAC and agree on a duty statement for
the post as well as the position requirements that would guide the SAC in its assigned work
towards making a recommendation to the SPREP Meeting.

SAC Selection

4, Rule 3 provides for a SAC membership comprising of the current (SPREP Meeting)
chairperson who shall also be SAC chair and at least two other members of the SPREP
Meeting. This implies a minimum of 3 members but flexible on the upper limit. Cost
(borne by the Secretariat) and pragmatism would dictate an upper limit. In the past the
number has varied from 6 (1995/96 recruitment) to 8 (2001/02 recruitment) and depended
on base membership provided by members with representation in Samoa (i.e. Australia,
New Zealand, Samoa, Tokelau and USA).
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5. The Meeting could consider being guided by past practice in making its selection with
consideration perhaps for one or two other members not resident in Apia to spread
representation bearing in mind that French Polynesia as Chair will also chair the SAC.
Although not specifically stated in the Rules of Procedure, the matter of being a Contracting

Party to the SPREP Agreement is implicit in respect of both the qualification to apply for the
post of CEO and to participate in the recruitment process.

Duty Statement and Position Requirements

6. A draft duties/responsibilities list and suggested position requirements for the post of
Director are attached as Attachment 1 for consideration and approval.

Recommendation

7 The Meeting is invited to:

» decide on the composition of the SAC; and

» consider and approve a duties/responsibilities list and position requirements
for the recruitment of Director as contained in Attachment 1.

28 June 2004
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Duties/Responsibilities of Director

e

Provision of high quality leadership and vision;

Efficient and effective management and administration SPREP work
programme, staff and assets;

Delivery of high quality advice and services to members and governing body;
Articulation and strong advocacy for environment concerns of the regions; and
Effectively network and interact with other regional organisations, donors and
stakeholders

Required Knowledge, Skills, Experience and Attributes

»

High integrity with proven leadership qualities, managerial ability and experience
at executive level in leading a multi-disciplinary, multicultural team. An academic
qualification in an appropriate discipline is an advantage;

Commitment to the social, economic and environmental aspirations of Pacific
island peoples and ability to effectively communicate and liaise with members;
Ability to advocate for and promote the environmental concerns, the protection and
development of the environmental resources of the region and to cooperate
effectively with other partner organisations and institutions; and

Good health and ability to travel and consult widely in the region.
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Rules of Procedure for
Appointment of Director

Contents

Rule No.  Subject

Scope

Definitions

Selection Advisory Committee
Chairperson

Notices

Selection Advisory Committee Functions
Selection Criteria

Term of Appointment

Expenses

O 08 = Gy B B BB

—
e

Amendments

Scope
Rule 1

These Rules shall apply to any appointment of a Director of SPREP under Article 3.3 (g)
of the Agreement Establishing the South Pacific Regional Environment Programme.

Definitions
Rule 2

For the purposes of these Rules:

e “Director” means the position established by virtue of Article 6 of the Agreement
Establishing the South Pacific Regional Environment Programme;

e “SPREP” means the South Pacific Regional Environment Programme established
by virtue of Article 1 of the Agreement Establishing the South Pacific Regional
Environment Programme;

e “SPREP Meeting” means the organ of SPREP established by virtue of Article 1 of
the Agreement Establishing the South Pacific Regional Environment Programme.

Adopted at Tarawa, Republic of Kiribati, this thirteenth day of October 1994.
As revised at the 10 SPREP Meeting in Apia, Samoa, September, 1998,
As revised at the 11" SPREP Meeting in Guam, October , 2000.
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Selection Advisory Committee
Rule 3

The SPREP Meeting shall as required from time to time appoint a Selection Advisory
Committee comprising:

e the current chairperson, who shall also chair the Selection Advisory
Committee; and

e at least two other members of the SPREP Meeting.

Chairperson
Rule 4

The functions of the chairperson are to:

e inform Governments and Administrations of a pending vacancy;
e advertise the position;

e invite nominations;

e receive applications;

e convene the Selection Advisory Committee; and

e chair the Selection Advisory Committee.

Notices
Rule 5

1. The Chairperson shall transmit notice of a pending vacancy to all SPREP Member
Governments and Administrations no later than six months prior to the expiry of the
term of office of the incumbent.

2. Advertising of the position in major regional newspapers and periodicals shall be
effected by the Secretariat in consultation with the chairperson no later than six
months prior to the expiry of the term of office of the incumbent Director and in any
case in sufficient time to enable the Selection Advisory Committee to complete its
work prior to the nextSPREP Meeting.

3. Applications should close no sooner than two months following such notification or
advertising.

Adopted at Tarawa, Republic of Kiribati, this thirteenth day of October 1994.
As revised at the 10™ SPREP Meeting in Apia, Samoa, September, 1998.
As revised at the 11™ SPREP Meeting in Guam, October , 2000,
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4,  Where a vacancy arises and there is no Deputy Director and the position is likely to
be vacant for more than 12 months, the procedures in these Rules will apply and the
Chairperson shall convene a special SPREP Meeting to appoint a new Director.

5. Where a vacancy occurs and there is no Deputy Director, the Chairperson in
consultation with members, may appoint an interim Director on such terms and
conditions as may be agreed by Members. The interim Director shall be selected
from Heads of Division of the Secretariat or if there is no suitable candidate in the
Secretariat, from nominees of Members. Interim appointments stand until a
permanent appointment is made. Interim appointments confer on the holder no
assumption of permanency. Holders of an interim appointment shall not however, be

precluded from applying for permanent appointment in accordance with the
provisions of these rules.

Selection Advisory Committee Functions
Rule 6

In considering applications received by the Chairperson, the Selection Advisory
Committee shall:

e consider each application against the selection criteria;

e make such enquiries as it sees fit;
e draw up a shortlist of no more than five people;

* notify Governments and Administrations of the shortlist seeking their comment
which shall then be transmitted to the Chair of the Selection Advisory
Committee within fourteen days of date of notification;

e interview shortlisted candidates; and

e make recommendations concerning the appointment to the next SPREP
Meeting preceding the expiry of the term of office of the incumbent Director.
Such recommendations should contain the shortlisted candidates in order of
suitability/preference.

Adopted at Tarawa, Republic of Kiribati, this thirteenth day of October 1994,
As revised at the 10™ SPREP Meeting in Apia, Samoa, September, 1998.
As revised at the 11™ SPREP Meeting in Guam, October , 2000.
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Selection Criteria
Rule 7

The following criteria shall be taken into account by the Selection Advisory Committee
when considering applications:

e applicants must be nominated by a Government or Administration. More than one
applicant per country is eligible for selection;

e applicants must be nationals of the nominating Government or Administration;
e applicants must possess sound personal qualities;

e shortlisted applicants shall be selected on the basis of merit, with regard to:

1. relevant qualifications and experience;
2  proven management abilities; and,
3. superior representational skills.

e individuals of the Selection Advisory Committee are not eligible for consideration.

Term of Appointment
Rule 8
The successful applicant shall be appointed for a period of three years in the first instance.

The incumbent may seek reappointment, through application, for a further period of three
years. The maximum length of service for any individual is six years.

Expenses
Rule 9
All costs associated with convening meetings of the Selection Advisory Committee and
with advertising and interviewing shortlisted candidates shall be met by the Secretariat.
Amendments
Rule 10

These Rules may be amended by consensus decision of the SPREP Meeting.

Adopted at Tarawa, Republic of Kiribati, this thirteenth day of October 1994.
As revised at the 10" SPREP Meeting in Apia, Samoa, September, 1998.
As revised at the 11" SPREP Meeting in Guam, October , 2000.
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials
Pape’ete, French Polynesia
13-16 September 2004

SPREP

Agenda Item 12.3: Proposed Amendment to Staff Regulations

Purpose of Paper

1. To provide the Meeting with a proposed amended text for consideration and
approval.

Background

2. At the last SPREP Meeting, during the consideration and approval of a secretariat
proposed amendment to the Staff Regulation on Higher and Extra Duties Allowances, the
Representative of Australia sought the support of the Meeting to amend the staff
regulation, “which gives the Director discretion to appoint staff and that the amendment
should reflect that staff selection be done in a transparent manner based on merit
selection”. The Meeting subsequently agreed that Staff Regulation 11(d) be amended and
considered at the next Meeting. The full text of current Staff Regulations 11 and 12 are
appended as Attachment 1.

Proposed Amendment

3. To meet the concerns expressed at the last SPREP Meeting, the Secretariat
proposes that a new section (e) be added to Regulation 11 as proposed below:

“Appointment of Director and Staff
Regulation 11

Staff

()  When appointing staff, the Director shall comply with the SPREP
recruitment procedures and will ensure that these processes are transparent,
equitable and based on merit.
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4. To provide the Meeting with the context of the proposal, the full Regulation 11 as
it exists together with the proposed addition is contained in Attachment 1.

Recommendation

5. The Meeting is invited to:

» consider and approve the proposed amended text under paragraph 3 for Staff

Regulation 11(e).

28 June 2004
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Appointment of Director and Staff
Regulation 11

Director

(a) The Director is appointed by the SPREP Meeting under such terms and conditions as
it determines.

Director - Exercise of Powers

(b) When the position of Director is vacant, the Director's functions and powers shall be
exercised according to the instructions of the Chairperson of the SPREP Meeting
and in the absence of such instructions, by the Deputy Director.

(¢) When the Director is absent from Headquarters, the Deputy Director shall be
designated to act as Director, in the event that both are absent, an officer of the
Director's choice shall be designated Officer-in-Charge.

Staff

(d) The power of appointment rests with the Director subject to the establishment and
remuneration policy approved by the SPREP Meeting.

(e) When appointing staff, the Director shall comply with the SPREP recruitment

procedures and will ensure that these processes are transparent, equitable and based
on merit.

Appointment Policy
Regulation 12

(a) Inselecting staff for appointment to SPREP, the dominant considerations shall be:
(i) the required qualifications and experience
(i) competence
(iii) integrity

(b) Subject to Regulation 12(a) above, and the principle of open competition, the
Director shall, in selecting professional staff, give due consideration to the nationals

of SPREP island member states and to the desirability of obtaining equitable
national representation.

() When a support staff vacancy occurs the vacancy will be advertised in the Apia

media. When a professional staff vacancy occurs the vacancy will be advertised
regionally.

(d) When two applicants for a support staff position are rated equally suitable, and one
is a SPREP employee, preference shall be given to the existing staff member.

(¢) Men and women are equally eligible for all posts in SPREP.
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials
Pape'ete, French Polynesia
13-16 September 2004

SPREP

Agenda Item 12.4: Revised Financial Regulations

Purpose of Paper

L. To table the revised Financial Regulations and seek the Meeting’s consideration
and approval of these.

Background

2. At the last SPREP Meeting both the Secretariat and its Auditors referred to
difficulties encountered by both the Secretariat and members in trying to present
financial and budgetary information which the Financial Regulations, adopted some 12
years ago, required to be shown against Primary, Project Management and Project
Implementation Functions which did not adequately cater for current programme format
and presentation evolved over more recent years.

3 At the recommendation of the Director, the 14" SPREP Meeting agreed to the
formation of Joint Task Force (JTF) of selected members and the Secretariat to review
and recommend on the Secretariat core functions and budget. The Meeting also
requested the Secretariat to provide a paper to the 15" SPREP Meeting outlining
changes to the Financial Regulations to address the concerns raised and to bring the

document up to date with good practice (paragraph 140 of the Record of 15" SPREP
Meeting.

4. The JTF met at Headquarters in November 2003 and reached definite
conclusions and recommendations on matters pertinent to the Financial Regulations and
issues raised at the last SPREP Meeting. The report and conclusions of the JTF are
presented to the SPREP Meeting under agenda Item 9. It instructed the Secretariat to
take into account both on its revision of the Financial Regulations and the construction
of the proposed 2005 work programme and budget, its main conclusions.
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3. In proposing amendments and revisions to the current Financial Regulations, the
Secretariat had taken into account the findings and conclusions of the JTF, comments of
members at previous SPREP Meetings, its own experience with working and
implementing the regulations and, given that SPREP is functionally similar to and a
member of the CROP organizations, the financial practices of other CROP

organizations. Not unexpectedly there is remarkable harmonisation among CROP
general accounting practices.

6. The revised Financial Regulations are in Attachment 1. For ease of reference
and comparison between existing and proposed new provisions, the document shows
the existing provisions in the first column, the proposed in the second and the
comments/reasons by the Secretariat on the changes in the third column.

Recommendation

7. That the Meeting approves the proposed new Financial Regulations contained in

Attachment 1 to become effective immediately after the conclusion of the 15" SPREP
Meeting.

18 July 2004



|

pun,] sAlasay

37 IIm pasiatl mou pung [Elnde)

fSpNq puE SuonauN] 210) d9dds U0

5510 YSeL JUIO[ 911 JO SUOEPUILI0Ia]

0} JUNOJ33E O] SIpUBLD |EUUaNDasuo)

"$201A105 91es0d100 pue SuneajAl dTUJS 2B BUIDIAIDS 'S19qUIALL
1M LOIB)[NSUOD PUB LOSTEI| Jouop ‘uoljesadood [euoiieussjul
PUE UOHEUIPIO0D [BUOISaI UF SUOHdUN S juswageurtu

aAnnoaxa Suipnjout poddns pue juswaFeURL SANNIXI FULISAOD

sjuawaje)s amyipuadxa pue swosul sueaw 193png punyg 2100,

sya8pnq puny swwesdoid pue punj 2109 3y} 10j a1mipuadxa

PUE 3WOIUI JO SJUILWDIE]S JO UOHEPI[OSUOD B sueaw Ja3png,

:s1eadde uonuajur A1enuod oy ssajun ‘suoie[NFay 5ot U]
7 uoneniday

NOLLINISId

JIOWIUOHAUT-{BUOIBDY D138 -HINOS AY1-jo-SakAHIE

S35IAI0S S1EI0AI00 PUE SUNIIJA dAUdS ) SUIDIAISS ‘SIaqLis

{[iTA% UOTIE}|NSU0D PUE UOSIEl| JOUop "UONEI3d00) [EUOHEWdI]

pUE UONEUIPI00s [FU0Taa] Ul SUonouny s Jiotiaaeuell

NS PUE JUSLIOBRIEUT SANNIIXa DULIIAOD

JANNI9Xa suipn|aul

STUGWAIEIS 2INJIPUad X pue owWooUl SUrall 133png pun,] 310D,
SHEHIURY-HOEIUI LD

SHEpq

. Ve

pUNy SUIEIS0KT pLE puiiy 2105 2yl 10J amyipuadxa
PUE SLI0DU JO SJUSLUIEIS JO UONEPIOSUOD € sueaul Ja3png,
:sreadde uonuaiul A1eU0d SY) SSI[UN ‘SuoneNSaY a3 U]

7 uonyeM3ay
SNOILINIZAd

SBUEII ON

2uweIS0ld JuswuoAug euoi3ay dyIoed Yinog

Y} JO UOHEASIUIWIPE [BIOUBUL] Y] WIAOT [[BYS SUONE[NEaY 959y L,
[ uope[n3ay

4SOdufid

‘awweISold JUSWILOIAUT [BUOISaY 21J108d YInos

JY) JO UONERNSIUIWDE [eOUBUY Y1 WIACS [[ByS Suouen3ay IsAYL

[ uonenday

sjuawwo

pasodoig _

jueiing

1308g

1 BV/F

Tl dM/SIBIRIO/NSE

SNOILVIN93d 1VIONVNIZ




FOOZLOMFL

=

PUT.] 9A1353y o) qIm

Pasiisto Mo ST puny [e3ide,) Joulo) aq ],

"UOTTEPLIDLILLIOIAT

LI 91 Jiim oouTpIoode af

(g661) dUdS

Buiysi|qeisy JUWIIBY 243 JO € [V Ul pIQUIISIP pue 7|
5|21y J3pun pajeaio uonesiueSio oy sueawt Funasy JTAS.
'(£661) dAYdS BuIystqeIsy

WBWsaIFY 243 JO | S[PIIY Ul PaqLIsap pue paysijqeiss Apoq

sy sueaw dwieSold JUSUIUONAUY [BUCISSY dUI0Ry YINOg,
(€661)

swwerdold JUSWLOIIAUF [BUOISY JJ19E YInoS 3y Suiysijqeisy
JAWRRIY A JO £ PRI Ul PIqLIISIP pue [ AUV Ul
paYsi[qeisa UBSI0 9Y) SUBALW JBLIEIDINAS JHYdS, 10 JEMRIIIDS,
'g1 uone|naay YPm

20UBpI023E UI Pasn 2q 0} pue sieak jsed ul sasnjdins paje[nunaoe
pue dids 241 jo (puny [eide)) spunj Sunjiom [eniul

ay3 Jo o pajealo punj asodind [e1ousd oy} SUESW pun, 9A1asaY,
128pnq pun, 210D

oy Japun ui|[ej speay SOpn|oXa pue 193pnq puny swwersol ]
oy Suruwuog Suneay JTHdS 241 Aq paaoidde speay 193pnq

|[e 103 a1nyipuadxa pue awoaut sueaw 128png puny swureiSold,

(€661) dwures3olq
juawuolAuy [euctSay o11oed YInog syl Sulysiqeisy wawaaIsy
211 JO § 2[2IUY 12puUn 0} paL1dyal uonisod aly sueaw 10302I(],

"30UBUIJ PUE UOHEBLSIUILPE [2I12UdT
‘uonensuwpe [puuosiad ‘uawafeuew Auadord ‘ASojouyoay
SUOHEIIUNLULLIOD PUEB UOHBULIOJUI ‘UONBULIOJUT pue suonedijqnd

‘Areaqr] ‘uonejasdiojul puE UONEBISUBI) SUBDW S31A10§ d1elodio)),

(6617 dT8dS
SUIYST|GEIS JUalWdIsy o Jo ¢ o[2IHy Ul poqLidsap pue g°|
TopuUn paieaid UONEsSIUesI0 oy sueold sullodN dddds,
(£661) d9ddS SUIYSHGEIS

TUSWsIay 91 JO | 9|oIdy Ul paquidsop pue paysi[qeiss Apoq

307 SUPAW DWIWCIN0]] JUSWUOIIAUZ [PUOIS0y JhIoed [IN0g,

TE661) SUeIsolg
TUSWUOIIAUS 54T suigsiqeisy
TPWLaardy ay) JO [ 2214y Ul paquosap pue | opiHy i
PAUST[qEIsa UESIO 3y Stuealll JelIeIa10as daudS, 10 JeHelainas,

[BUOIS0y  ohioeg  Iinog

3] UONENSoy quiMm

35UBpPI000E Ul pasn aq O] pue SICOA 1sed U]

PUE JT9dS o1 JO (pung [eIde)) Spunj BUDHOA [BnIuT gt

JO N0 paieald PN 950dnd [PIauds oy} SUBdl punj JAIasay,

317 SUTLL0) SUNa]N dddds 24! AQ paAoidde SpPedl jaspnq [[e

0] SInjIpusdya pue SWoJUl SUPSLl _jaapng puny oWUeIBold,

T£661) oWLEIS01]

JUSUUOIIALY [EUOTHY L1084 IN0S o1 SulysI[qeIsy JUoualsy

301 JO 9 3joIdy Japun 0] palajal uonisod ai) Suestl 103931,

"SOUTUL} PUE UONEHSIUIUPE [B30U0s UONESIUIWPE [sUn0siad

JuaLUdsElRLU Aladold "As0|0UYIa] mﬂo_umumczEEDu pue

TOTBILIO} Ul "UONEUL0jUT PUE SUONEalqnd "AJeIql] “UoNEaIdIaul

PUE TONE[SURT SUEOU S001A10G JII0010,) “SHIHBIZOH]

SjuswIwo)

pasodoigd

juaiingy

735ed

1 IV

T dMAIBPIIONSE]

SNOILVINO3Y TTVIONVNIL




POOTLO/PT

"198png pung swwesfoid pue 123png

puny 2100 ayy 10§ sjesodoid amjipuadxa pue awoout djesodiodut
[[1m sateLunsa 1o8png [enuue aiy] "1eak Jepus|eds ayl aq |[eys Jeak
[eroueuly Sy ] "SIE[[op S ul pajuasad aq [[eys pue dje[a1 Kayy
L2Iym 0] JeaK [eIOUBUL] 3L 10 SaIpoq ATeIpisqns pue Areljixne

S)1 pue JwweFold UILOIIAUY [BUOISaY dYIoed YINos Ay Jo

aimyipuadxa pue SWOIUL IIACD [[BYS SIIELIISS 19FPNg [enuuE ay |,

sajewuy)sy 198png [enuny — ¢ uoneM3ay

L3Dangd dH.lL

SWIIEIS01] PUE 199png pung 210, SuoHaunj—toneiuawadui-joafesd
puB—juawaTaun—oofosd—irewd oy Joy sesodoxd aimypuadxa
pue awoow aresodioour [ sdjewnsa je3png [enuue Y IRk
Jepuajed 3t} 3q [[eys : ;
ayi-4o Ieak [ETOURUT-feOsH YL "SIE[[OP S() Ul payuasad aq [[eys pue
a1e|a1 A3U) YoIym 0} Jeak TETOUBHI}-{east Y} J0j $a1poq AIeIpisqns pue
Azerixne syt pue swwesSol JUIWUOIIAUY [BUOIFY dYIOE] YINOS ay)

JO 20myipuadxa pue SWOIUI 1A0D [[BYS SAJBWNSI 123png [enuue ay],

Sojeili}sy] Jospng [enuuy — ¢ uonenday

LaDdng JH.L

JUepunpal MON

Sjuswiuion

meomn:&

juainy

£3%%g

10UV /v

Tl dM/SIBRUIOMNSE ]

SNOILVIND3Y TVIONVNIL




FOOTLO/MI

BAOGE PAIE|N0jay

Suoneseslo

Y7 1810 W01} 5011081d 1554 MO|[[0]

oy 10§ J[qe]IEAE 3q [[IAM JEY) SPUTY

Jo sajewunsa pajedionue [e30] pa2oxa jou saop amipuadxa

‘1eaf [RIOUBUL

pajewnsa ayj jey) os paredaid aq [jeys sojewinsa 108png Ay,
[nJasn pue ATessasau wasp Aewt J019311]

10 Bunod JFYdS Y} YOIYM SusWNoop [euonippe Auy 1l

PUE ‘SIANBLIBU YJlm JuawWinoop 1o3png 1

©)

PUa-aL} 10 DUIUIPIB 04 - HSHHUOHAUT —{RUOIS Y DL HIR{INOS B

JO-HOISOd-{RISHELH-PABIHISI D SHIMOHS- SIS INS-PatiBiop-vY—3)

[ETouEa oyl 10j S|qE[IEAE aq [[IA 1B

SPUNJ JO SIICWINSo Pajedionue [B10] Peddxa JoU So0p aInjIipuadyg
poTeLITSa o 181 05 paiedaid oq [[Bys Sajewiniso 1aapng oyl
[Tj950 PUE ATessa0al Woap ABL 10102JI(]

pUe “SIATELIed qiim JUoWmoop 1a8png 1

pUe AJLIE[D 10 SUMSIXa O speul Suonippy

'SjuaNd0p SjuaWmoop
Suimo[joy oy astadwod [[eys sajewnsa 103png [enuue ay] (q) SUTMO]|0] oY1 9SLIAWIOD [[Bs Sajelinsa jaspng [enutie 3y ] (q)

"19041p 2w} 0 2wy wotj Kew Sunaap “Jo211p 21U 0] S} WOJJ

dTddS 3yl Se SpeaH-qns pue Spesy ‘sued Yyons ul pue Kew Sunoap 4TS 243 SE SpeaH-qng pue speaq ‘speqd yons ul
w0y yons ut paSuelre oq [[eys sorewns? joSpng [enuue oy (E) | pue uuoj yons ul pafueLie 3q [[Bys sajewinsa 123png [enuue Yyl (®

jeuL1oy J98png — $ uone NIy JBILI0,] Jaspng — p uonenday
SUE]) pesodoig juaiing
SNOILVTINO3Y TVIONVNIF
y95ed

1'BV/p

T dM/STBIUIO/NSS T




POOTILOTFT

‘SUONBSIUESIO

JO3) SUOLUE SUIPIOM pIEpUEIg

ainjnsuos [[eys sajewnss 1a8png [enuue ay; jo uondope ayy  '(q)
"sojewnsa 198pngq [enuue oyj 1dope pue
sjeudoldde se puswre ‘ourwexs [[eys Sunasw JTAS YL ()

128png 2y} jo nondopy — 9 uoneN3ay

SNOILVIHdOUddY

“S3jelIIso 198pNnq [enuue

U1 1dOpE-Aett-23 HUHOI-GRGIDTPRE-PHI-DLILINBO]SHO M S

0 PUE 218Ud0IdAE SE PUILIE SUTWIEXS By SUNRSN dTYdS UL +HE)

jaapng a1y Jo uondopy — 9 uonen3ay

SNOILLVIUdO¥ddV

"22U2JSIXD Ul 123U0]

ou 2)31Wwod

=gns 199png pUe aWIBIBoId YJO A

5TUBYD ON

Bunaon
dTudS 241 jo Suruado ay) 0) Jond $)2am XIS 15| 18 PaJR[NIIID
2q [ Teak Suimo[|o] 9y} J0J Sajewunsa 128png [enuue Y|,

sajewnsy 198png Jo uonenol) — ¢ uonensayy

Sunoops

‘Funeap
dTudsS 2y jo Suiuado ayy 03 Jorid syam XIS 1SBI| JB paje[nalld
aq [ Ieak Summo|jo} 2y1 Joj sojewnss P3png [enuue oYl —+

Sa)Eisy Jaspng JO U0ONE[nIAl) — & uone[nday

| N§RSTH-PUB-AIRSS202U
WEIp— LB U T SO HOH M —SIUILRIOP—io Aty —(3)
PHB-SPUHR}-AIRISSPRG-BAXa-Him-SUiBapjULaBIS-PaiBiap-vV—(P)
LiEaA-TRaSH JHBHRI-DHIJO

SjusIion

pasodoig

jusng

§35%g

IV

T dM/AERIIOMNSS

SNOILVIN93Y TVIONVNIA




FODTLOFI

TQ)LT tonemsay U

DS MOU OS[E pue sullady ddddS 24}

USLIDIEIS [PIOUBUT] [BNULY 0] 5310N

195 S[IEIaP [9A3] JOA0] AJUSSadoUUn

Yy puB UOP 9q JOUUED SIY} J[ "PI|[2OUBd 2q oW Jeyl 18

1[2ys teak [eroueuly 2y} Jo 2509 Yyl Suimoljoy pouad yuow
2A]OM] 3Y} JO pUd I JB PIFIRYDSIP JOU SUSUNIWWOD AUy
'syusunuIwod ajepinbi| 01 pannbai are Loy

yoIym 0] JuajXa 2y 0 e[l A3} LdIya 01 18k [eroueul) AUy
SUIMO[[0] SLIUOWI JA]aM] JOJ JqE[IBAER UIBLUSI [[BYS Spunj
‘aea1 A3y yorym o3 Jeak

o[qe[ieae aq |[eys spun

|e1oURUY 9yl SULINP JUSUNIWWOD 10]

spun,j 10} Sununoddy pue jo ANIqe[iEAY — L uonenday

()

@

(®)

U0 JA[aMT JUJ1 JO PUS U] 18 posieyosip 10U SIUSURTUWOS AUy (9)
“SUSUNILIWOD 31epinbi| 01
paiinbal a1e A3y1 Yarym 03 JuaiXd 2y 03 ale[al Lyl Yorym o1 reak
TeToUBU-feas+ 213 SUIMO[[0} SYIUOW JA[IM] JOJ I[GE[IRAR UIBLUDI
; 2 ? _ spung—+¢'(q)
"1e[a1 Aoy Yoty 03 Jedk TETOURTT {805t o)
SuLINp JUSUIWLIOD 10] S[qR|IBAR 3q [[BYS-SueHItR}fHotaSBIB
spuny *¢(e)

1[eys

2l

"1 UOTEnasy

5T UT Pojoa[Jal MOU PUE posiuesiooy]

‘panoidde os sunowe 3y o} dn pue pasoldde sem

‘paaoidde os syunoure ai o dn pue paaoidde sem

aamyipuadxa a3 yorym 1o} sasodind oy 107 sjuswied ayew pue

SJUILLILLILIOD INOUI 0] JOJO21I(] 24l 0} UonEsLIoyINe ue NISu0d

STEINIL)

amjipuadxa ayj yoiym 10y sasodind oy 10§ syuswied ajew ey i b . i
33UEL3 [eNUoNbISUOD JouT PUE SJUIWGILILLIOD INJUL 01 1019311 2Y) 0 UONBSLIOYINE UL Asmutad—oy—ef sojewnss jo8png [enuue ayr jo uondope 3yl ¢(q)
pesodold juenny

9358
I3v/¥

SNOILVINO3Y TVIONVNIL




DAOQE § JEd Ul poImded Apeal[y

01 UONE[naay Mal 01 paAO MON

L]

UN030Y [BIOUBLT] UT PAJoo[jal Sonss!

A31[0fl SUNUNOIIE [9A3] J9MO] SUOTB[NBaY

‘Sunaspy JTUdS 241 Aq parosdde
18png oyl ul pa[ieldp SaiAnoe oY) ofeuvw pue Jno
Aueo 01 jeLRRI09S Y3 Jo Ajoeded oy uo joedwi A[asioApe
10U saop amilpuadxd [BUOHIPPE YOns Jey} pue 2[qe[lEAe

st Suipunj jey pepuoid je8png oyl ur paptacid jey

SUSH-{ERPAIPURAUE-UO-Pa3R{H-UD0G DABY- M SUO HEAISA

‘Bunooy dTUdS 24 Aq pasoidde 123png
SY Ul Pa[ieIap SaNIAl0e a1 dFBUBW PUE N0 ALIED O} JBLIBISIN3S
oy Jo Auoedes i uo joedun A[asIaApe jou $0p dmypuadxa
[eUOnIppE Uons el pue djqejieae s1 Suipuny jeyy papiaoid
128png oy ul papiaoid Jey) JO SSIOXD Ul-SHOHIURJ-IUSHIBTBURE
pafosd—uo omypuodxa [euonippe noul Aew JIopand YLTPR

L7358
I BV/P|TT dM/SIBRUIO/NSEL

JO sseoxa ur aiyipuadxa [euonippe tnoul Aew Jopallq Yyl (p)
"apeLl ST JUSLIAB [JIyM Ul JEaA au) JO joapnq a3
Saiouase "apeul JSUTESE pasieyd aq [[BUs ainiipuadxa oy) 981eyd PI[EA & SUTewal
JO9D 19yi0 U1 uoisiAoad paepuess | st juawAed yoiym ur 1eak oy jo 123pnq 3y isureSe pagreys JUSUNIUWOS 2] pue ouop 2q JoUued SOl Jj|  PI[[2dUBd aq
p{ie ped sSnoiasid Jo Uoisuaixa [eai07] | aq [[eys ainyipuadxa oy 95IEYd PI[EA € SUIBLWAL JUSULILILLOD 3T JBY) JE [[BUS JESA [e1ouBUl} oy} JO 9s0[d a4l sUIMO[[0f poliad
Sjuawiwon pesodoig juaiing
SNOILVIN934 1VIONVNId




SIuIse

JdOUD 19410 uT UOTR|NULIO) PIEPUEIS Y

‘uone[nLog

JUALIND Uey) J01ea[d pue 1auolg

‘Bunesy dT¥dS ¥au ay) 0} papodar

2q [[eys siaysuen pasodoid Jo sijsuen yons jo spreRg (9)

-a1enadosdde a1aum SIOUOP L3IM UOIE)NSUBD

lpye ‘speay 108pnq usamiaq spuny saysuen (1)

pue ‘sjustu2iinbal 10uop JO UOHEBISPISUOD
Iaye pEsy Swes 2y Jo peay-qns Iayjo Aue Jopun
amyipuadxs-19A0  pajedionue 392w 0} peay-qns
Jayo Aue sopun aymipuadxa-1aA0 pajedionue jeaul

01 peay-qns Aue sopun sdutaes pajedionue 9jsues

;198png puny awweisold ay 1opun (q)

‘speaf] 1°8pnq ussmiaq Spuny [qe|IeAE Jajsuen
pue ‘peay aiues ayi jo peay-qns
Joyio Aue 1opun 21mipuadxa-1A0 pajediojue joaw

0} peay-qns Aue 1opun siuraes pajedionue JoSuEn

:198png puny 910 ay3 12puf) ‘()
:Aeu 10302117 YL

speaj] 135png uaamjaq spuny jo 1ajsues ] — g uone[nsay

™

()

O

uoiEusaldus—oelosd o) —1aSpRg —a—t—paphesd—spunt—T
‘SISEg-{5E3-8

pUE ;SIUoUIRIINDAL

TOUOP JO UONBIIPISUG) 1oyJ¢ PEaF] JWes oyl Jo peat-qns

IDUI0 AuE Jopun SIMTPUdAXI-13A0 paledidnue jaawl O}

PEAY-qNs JOI0 AUE I9pun anIpusdxe-IoA0 pajedionue

SpEa 199pnq Usamiaq spuny ajqe|ieae wojsuen (11)
pue peaj] owes o] Jo

TREWI 1010371(] 9L

SPES] S19pNg U99MI9q SpuNj Jo Jajsuca] — g uonemday

“DBIHLILOI-GNE19BPNE-PUB-DUHURISOI SHO M H0-BUNBA

SUENIE)

pesodold

juenny

g 958

(R4

T dM/SIERIHO/NSST

SNOILYTINO3Y TVIONVNIL



FOOT/LO7RT

SOOTICOTSo SO uT Of oDt = L¥ A L TR s o T T T
L5 a3 . Fa =49 4 I H

T PUC SUUHEDTHU ITouT OF jeopYg TUF U [hHOUt DuTpue e pun

L'Lpue

£70 UPNE[N33y UT PaIaA0d A[SNOIAJID SEAM

‘pazioyIne S J0}2211(] Y1 ‘SB[ 31 YdIym O} Jeak [elouBUy Ay) JO

SutuwiSaq 2y 210j2q paydope aq o} s|rej 195png [enuue Ay P[NOYS

1a8png jo
[eaoaddy o3 Jowd spuny puads 03 romny - 01 uonensay

‘a]qe|leA. 218 Spuny ssa[un jusuoduiod 123pnq Aue jo Joadsal ul | "3[qe[IBAE e Spury SSo[UN TIBLOAW0S 13apnq-sHeHaun Aue Jo 10adsal

S5uES ON amypuadxa 10 JuauUnIWWod AUE 0JUl 12U 10U [[BYS J0303JI(] YL u1 21n}ipuadxa JO JUILNILLIOD AUB OJUl 121U JOU [[BYS J0J0211(] AY L,

Spunyj JNOYIAL SHUUNIIWOD) 21mypuadxy ON — 6 HORENIY Spung IMOYIAN SIIAIIUNN0) o4mIIpuadxy oN — 6 uopeniay

THOTESH0301Ed

135pNq MaU [[IIAM 219[0SG0 MON

afoid—i0}—e3pag—aii — UM —RjsuRl—ABt—IeRaRG oYt — 1
STHUHHEHHGD

-poonjdalJ0-Pat{eouBd-PIpUItLE-JaLHa-sHIdalod a1jioads
STEINIT,) pasodoid jualnd

SNOILYTND3Y TVIONVNIA
673584
TIV/H[ZT dASTEPUIONNSS |




juatupualle [eliuanbasuod Jouly

Yl JO SIPQWBW [[B O} SJUSWINOOP UBAI[DL Y Jwsuel] (e)

‘[[EYs 1010211(] Y} SIIBLUNSD

108png [enuue 3y paidope sey SunRdN JTULS Y YV

SUOPNQLIIN0D) JO IBON — Z[ UonE[msay

YOS 2yl JO SIdQUIDW [[E O] SIUILNOOP JUBAI[AL S} JIWSUBL], (e)

leys
100anQ oyl saewnss 198png [enuue oyl paidope Sey-SSRtEHuEs
-GRGI9SPRE-PUR SURUBISOI e e Sund JdIFYdS Y PYV

SHONNQIAIN0) JO 33170N — 2 1 UODEMB3y

SoFUBYD [ENULNDasU0d JOUTjy

‘sieak [eroueul
snotaid woij ajqe[ieae spuny papiwwooun Jo asueeqAuy  (9)
‘SUONNQLIIUOD SISLUSA O} UONIPPR Ul anuaAdl 1oyl Auy  (q)
<reaf [eroueuly Suipasaons Ay} pue 1edk [elourul
JUSLIND 21} 10] puny 2100 Y1 J0j aunyipuadxa pajewnsa ay ] (e)
:junosoe ojut Supjel Jaye pue Sunaspy JTdS oY) Aq pascidde
SUONNQLOUCY JO 2J[BIS Al UO PIseq SUOHNQLEUOD  SIDQUIdIA

JO S|9A9] SUnLO JAMJS Yl 0] PUSWILODAL [[BYS J0J03NI YL

SUOLNQLI}U0Y) JO S[2AT — [ nonensay

smonnqruo))

‘STeak TeTOUBTT-feast
snoinaid wox J|qe[ieAR Spunj papunuooun jo douejeq Auy ()
{SUONINQLITUOD SISQUIDJA O} UOIIIPPE Ul anuaAdl Jayio Auy  (q)

‘reaf [BTOUEUT feasH

Suipasoons 2} pue Iedk [EIOUEBLL{EasH Juaund  ay) 10j
SHEHIURI-ARWwHd PUN, 0107 o1 Joj amyipuadxa parewnsa Yyl (&)
:unoase ojul Sun{el 1€ PUE SUNPIN dddds 24l AqQ paAoidde

SUONNQIIUOS JO J[B3S 3] U0 past(—4q SUONNGLIUOd  SIAqUIJA

Jo s[aAa] Sunesiy JFYdS QY OF PUSLIWOdAI [[EYS 10122IQ dYL

SoNNqIIuo ) Jo sjppav | — 011 uone[nday
SUONNGLIU0)SANT A0 NOISIAOdd

do:uw._mm

JOUD (1A 031575000 potg[nuiojoy

‘108png ayj jo uondope [euly o} joalqns pue Juawaaide
jeuoisiaoid Aq poanunuod aq Auo Aew pouad jey Suunp
9A1302]J2 10 anp Suj|[e} S1PBNUO) "WAN [enplalpul Aue uo padeld
usaq ARy ABW YOIyM Suonealssal Aue o) joafgns amyipuadxa
K1e1a8pnq paaoidde s teak snomsid ayy jo spiyl oag Jo jiuil
e 01 dn 1894 [BIOUBULY 2Y} JO SYIUOW 29IY) IS4 BY) Jof amyipuadxa
190w pue suonesiqo snour o} je8png 2y} jo [eaoidde Juipuad

J98png oy JO Uondope [euy

B BULNp 2A1103})2 10 onp SUl[[g) S}oBdju0)) WSl [eNpIAIpUT AU U0

Paoe[d U90q JABY AT (OIUA SUOUBAIOSO] ALE O] JOaIqns aInjipuadyxd

AIe198pnq pasoidde s Ieak snoiAsid oyl JO SpAIgl OA] JO |

T 07 0N 180A [B10UBLL] 2] JO SUIUOLW Ja1Uj 1511 oU3 10j oInjipuadxa

[SUE)

ﬂwwOmO._n_

jueliny

01798%

]

[RINTG

TUdM/SIBIRIBO/NSS |

SNOILYINO3¥ TVIONVNI]




FOOT/LOFT

"SUOISM[IU0D J [ [ 199[Jad O] palg[NuLIojay

formyipuadxa

pue swodul pung 210) |[B Suuoaod ‘punyg 210) ayf “(e)
:spunj [edrourid

Qa1 ul play aq |[eys IBLIERI0AS 2yl Jo spunj Supjiom ayj
nonesimediQ a) jo spunyg edpurlg — o1 uonenday

SANNA

BIpUAAYa

puE owoosul pung o0y [ SUHIA0D pung 210 IUL (F)

:spunj [ediounid 331TF-044 Ul PJY 2q |[BYS TELIEIS100 S-StkitBiSett
ayy jo spunj Supjiom ayJ

TONESIUESI() o1} JO Spun ] [edPUL] — S| uopenioy

SANNA

JBUEBLD [ENUINDASUOD JOUT]

‘suonnqLUiuod 1aquuaw jo 1diasal

oy uo podal e Suneal JAUJS Yo 03 HWQNS [[BYS J019911(] YL

SUORNGLIUOY) JO HOPII[[0)) JO SMEIS -FT TONE[NIoY

*SUOIINGLIUOD JoqUIDUL

Jo1d12021 2y U0 Hodal B-eRHHHIEI- GRS ISDPRE-PUB-SRHUBISO L

HOM=0 BUNSIN dTUdS 4OBS O IWIQRS [[EYS J0103Q AL

SUONINGIAIU0,) JO WOHII[0) JO SMIEIS - £F| nopem3ay

a8ueyd ON

“JBLIB)2I0aS

ay3 jo Suruonouny oy 10J AIESS209U AT YIIYM SIB[[OP S[) Uey)
JIaYj0 S310UaLIMD Ul 193G & Aq SUONNGLIu0D Jo juawded [eiyed
10 [e101 3] ‘uonaIASIp siY 1 dadoe 0 patamodiua s1 1010911

3y} “19A9MOH 'sIB[[op SN ul 2]qeAed aq [[eys suolNqLIUO)

SUONNQIIJU0,) JO JUINIAE] — ¢ ] UONE[NSaY

‘TELIBII00 SAtHEBIT O} HuDIUHOHAUS

{rueiBay-anaud-YRes ay) Jo Suluonduny ay) 1o] Aressaoau ale
Y2TYM SIB[[OP S[] UBY} JOYIO SIIDUILIND Ul-SHEBISOHf HudtHoH AU
[BHOISOY BHHDEA-HiROS SO Joquaw B Aq SuOINqLIU0D Jo

wawAed [erured Jo (103 2y ‘uON2IISIP SIY 18 dadoe 0] pasamodua st
1019211(] Y} 12A3MOH "SIe[[op SN ul ajqeded aq [[BYS suONNqLIUC))

SUONNQLIIUD) JO JUIMIAEJ — £¢ | HODE[NBaY

"pred aq suonnqLyuoa ayl

Jey3 paisap st 3 Yoiym ojur A1ojisodap ay} pue suonnqLyuod

Iaquiaw Jo 10adsal Ul SJUAULIIWOD Jay) JO JWweiFold
JUSWILUOIIAUY [BUOIFaY 21J10B4 YINOS a1 Jo s1oquisty uuoju)  (q)

‘ounues3o1d Juswuoliaug [euoiFay o1oed YINos

‘pred 2q suonynqLyuod

3y} JBY] PaJisap sI 1 yowym ojut A1oyisodap ay) pue suonnqLIuod

squaw jo 10adsal Ul SUAWIWWOD 1RYl jo dwweifold
jusuuonAug [euoiSay oyIoeg INog 2yl jo siaqudw uuojul  (q)

fawurerSold yuswuonAug [euct3ay oyioed

Sjuawiwion

pasodold

jueiiny

19584

IBVACT dM/ASTERO/NSS |

SNOILLVTNO3Y TVIONVNIL




‘81 uonenday

1M 90UBPIOOOR UI Pasn 3q 03 ST Yoiym pun,j aAa13sa1 oy *(d)

A 30UBPI0JIE Ul pash 3q 01 ST JoIyM puny aAlasal 3] (9)

PUT(] [EIidE,) opnjoul MOU pun,] oAIaSaY pue ‘amyipuadxa pue Sutpuny pUE "aImipuadxa pue suipun)
sunuesoxd iom [|e Suusa0d ‘puny sunuesSold syl '(q) SWUers0dd 3I0M [[¢ SUMoAOD punj dWielsold o4l (q)
sjuawiwon pasodoigd juauny
SNOILVTINO3Y TTVIONVNIL
71958
1BV/P|TT dM/SIERIO/NSE]




‘sadueyo [enuanbasuod A1essaoan

“1eak Suipasoons au) jo sajewnsa ayy Juredaid

UM JUNOIIE OJUI USNE] 2q [[BYS Jayealay) Sutuewal aoue[eq

Aue pue ‘Aue J1 ‘(q)z’, uonenday Yyum aur] ul 1eak [eloueuly

a1 Jo 2502 3y} 12 SuIUIRWDI }GIP AUR JO JUIWII]IIS

ay1 spiemoj Js1iy patjdde 2q [[eys Jeak [eioueuly Aue JO

250[0 a1 1e pun, a10)) ay) ul Suurewas ssuejeq snjcins Auy *(q)
"punyg 2107 ay} 03 pAAIpaId aq

[[2YS 2WIODUI SNOAUE|[29SIW AUB PUB SUOHNGIIUOD Slaquiajy ()

spunyg 310 — L[ uonemday

“1eak SuIpaadans 2y} JO SABWINSD
ap Surredaid usym Junoaoe ol USNE] 2q [[BYS Jaljealalfl
Suiuiewas souefeq Aue pue ‘Aue j1 Tqjz L uonenday yum
aur] ul Jeak [e1oUBRUL 2Y) JO 9509 9y} Jaye Suurewal yqop Aue
JO Juawa|)es 2 spremoy sty parjdde aq [reys teak [eroueury Lue
Jo 2s0]d ay je puny 9107 2y ut Jururewai soueeq snjdms Auy (q)
‘pun, 2107 3y} 03 pAjIpaId
2q [[BYS 2LIOJUL SNOJUR[[20SILL AU pUE SUONNQLIUOD SIaquis]y “(2)

spuny 310 — L] uone[nsay

SIFURLD [ENUINDASUOD ATBSSI0aN

*aWOdUL SNOAUR|[IDSIW PUN,] 3107) 0] ANIIE [[IM SpUN{
swwes3old JO JUSUNSIAUL BY] WO PaAIadal awodul Auy (9)
“JRLIEIDI09S I JO SJUDLIDILIS
[BIDUBUL] SY) Ul papnjduL 3q [[BYS pue pun, swwesSold oy}
jsute8e a81eyo ® aq [[eys awuwerSoid Aue 03 Sunelas s1509 [y (q)
‘siouop ay) £q patjioads
sasodind sy 103 £juo pasn aq [[eys spuny awweiSo1d ‘(e)

spun,j awnmei3014 — 9 uopensay

. BUI0DUT SNOSUE|[SI5ILU pun ] 240,) 0] SNI00E [[IA

Spun, SWWIEIS01] JO JUSLLISIAUL AL] W01} PIAIdal Jwodul AUY (9)

TELIR}21995 31) JO SJUIIIEIS

[eTotel,] 241 Ul papn[oul aq [[eys pue pun] SUUEIZ01g
30} JSUTEAE J818(D € oq |[Bs JWUEIs01d AUE O] SUNE[3I 81503 [V (q
SHOWp AqTAG
paj1oads sasodind ay 10J A[UO pasn aq [[ByS Spunj siesolg (€]

Spiin,] AUNIEA501] — 0] UONE[NBaY

sSjuswiwo)

pasodoig

juauund

€1 9884

I 0V/F

CUdM/EBIIIO/MNSS |

SNOILYTNO3Y TVIONVNIL




Fjunooaoy St

350dIng [P199dS AT pauIquioy o HonvRZIY

S|IRIOP O} JO-RHHHOI-GRS-1OSPRE-PUe
'S[1BI9p 213 JO Sunes T dS 2Y WLOSUI [[BYS PUE SJUNOJIY | SteumiRoddsHeAr—0 SUlod JHUdS SUi ULIOjul [[BYS PUEB SIUNOJOY

osoding [eroadg pue spung Jsnil ysiqeisa Aew 10pa1(] 2yl | asoding [eadgT pue spunj JSni ysiqeisa Aew 103021 AYL

Tone[Eay
SUTMO[[0J [T dJEWEH[BIWE O,

SN0V [e1adg SHUN0IY [ERAdS
pue spung }snij jo yuaunysijqeisy — 6| uoenensday PUE SPUN] JSN1] JO JUIISI|qEIST — €161 HONEM3ay

‘jeLre]aldag

RV ETRETN-] 0 SJUNDJIE [enuue ayl ul 10} pRIunodde 3
a1} JO SJUNOJJE [BNUUE 3y} Ul I0j PIJUNOIIE 3q [[ByS Sl e I HE Rk o 4

uonenday sry w paurpno sasodind oy pasn spuny ayy 2 TR T S O PRI SSaoA e PSP S 9

pue sBuddN dTYdS 1Xau Ayl
01 pauiodal aq o3 ale s1ajsuen) pasodoid Jo sizjsuen yons

T¥oU 511 0] paiodal 54 0] 5J8 S19JSUEq pasodold 10 SI9JSuel]

“Sa19Ud5e JO S[IRI3( “S[[RJLIOYS 10 2IMIpuadxa USISIIOFUN 2N Lais Pl i D Bl ke

1291 O] pungd 2100 ai] 0] pun ] 2A1353y ay] wolj siajsuel] °q

dOYD 49110 Ul Se UONe[NuLIO Je[Ilg 0] pun, 2107) Y3 0] pun,] JAI253Y Y} Woyj s1gjsueny °q

TPaATadal
‘paAladal ale punyg ’

sueIB01g Y 0} SUEIB UayA poysIua|dal 3q [[eys pung 51E pung oWIUEIZ01] 941 0] SIUEID UM paLsiuajdad aq [[eys

DaEHS SA1953Y U} PUE S[[EJHOYS ApInbi| U3ASDI05UN 193U O} PUNJ 9A108ay 917 PUE S[[EJH0US ATIPIIDI| U0Sa10jun Joaul

01 pun] alIUBIs01 901 O] pun,] dAlasay o) WOy siojsuen e

purl.] 2AI352y MOY] 31e[Ndis 0] palinbay punyj UEEW.—MO.-& 21 0] pun,] 2AIaS2Y] 2} WOJ SIJsuer] "B

IOSHIOUINE ABLU pUE 20UEBISLUNDLD Uaasalojun

:9sLIOYINe ABW PUB JDUBISIINDIID UISI0JUN 10

AousS1ow Aue Uy JojoaiC] 943 AQ Posn oq Aew Pun SAISSSY YL 10 ADUD5I19100 AUE UT 1013211(] U1 AQ Posii 3 AEL plin] dAJasay oL,

pun. aasasay a3 jo wonednddy — g1 nopemsay pumn] 9A1353y] 91} JO UODED]|
Sjualilo) pasodoid Juaing

SNOILVINO3Y TVIONVNIL
17358

IRV dM/STBRUIO/NSS]




FOOTLOF]

JUDWIPUITUE [E1IUSNDISUOD JOUIpy

"S[EI9P dY3 JO BUNPAW JHAS Y Uuogul [[eys
pUe SJUNOJOE Yueq 3s0[d pue uado 0) pasLIOYINE SI 1030211 YL

S)UNONY yueg — 7z uopemsay

SANNA 40 AO.LSND

"S|12)2P 2] JO-PDHHEHHED

-qRG-193PRE-PU- TS0 HoA—0 BUNON JTUJS A uLojul

[[BYS pue SJUN022E Hueq 9s0[o pue uado O} PasLIOYINE St 1030211 AL
Sjunosay yueg — 61z uonensay

SANNA 40 AdOLSNO

SI10UdnE

dO¥UD 13410 UT UOISIAOId Je[iig

“HOISTADIA JUSIIND UO TUItUSACIA W]

"Bunoopy d9YdS XU Y

uuojul [[eys pue JaydS Jo s2101jod 3y} (M JUDISISUOD SIB J0UOP
Jai1o pue suoneziuedio ajeAld ‘SIaqust WO SUOINGLIUOD
yons jo sasodind ay3 Ji Ajuo s328pnq puny swwesSoi]

pue pun,j 210 ayj 10j suonnquyuod 3dasoe Lewr 1030011 YL

spuny

Arepdpnqenxy 1dadoy 0) fuogny — [7 uonensay

SUOTINQLOUOS [ans jo sas

puE” punj 210y oyl 10 suonnquyuod jdasoe Aew lojvonmq ol

spunj

USWIpUSWE [EUanDbasuog JOUuljy

“Bunes JTYJS 241 01 A[[enuue pajussard aq spodal
palipne pue suoe[nSay 3sayl Ylim 0UEPIOIIE UL PIISISIUILPE 3G
[[BYs spunj yons Sunos|y JTMJS 241 Aq paiooip astmIalyio ssapun

pue Sunad JFYdS Y1 Aq pautyap A[1ea[d 2q [[BYS JUN0IDY
asoding [eroadg pue pun, jsni, yses jo sy pue asodmd ay |

Fom—o— BUNI JTUdS Yl o) Afjenuue pajussaid aq supodas
paupne pue suone[ndoy 2SIyl Yl IOUBPIOIDE Ul POIDISIUIUDE
3q [eys spung yons Junooly daYdS oY Aq Pardalp asIIAYO
SSo[un pue BunW JFYdS 241 Aq pauyep A[Iea)d aq [[eys IOV
3s0dmg [Edadg pue pung Jsnil yoea jo sy pue asodind ayg

SJUN0IY sjuno»y
[e1dadg pue spun g 3snay jo as() pue asodung — 9z uopemiay [E103dS puE spunj Jsnij jo as[) pue asodang — +£0g uonemsay
SjuaWwwon pasodoig juaiing

193¢y

1'BV/y

I dM/ASTEPIIO/NSES]

NOILVINO3Y TVIONVNIL




siuswied Jey) pue ‘paAladdl UIaq SABY SPOOF IO SIVIALAS

Sy} JeYl 2INSUD YOIym SJUSWINIOP ISYI0 PUEB  SIBYINOA

jou oAaey sjuoured Jeyl pue ‘PaAladal ulaq aAey spoo3

10 $301A195 U} 1B 2INSUD YOIYM SJUSLINIOP JAYI0 PUB SIAYINOA

Suoddns Jo siseq 9y uo apew aq 03 sjuawked (e ssne) (q) [ Sunioddns jo siseq ayi uo apew aq 03 sjuawked e asne) (q)
‘Aouosa {Kwouod
JO 2S1019X9 S} PUB UOHENSIUILPE [BIDUBUL JANII]JD 21NSUD JO 2S1019X2 O} PUE UOHBNSIUIWPE [BIOUBUL SAI9S dInsua
01 15p10 Ul sampadsold pue sajnu [BIoUBRUY PI[Ielap ysijqeisg () | 03 Jopio ul sampaooid pue sa|n1 [erdueUly PI|iedp ysiqeisg ()
mmu._mﬂu ON ‘[[_ys 103211 YL ‘1leys Jojd211g AL
$eInpasolg pue sa[ny [eldurul] — 57 uone[nsay §3ANpas01, pue sajiy [EIOUEUT] — £57 HOnEn3ay
TOHLNOD TVNHHULNI TOU.LNOD TVYNUALNI
pasn aq O BIPIAO DG JO-ABm

' - -

B EEE] TTHOHBRHDBIY
VIO SINYE
'sjuatwasmbai ajeipawwl ‘sjuawalinbal
10J papaaul Jou sajuow Jo sjisodap yueg SuLIeaq-1S319Jul | AJBIPILULIL JOJ PIP3AU JOU sIluoW jO susodap dueg Fuueag-1saiaul
IR ON
Ul SIUSWIISIAUL DATIE[NODGS-UOU ULIa)-HoYS el Aew 1030211(] 9YL

Ul SIUSLISOAUI AIIR[Nd2dS-UoU ULID}-LI0YS 3R ABW 1030211(T Y],

spun,j jo Juaw}saAu] — 7 uonenday

SANNA 40 INTWLSTANI

Spunyj Jo Jusiijsoal] — 15z uonenday
SANNd 40 INGFIWLSIANI

‘SUONOBSURY

pung 3103 : i wd 10§ e

"SUONOBSUEL) pun,j 2100 10J 1eY) | e-unessn WO A[ojeiedas p—SReHH PAIONPUOD 3q [[BYS SUORIESUEL

TBUpUSIE [PINbasu0s TouTN woiy £[ereredas palonpuod 3q [[eYs SUONIBsURY puny swwesdold | Susfueq  PUN] SUIUPII0] Juonsuy——uoHBjuawadiur——oaloid
spuny 3100 pue surmes30.1 Jo uijpuel — £7 UONE[NSRY §piii;] 910 PUE JWWEI301g JO SUIPUTH — g Honem3ay

STEITG)

pasodoig

juanng

919524

I 0V/y

T dM/SIBIRLIONSS ]

SNOILVIND3d TVIONVNIL




‘Buneay dUdS 243 03 papodal aq [[BYS JJO USTILIA SWAI YONS [[&
JO aneA oy eyl papraoid ‘S}9SSE JAYI0 PUE YSED JO SISSO| JO JJO

Sunum iy asuoyIne ‘uonednsaaul jng Jaye ‘Aew ool ay]

§35807] Jo Jjo Sunupy — 9z uonemday

Hop—40-3UdIN dFUdS 2y 01 pauodal aq [[EYS JJO UIPLM SWA
yons [je jJo anjea ayl jeyl poplaoid ‘sjosse JalI0 puUB USED JO S3SSO|
Jo jj0 Bunum syl ssuoyine ‘uonensaAul [|ny Joye ‘Aew 103031(] Sy

Sas507] JO JjO SUDLIAN — $97 uonenday

"aouemsut £q
Auadoud pue spuny jo uonostoid arenbape ay 1oy sFueny ()
PUE “JeLIB1193g 943 Jo satjddns pue juawdinba ‘Kuadoid
3y prengajes 0) Aressooou somseaw Kreuonnesaid (e ayey  (2)
sjunosdy ssoding [eroadg
pue spunj jsniy o3 Sunejar sajuu pue sosodind
oy yum 10 ‘Sunesiy JAYJS oy Aq paaoidde
suoisiaoxd [eroueuly Jayio Jo suonendoidde ayr yum
aumjipuadxa pue SULUNIWILIOD JO ANULIOJU0D ayr (m)
‘leLIBja109g
Ayl JO S30IMOSaI [BIOUBUL) A0 puUB Spuny [[e
Jo [esodsip pue Apojsno ‘ydianas au jo KyrenSas oy )
12INSU3 0} 1OPIO UT ‘SUONOBSUEI) [BIOURUL
JO M3IAI1 IO/PUB UOHBUILIEXD JUSLIND DANDDYD UE 10j
spuoxd [[eys yarym [onuod [eduRLYy [euul UB ulRUEl  (p)
‘Spury 9sINgsIp pue JBLILI2I00S A JO J[RY2q UO suonediqo
INdUl 1O S3lUOW DA190a1 AW Oym s1901jjo oy djeudisaq  (2)

‘opew uaaq |snowaid jou aaey

*20UBINSUL
Aq Auadoid pue spuny jo uondajoid sienbape oy 10j sFueiry
PUE TRIIEII00G e RIFo| RO G
feHeBY-2HHR4-HeS 21 Jo sayddns pue juawdinba ‘Auadoid
2y prendajes o) Aressadou samseaw Areuonnesaid (e oxel
sjuno2oy asoding [eoadg pue spuny 1sn1y 03 Sune|aa
so|u pue sasodmd oy ym 10 Funedp JTUJS oY)
£q paaoidde suoisiaoxd [eroueury 1ayio 1o suoneudoidde
3} yim aamyipuadxa pue SJUSURIWLIOD Jo Ajjuuojuod ayp (1)
TEIEI0 100G O HHUELS 0 4 {HOMIHOHANS t
BHHOBA-HIR6] U} JO SI0IM0SII [BIDUBULY IDYIO puB Spuny
I[e jo [esodsip pue Apoisno “idiacas oy jo AuenSar ayy (1)

2msua g ._m.v._o ui .mcomuoumnwb

_.w_unmcc mo 30_._}0._ ho.%cu co_nacmnaxu juaimd 0>_uou.mu
ue 10} uv.;c.ﬁ [[eys ya1ym [jonuod [BIOUBUL] [BUI2IUI UB UlejUTey
'SPUIY-BiiiiB S0l HuatiueIi T ou01SoYy

HHIBGHIROS ISINGSIP PUE TELIBIDINIG -DHtHuBIBOIf-HudtitOHAUT
[puoidoy —ouiond—iieg oyl Jo Jeysq uo suoneSiqo
Indul 10 SaUOW 9A1031 ABW oym S1201Jo o dreudisa

‘opew uaaq A|snowmaxd

®

(©)

®

&)

STENJe)

pasodoig

juanng

L17358§

IV

CldMBBIPIO/NSST

SNOILYIND3Y TVIONVNIE




FOOTLOFT

,muo__|m_m§m_c 10 JOU) Y10 Ul Se sl

1813 JO pua 2y} Swimo|[of Yare [ € Aq 103IpNY aYi 03 J0J23lI(]
a2y} AQ paniwiqns 2q [[eYs Jeak [BIOUBUL YOS 10§ SIUN03JE YL ‘(P)
1BLIRI21038
a3 Jo uonsod [erauBul JUILIND AU Ajedipul 0) djerdoidde
2q A®wW SE UONBULIOJUI JAYI0 Yons JAIF Os|e [[eys 10302117 24, ()
‘uone1vasdap 10§ opracid o3 uawaImbal
3Y} PIOAE 0} PUE JWOOUI )S313Ul J0J 1d30%3 SISEq YSED € U0
awooul p109a1 0} paryipow pue sajdiourid Sununoose paydasoe
A][eaausd yim aoueplodsoe ur paredaid aq [[im sjunodde 3y, '(q)
‘sjunodae ay jo wed Juruwioy pue 03 sa10N  (A)
t1eok [eIOUBUL Y} 10] JUSLLSNEIS MO[] YsED (Al)
fIeak [eioueuly 3y 10] 193Yg 2oueeg (1)
‘real [e1ouBUl AU Joj aimjipuadxa
pa128pnq pue aimipuadxa [enjoe jo uostedwo) (11)
‘reak [eroueUl}
oy 1o} spuny [[e Jo sjuawaierg amipuadxy pue swoduy (1)
:S[IRIop PUE SJuUatu2jels Suimo]|of ayl apnjoul ‘s3uly]

Jayjo Suowe ‘[[eys SIUAWIAIEIS [BIDUBLL] S JRLIEIDI0S Y (B)

sp103ay Suyunoddy JO IUBUNUIB — L7 UONEINSIY

TEU1 JO pus o1 SUIMO[[0} OIBIA | ¢ Aq 101IpNY 941 01 10159110

3UTAQ PaNTLIGNS 34 [[PYS 1EaA [eIoued (90 10 SJUNodJe oL (P)

TELIE21008

307 JO Uonisod [erouedy JuaLna oy aeaipul o3 sreridoldde

5 AELU S€ UONELLIOJUT 90 [ons JATS OS[E [[BYS J01531J 3yl (9)

TONEI132103p 10J IpIA0Id 0] JUaURIinbal

3T PIOAT O] PUE 9WIOOUT J5a191Ul 10J 1A% SISE] [SEJ B

10 9WOOUT pI03a] O] PAlJIpOtll PUT 59[dIdULId SUNUNOJIE PAJdoIde

A[[E151053 [[JIM 90UEPIOdSE Ul paledald 34 [[14m SIUN00dE 3L ()

SUN0308 57 JO Hed SUIiIo] pue 01 500N (A)

(a1)

(1)

JESA[RISUEUL} 941 J0f 24njipuadxa

pajeapng pue aInpuadxa [EMJE JO UOSHEdo))

TIEoA [eldURUl)

317 0] Spumj | JO SUSWIBIE]S adnjIpuadxy pue awodu|

'S|TeJap PUE SjUSILaIE)s SUIMO[[0] a1 apn|aul

“SIUI) JD[10 SUOLIE |[BYS SIUOIIAIe]S [BIOUBUT] 5, JeHEjol0as 9 ()

§p1039y SUNUN0IJY J0 SJUEUAIUIE[Y — LZ9¢ Uone[nsa
SNIINAOIOV

817358,

[RTA

Tl dM/SIBIRIIO/NSE T

SINAWALV.LS TVIONVNIA SINTWALVLS TVIONVNIA
Te)cZ UoOnT[nsay SUIHDSIOPUHO}- SUHON AU S 24O Poredor pun-ordia
U1 07 polJajal |enuell Sainpadod
UT [[9Ie[NSAeoUa APBII[E [[B1aP [A3] MO
RIEIE| STHoHBEY
STENITL) pesodoig jualingy
SNOILYINO3Y TVIONVNId




TILO/

AOY ApEaI]Y

PaPa

(P).Z UONE|NGIY Ul poLd

£ UONE[ioay Ul poJoA0d ApEal|y

PoRRa

SPUIL-ISRIH—{BH0}-POtBIHEU-DG-HBYS Slunodoe-ajuiedas-oiendesddy
STuOHBINSY

‘asn

J07% JT9IS 70 AOTBINS [EISTo o)
FELEY

s4etiep

"Bunoesy JAUdS 243 Jo Sunaat 1xau ay) 0) paniwqns
2q 01 21e 10302.11(] 2yl AQ paudis sjuawaleIs [elourul paypny ‘(3)

“Ieak [elouruly

[RUOIBaY— 31198 —HIROS—Him—HOHBIASHO —t—udwR{diL—(q)

BUNISIN dAHdS 941 JO Sunaalll Xau oY 01 paniwqns

1§ Sjuowiojels [erouenl) pajipny -
Te3R [eiouedr)

3q 01 oie 10joali(] 941 Aq po

Sjuswiwion

pasodoid

jusminy

61735¢;

I BV/iP

Cl'dM/BIRRO/NSE |

SNOILVTINO3Y TVIONVNIL




SIIIUHE JOYL) 910 Ul SUOISIACIA

B]ILOTS (1A AJTULIOJUOd Ul pue 127194

10 SIUJ 125 01 sjusLUpUatlE S1eUdoIddy

4unoo [enoe £q Jo sauonsodap s Aouady

oy} WO1J J021IP PIAIDIAI ]BIYIHAD AQ PILIFA U]

sArY puey uo pue Jisodap uo Aauowr pue SANLINIIS 341 1B )
{soAnd21Ip
ajqeaidde Jato pue suoisiaoxd Are3adpnq ay) ‘suone|nsal
PUE S| 3} YIiM DOUBPIOIIE Ul PUE JIEINIL 2IB
SJUDLUIEIS AU UI PAIDS2L SUOHOESUEY [BOURUY 1 Y1 Tq)
‘Aoualy 213 Jo Spi0031 puE
$300q 941 Yilm PIOIJE UL 2JE SJUSLUIIRIS [BISUEUY 3L} jeLp e}
:AJ11120 01 J3pI0

1 pipne yuapuadapur ue AIessaoau s19pisuod JURIN dFUdS

a3 Se sawn 19410 Yons e pue A[[enuue e [[ByS JO)pNY UL

upny jo Ayurensay — o¢ uonENdaY

PUE TUAIUdTD "SI 59101 JO Spi0dal 3yt Jo ASedmase 3y (p)

TIUNOD [EMIOE AQ JO 501101150d9p

§jE1I019100S OU) UI0L] J00IIp PIAI2IDI I Aq PILILIdA

155q SATY pUv( U0 PUE 11S005p U0 AQUOLI PUE SaNINO3S A eyl (9)
SUy "SUOTIE|NAaT PUE S3[TT 301 (1M 90UEpI0IIE UT PUT SIEINIIT

57E STUAIATEIS 51 Ul pajad[jal suonsesuel) [eueuy o eql  (q)
TelIeja10ag o1 JO Spi0dal

pUE $500q 301 (1A PI0dJE UT 51¢ SIUSLUaIeIs [eroueuy oyl 1eyt (¥)

TAJT90

o7 30pI0 U1 11pne juapuadapur e 339U SI9pISU0) SUNIN d3ddS

311 SE SO 930 (NS 18 pUe A[[enuue oy el [[eYs J0Npny YL

PNy JO AJLIENSaY — OLE Uonemaay

)1 $998 J1 SB SULII] INS UO JBLIEI2I09S AUl YIIM

Pa1o3uLOd KM OU Ul SIOYPNY 2JOUW JO U0 A[[eruuaiq jurodde

[[eys Suneop dTdS Y} ‘UONEPUIWLIOIDL S, 10121 241 O
(s)10npny jo yuounuioddy — 67 nonEM3aYy

LIANV TVNIILXH

‘1 $93s 1 SB sul3)

TPTITIO 109 GRHHERISO I JUOUOHAUT {BUOISIY DDA —IROS

3y} [IIA PaJOSULOD ABM OU UL SIOJPNY 210Ul IO U0 Aqretuuaiq utodde

yons uo

[eys Sunadp JHNdS 9yl UONEpUSLIOdSI S IO O UO

STI0TpiY JO JUennuoddy — +£6¢ HONE[N3Y
1IaNV TVNYILXd

UM:N_._U OoN

‘S|UaLLAIRIS
[ElDUBUL} [ENUUE PUE SIIBWINSI 193pNg [Bnuue a3 ut parelodiooul

aq [[eys S1esse Jo Sutoueuly Y1 Jo 10adsal ut sani[iqel| [V

sjassy Jo Supueniq — g7 uoneniay

‘SluawaeIs
[eIoUBUY [ENUUE PUB SIJBWINSI jodpng [enuue Ay ul pajelodioout

aq [[eys swesse jo Bupueuy ay Jo 102dsal ul SAMIIQEY [V

§7355y JO SUDUENI] — §ZO¢ UONEMENY

STENTITE)

pesodoid

jua1iny

07358

1 BV/F

1 dM/SIEPRUIO/NSST

SNOILV 1ND3d 1VIONVNId




| FOOTILO/R T

[ewqur Suipnjour sampasoxd [eueuy jo Kdenbape ay  (p) ‘suone[nSal [ErOUBUY 21 0] IOUIISYPE pue sIajelt
5pI0221 [onuod [ellaul FUIPN[OUI—BHHURIS O —HoHOHAUT—BUOIS Y
oy} Jo uonEUILEXS pUE SUR{EP{O0IS Aq PIUIULIDIAP SB SPIOdAL HioB4—HINOS—ai—e sampasoxd [etoueuy jo Adenbope ayi ()
jswdinba pue saijddns ayy jo asimisyio o Asemode ay  (9) {Sp10921 3} JO UOHBUILEXS pue FUD[EP{20]s AQ PIUIULIZIAP SE
'sjunoooe sp10021 juawdmba pue sarjddns ay jo astauayIo 10 Adeanode Ay ()

oy Jo Aoemnooe 1o ssauap(dwios oy Sunosye swpew () | SHUNOIOE Ay Jo AorINOIE JO ssauaja[dwod oy Sunoagje sionew  (q)
‘aonoeid Sununooose ut sadueyo ‘aonoeid Sununosoe

Aue pue uoneUIUEXd IIDYl JO JIOBIBYO PUB JUdXd Ayl (B) | ul saSueyd Aue pue UONBUTIEXD JI9Y] JO ISI0BIEYD PUE JUDIXd AL} (e)

‘uonuaw

S3TEeON | [[BYS ‘PAUIHSD SIUNOdE Ay uo podas ;oY) ur ‘sioypny YL | :uonusw [[eys ‘PalyIIad SHUNOIIE SY) UO Hodal 13y Ul SIONPNY YL

JI00oY 1PNy JO 20035 — Zees UONEN3aY
119N ATE 01 AdIIoid puodsai

110day 1pny jo adods — z¢ uonensay
‘pasiel aq Aew jey sauonb Aue 03 Apdwoid puodsar [[eys

"Pasted 3q AB e

pue saunp jipne sy jo a81eyostp 1adoxd ayy 10§ pasinbai A3i[1oe) [[BS U Sannp JIPNE §31 JO 3518L0sIp 13401d 94} 10J painbar AJ[IOe]

FODUITE JO U
B U1 podiiibal pIEpuBIs 9010eId poon) K1aAa yum patjddns s1 Joupny ay) 18y 2INsu [[BYS 1030211 YL KDA3 Ay parjddns ST Iojipny a4 Jey) 9ansua [[BYS 1033311 YL

(s)1031pny 03 2JUBISISSY — [€ HOR[NSIY

"12A0213Y] Pasialaxa [0NUOd

Jo Asenbape oy pue Louady ayj jo Auadoid oo pue

1awdinba ‘aIniuing ‘$2103s JO §P10221 2y Jo Aoemose oy (PP | [0NU0S JO ASENDIPE I pUe BLEIAINAS al JO AU
sjuswwon —u@mao._n_ juauung

SNOILYTNOD3Y TVIONVYNIL
1z 958y
I HV/F[TT dM/STERTFO/INSE




FOOT/L0F

"Spuny JO 321N0S 3t Jo dANdadsaLl
swiwesSold JUIWUOIIAUT [BUOISY d1Laed YInog 3yl jo

santanae [erouewly [[e 01 Ajdde o1 a1e suonen3ay [eloueulf asay],

*Spunj Jo 221nos ay}
Jo aanoadsaun swiuesSold USWUONAUY [BUOIEaY OSYIdERd yinog ay)

10 saniande [eioueuly [[e oy Ajdde o) are suonenGay [e1OUBUL] 3SAYL

SUONE[NEay [EIOUEN]] JO 90005 — g€ uonenaay

Er{ICITREN] suope[nsay [ervueury jo adods — g¢ uonEN3AY

“TELIBIOI00 SRR 4o}
“JeLIL}2199G Y] JO sjuswalmbal 1ayo Aue ; : , o jo Swowoannbal sy
pu 38e103s ‘3ouds 200 ‘UONEPOLILIOSTE Sunua1 JO ssodimd o | gy pue oSeiois ‘soeds 2ayjo ‘uonepowoode Junual jo sasodind
10 SHusLa31Se 19J0 PUE SIOBIIUOD 01Ul J21Ud AWl 1030311 YL a1 J0j SIUPWAIFE IS0 PUE SIENUOD 0L 9IS ABUI 010RIICT YL

SEEEPON uossiao1d Buiseay/Bupuay — pg uonsMmIY 0151010 BUISEa [/BUTIU0Y — Frse uonemaay
SNOISIAOUd TVHINID
22HHUHIGS

S TTREN]

“Suneajy dTdS xou ayl 0} Joud ‘s1aquiat 0 J93J0 01 Ysim
Aew 1030011(] 9y} SB SHIEWS31 Yons Yim Joye30) ‘SJunodde pue
18LIB}2109G 21 JO suonesado [eloueuL 3 UO SHUSWIWOD Fulpnjoul
sioypny 2yl jo uodar [jnj 2y 9ienaid [[eys 103021 YL
'solejol 11 YDIYM 0} Ieak [Easy 2y Jo pua ayl Suimol(oj a[qissod
S UOOS SE 1030011(] 2y} 01 Wodal J1ay) NWqns [[BYS SIONpNY Yyl
310day PNy JO HOISSIQNS — €€ UOREIN3AY

-qRG—IIPAE—PUB WIS RO —0— BUNPRW ddYdS XU
ay o} Joud ‘siaquiow 0} 19j30 03 ysim AewW 101D AU} S SHIewdl
yons i 1911350] ‘SIUNOO0E PUER TEIIGIOI00S-PHIHEISO I HUdHHOHAHT
[BUOISaY- 1108 —IROS 9Y1 JO suonelado [eIOUBUY Y} UO SJUSWIWOD
Suipnpour sioupny 2yl Jo uwodal |y oyl 2RMIID [[BYS 1030211
YL "SIIE[Rd J YDIYM 03 Jeak [easy oy Jo pud 3y} Buimojo} 2|qissod
Se Uo0S SB 10102Ii] 2y} 03 Hodal 12y JWqns [[eys sIONpNY Iyl
11003y 1PNV JO UO[SSINRS — fefe uonenaay

Bunasp daYdS AW

JO 2a130u 33 01 1yEn01q 2q PNOYS YoIym s1anew 1oyio Aue  (3)
pue ‘Auadoad 1oyio pue juswidinba ‘armwng

‘sa101s ‘SBuIp[INg Ayl J0J 19A0 3oueinsut jo Aoenbope ayi  (2)

‘suoije[ngal [EIOUBUL} 2Y] 0] 2OUBIDYPR PUE SIDPEW [O1UOD

‘BuneaN dFAdS
ay) JO 2010U At 0} JYBNOIq 3G PINOYS YAy siapew oo Aue ()
PUE ‘SRS U IO HAUT-{PUOIRY
aijiong—neg—ati4e—Auadold Joyjo pue juawdinba ‘snrumny
‘s3101 ‘sSuIp|ing oy} 10 19A0d oddueinsul Jo Aoenbape oy  (3)

SUEINIL)

pesodoligd

usung

rard ommn

]

1 UV/#

Tl dM/SIERIHO/NSS |

SNOILYTNO3Y TVIONVNIL




FOOTILOFT

"Bunealy JTUdS 241 £q soueydasoe uodn

‘Buneal dTudsS 2yl Aq souejdaooe uodn

_ 103]J2 JjeIpaLliul dAeY [[IM SuOHE[NSY 259y 03 siudWpUAWY '(q) | 199)J2 IBIPIWWI SAeY [[Im SuONE[NSoY 9SAY O} SHUSWIPUIWY "F(q)
“Bunaay JTAdS 241 Aq [eacadde oy ‘Bunaspy JAUdS 241 Aq [eaoidde
_ 1aye A[areipawwl 20105 ol JAUD [[eys suonemBoy asayl ‘(2) | 1oy 1aye APreipatutur 92105 Ol JAYUD [[BYS SuolenBoy 2saYL HE)
PEREON SjudIpUAUY GLEITETR
puE suonEn3aYy [ELUBHL Jo AB( AN — L uopenday PUE SUONE[NGaY [CIoUBUL] JO JE(] JAIIH — LEgE Honenday
“1039241(] "1030311(] 2y Aq pauluLialap se sanifiqisuodsas pue
241 £q pautuuialap se sanijiqisuodsas pue siamod yans yim siamod yons s a8rey)-ut-1901jjQ paeudisap aq [[BYS 92104
9d1eyD-ul-1991130 paeuSisap aq [|EYS 23104 §,1010931(] Y1 §.010211(] 21} Jo Iodujo ue “uasqe wpoq are sopang Lindag
Jo 13013J0 ue Juasqe yjoq are 1030211 Lindag pue 1039311 pue 1010211 3y} 1By Ju9Ad Yy uf Jopang KAindag oy uo
33 1B JUSAD A U] “1030a11g Ainda(] ) uo sAjoAIp 2Aj0oAap ‘spouad yons Junmp ‘|feys suonenday asayy ul papiaoid
‘spouiad yons Suump ‘jjeys suonensay 2521} ui papiaoid se SETJOI33II(] oY1 JO Soui[iqisuodsal pue siamod oyl “Jojoaliq
10303111 ay3 Jo sanijiqisuodsal pue siomod 3y} “1030a11(] A ayj4e-a41 Jo Kyoedeour ayy Fuunp Jo siopenbpesy-sumSedf
Jo Ayordeour sy BuLinp 1o s1openbpESY WOL 20UdSqE YL U] *(q) | HPUGHAUTfeHOISIY LB —HRES—aY] WOY IJUISQE DY) U 'EHT)
Jopaunq Ainda ayi Aq ‘uononusut Kue Jo 93uasqe A 1030211 Ainda(g 2y Aq ‘uononysul
ur ‘pue SunedW JTUdS 2y Jo uosiadirey?) ay1 Jo uononnsul Aue jo 2ouasqe ay; ul ‘pue Sunasp JTUdS 2y Jo uosiaditeyn
3y} 03 Bupiodde pasiolaxa aq [[eys siomod pue suopouny a2y jo uonannsul ay} o) 3uIpIodde pasiaiaxa aq [[eys siamod pue
SJO3I] Ay JuedeA sI I0j0anqg jo uomisod Ay uaypy () | Suonouny s 1019911 Y JUEIBA SI 101224TP JO uonisod Ay UM +{E)
580E5 ON
40322.1(] BUlY Jo s1aM0g — 9¢ uonenday T0J3301(] SUIDY JO S1amM0g — O£ uonenday
sjuawiuiog paesodoig jusun)
SNOILVINS3Y 1VIONVNIS
£7 3584
IIV/PITT dM/STBIDUIONNSE ]
== N




158M/Officials/WP.12.5
Page 1

Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials
Pape’ete, French Polynesia
SPREP 13-16 September 2004

Agenda Item 12.5: Palau - Notice of Desire to Accede to the
SPREP Agreement

Purpose of Paper

L. To update the Meeting on developments with ratifications and accessions to the
Agreement Establishing SPREP (1993) and to obtain its views on Palau’s request to
accede in accordance with Article 10(5).

Background

2. When the Agreement Establishing SPREP was concluded and signed in Apia on
16 June 1993, Palau was still in the process of negotiation and concluding with the
United States of America its Compact of Free Association and political status. It was
therefore ineligible to be a signatory to the Agreement and was listed with the territories
in Article 3. At the conclusion however of its political status negotiations it and other

states not signatory to the Agreement could accede under the provisions of Article
10(5).

4, With the final approval of its Compact of Free Association with the United
States, Palau applied and was welcomed into the Pacific Islands Forum in 1995. Palau

has been an active and full participant in SPREP and its activities from its formative
years.

5. Section 5 of Article 10 provides that “Following the expiry of the period when
this Agreement is open for signature, and provided that this Agreement has entered into
force, this Agreement shall be open for accession by any State other than those referred
to in this Article which, desiring to accede to this Agreement, may so notify the
Depositary, which shall in turn notify the Parties. In the absence of a written objection
by a Party within six months of receipt of such notification, a State may accede by
deposit of an instrument of accession with the Depositary, and accession shall take
effect thirty days after the date of deposit”.

6. Accordingly, Palau in a Diplomatic Note dated 14 April 2004 informed the
Government of Samoa as Depositary of it desire to accede to the Agreement
Establishing SPREP (1993) pursuant to Article 10(5). The Government of Samoa
notified Parties of Palau’s request in a Note dated 26 May 2004. The notices by Palau
and Samoa are annexed as Attachment 1. The full text of Article 10 is appended as
Attachment 2.



15SM/Officials/WP.12.5
Page 2

7. Of the original 18 Parties eligible to sign the Agreement, 11 signed on the day it
was open for signature and others later. Of these all have ratified and become Parties
except for two — the USA and Vanuatu — the UK and Pitcaim having withdrawn in

2002. The USA and Vanuatu might wish to comment on the status of their
ratifications.

Recommendation

7. The Meeting is invited to:

> review the above information and comment as necessary on Palau’s request.

25 July 2004
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4/55/1
fMlinistry of Htate
REPUBLIC OF PALAU

Note No. 021/MS8/04

The Ministry of State of the Republic of Palau presents its compliments to the
Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Government of Samoa and has the honor to
respectﬁxfly request the latter, in its capacity as the Depositary Government to the /6
June 1993 Agreement Establishing the South Pacific Regional Environment Programme,
to kindly notify all SPREP members of the Republic of Palau’s intention to commence its
internal accession process, pursuant to Article 10(5), in order to become a party to the
SPREP Agreement. The Ministry of State has further the honor to advise the latter that it
pians to atiend the Fifteenth SPREP Mesting in Tahiti Nui, French Polynesia from 09-17
September 2004 as a full-fledged member by then.

The Ministry of State of the Republic of Palau avails itself of this opportunity to
renew to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Government of Samoa the assurances of
its highest consideration.

Koror, REPUBLIC OF PALAU
14 April 2004
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Note No.04/99

The Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade of the Independent State of Samoa
presents its compliments to the Ministry of State of the Republic of Palau and has
the honour to refer to the formers Note No.04/76 of 4 May 2004 pertaining to the
Agreement Establishing the South Pacific Regional Environment Programme

(SPREP Agreement), copy of which is attached herewith for ease of reference.

The Ministry regrets to advise that an error occurred in its Note No.46/76, and

seeks the immediate withdrawal of said Note.

The Ministry once again acknowledges receipt of the Republic of Palau’s Note
No.021/MS/04 dated 14 April 2004 advising the latter’s intention to commence its
internal accession process m order to become a Party to the SPREP Agreement.
in its capacity as Depositary of the SPREP Agreement, the Ministry further wishes
to advise that the member countries of SPREP have been duly notified of the
Republic of Palau’s intention in this regard. Pursuant therefore to Article 10(5) of
the SPREP Agreement, in the absence of a written objection by a Party within six
months of receipt of the Depositary’s Notice, a State may accede to the Agreement

by depositing an instrument of accession with the Depositary.
The Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade of the Independent State of Samoa

avails itself of this opportunity to renew to the Ministry of State of the Republic of

Palau the assurances of its highest consideration.

26 May 2004, Apia

Ministry of State
Koror
REPUBLIC OF PALAU
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AGREEMENT ESTABLISHING THE SOUTH PACIFIC REGIONAL

ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME (SPREP)

Status of Ratification of the Agreement

The SPREP Agreement came into force on 31* August 1995 after the deposit of
the tenth Instrument of Ratification with the Government of Samoa as the
Depositary of the Agreement.

As of 31 May 2004, fifteen (15) countries have become Party to the Agreement,
having so ratified the Agreement, and that no reservations or declarations were
made by the signatories or Parties to the Agreement.

Country Signature Ratification/ Entry into force
Accession (A)
Australia 21 September 1993 17 October 1994 31 August 1995

Cook Islands

—

(A) 30 August 1995

30 September 1995

Federated States of

Micanais 10 August 1993 19 January 1995 31 August 1995
Fij1 16 June 1993 12 October 1993 31 August 1995
France 16 June 1993 11 July 1996 11 August 1996
Kiribati 16 June 1993 16 August 1994 31 August 1995

Marshall Islands

16 June 1993

(A) 4 February 2003

6 March 2003

Nauru 16 June 1993 16 March 1994 31 August 1995

New Zealand 10 August 1993 16 December 1993 31 August 1995
Niue 16 June 1993 31 July 1995 31 August 1995
Palau ~

Papua New Guinea

29 September 1993

7 November 1994

31 August 1995

Samoa

16 June 1993

16 September 1993

31 August 1995

Solomon Islands

16 June 1993

7 March 1996

7 April 1996

Tonga ~ (A) 15 September 1995 16 October 1995
Tuvalu 16 June 1993 17 November 1994 31 August 1995
United Kingdom 16 June 1993
United States of
Atiierion 16 June 1993
Vanuatu 16 June 1993

Apia, 9 June 2004
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Fifteenth SPREP Meeting of Officials
Pape’ete, French Polynesia
SPREP 13-16 September 2004

Agenda Item 12.6: Appointment of Auditor
Purpose of Paper

L. To seek the Meeting’s approval of the appointment of Auditors, to audit the
accounts of SPREP for 2004 and 2005.

Background

2. Financial Regulation 31, requires the Meeting to “appoint biennially, one or
more Auditors in no way connected with the South Pacific Regional Environment
Programme, on such terms as it sees fit”.

3. The SPREP Meeting in 1998 decided that the audit tender be advertised locally
and regionally. Accordingly, the Secretariat advertised for tenders both locally and
regionally for the audit of its 2004 and 2005 accounts.

4 Tender criteria required the firms to demonstrate that they have:

* experience in the audit of similar inter-governmental agencies or similar
regional organizations;

* qualified personnel to undertake the audit; profiles of staff involved with the
audit must be provided,;

* demonstrated in its proposal that it would be able to conduct the audit in a
competent and professional manner; and

* competitive quote for the conduct of the assignment

S. Three tender proposals were received, one from Fiji, and two locally. All three
tenders satisfied the required criteria regarding personnel and demonstrated well their

abilities to conduct the audit in a competent and professional manner. The firms and
their relevant backgrounds are as follows:

(1)  Pricewaterhouse Coopers, Lautoka, Fiji, is a branch of one of the world’s
largest audit professional organizations, and has conducted audits to a
number of South Pacific independent, intergovernmental and regional
organizations. The audit assignment is expected to completed within 2
weeks.

(i) Betham & Co. Apia, Samoa, originally operated under the name of
Coopers & Lybrand and maintain an audit reporting/working relationship
with other international audit firms and had been the auditors for SPREP
for 8 years. It has also conducted audits for other similar regional

organizations. The audit assignment is expected to complete within 4
weeks.
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(iii) Lesa ma Penn maintains audit links with KPMG Fiji, Price Waterhouse
Coopers, Deloitts Parnell Kerr Forster and Arthur Anderson, some of the
well-known auditing firms. It has conducted audits for the Government of
Samoa, multinational and regional organisations. The audit will cover 3
visits, one in late September, second week in December and beginning of
March when financial statements are completed.

Attached is the analysis of the proposed fees by each firm.

6. The tender quotes from Betham & Co. and Lesa ma Penn has Betham
marginally cheaper. In their proposals for the conduct of the audit, Betham intends the
audit to be done in a single exercise within a 4 week period. For Lesa ma Penn, their
quote covers 3 visits, one in September, the second in December and the final one in
March when the statements are completed. These more regular visits are preferred by
the Secretariat as it helps with its accountability drive and allows more dialogue with
the auditors on the financial administration of the Secretariat and improvements that
may be necessary. Lesa ma Penn has just completed their initial two year term as
auditors and has picked up momentum and experience with SPREP which the
organization would not wish to lose at this time. Betham and Co. had also been the
auditors for SPREP for 8 years prior to the appointment of Lesa ma Penn.

Recommendation

7. The Meeting is invited to:

» consider the paper and endorse the appointment of Lesa ma Penn to audit
SPREP’s 2004 and 2005 financial accounts.

29 July 2004
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Audit Tender Analysis .
Name of Tenderer 2004 2005
Currency usb Currency usD

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Lautoka, Fij usb usb

Fees Fin. Audit 9,500 9,500

Fares, accomodation & perdiems, 3,500 3,500

Licence Fees

Incidentals (est.)

VAGST 1,625 1,625

Total 14,625 $14,625 14625 $14,625

Ex Rale 27/07/04 Ex Rate 27/7/t

Betham & Co, Apis SAT (0.3451SD) SAT (0.3451UsD)

Fees Fin. Audit 18,000 18,000

Fares & Accommodation - -

Incidentals (est.) nil nil

VAGST 0 0

Total 18,000 $5,580 18,000 $5,580
Lesa ma Penn SAT SAT

Fees Fin. Audit 17,500 18,500

Fares & Accommodation - -

Incidentals (est.) 500 500

VAGST 2,250 2,375

Total 20,250 $6,278 21,375 $6,626




